

An investigation of the effects and mechanism of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) on labouring and non-labouring human myometrial contractility

A thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements of the University of Liverpool for the degree of Doctor in Philosophy By Dr Hind Awad Zafrah

February 2023

Women & Children's Health / Life Course & Medical Sciences

i

Declaration

I hereby certify that work presented in this thesis is all my own product, and appropriate credit is given where I have used the expressions or writings of others.

I declare that the work has describes original work that has not previously been presented for any other degree.

Hind Zafrah (Candidate)

Acknowledgements

In the name of Allah, the Most Gracious, the Most Merciful, who has blessed me and taught me things I did not know. I should acknowledge his mighty blessing for directing me to be in the Liverpool Women's health research centre with this fabulous team who made the PhD a positively unforgettable experience.

I would like to extend thanks to all people who so generously helped me succeed in the work presented in this thesis

First and foremost, I would like to express my deepest and most sincere thanks to my primary supervisor Professor Susan Wray for her excellent supervision throughout my PhD even after her retirement. The last three years were extremely difficult for me, particularly during the COVID-19 pandemic period, and would have been impossible to get through without her invaluable support, encouragement and guidance. I am indeed grateful not only for her tremendous lab work support but also for giving me so many fantastic opportunities to participate in academic and scientific meetings.

Similar, profound gratitude goes to Dr Helen Wallace, the alternative primary supervisor, for being there in the most challenging time (retiring my first supervisor, COVID-19 pandemic and the writing periods). Thanks for her support, priceless advice, positivity and guidance.

In addition to my major supervisors, I would like to express my gratitude to my secondary supervisor, Professor Andrew weeks, for his support in tricky situations when I lost few data early in the first year.

Special thanks to Dr Sarah Arrowsmith and Dr Clodagh Prendergast, who helped me learn dissection and loading techniques for functional nucleotides experiments and also for helping with my rig when things went wrong and for every effort made to make my experiments successful. Thank you for the discussion of my findings during the lab meeting and proofreading my writing. I am also hugely appreciative to Dr Samantha Williams and Mrs Helen Cox. They have been a genuinely dedicated technician for their assistance in the collection of human samples and help with ordering lab stuff. I am particularly indebted to Samantha for her constant faith in my lab work, especially Western blot. Special mention goes to Mrs Helen Cox, who always helped me in antibody calculation for the immunohistochemistry solutions and her unconditional support throughout the lab work

period. I want to thank Mrs Jo Drury for providing me with the relevant clinical details for the human samples I used in my study and for her help in the IHC experiment. Great thanks to Dr Christopher Hill, who helped me use the slide scanner for the IHC study.

Many thanks to the PhD students who both graduated and are present, including; Seham, Asma, Bee, Tshikaya, and Helen, for the engaging conversations and support during our weekdays and the weekends collaborations. Thanks to MRes students; Liam Richards, Rachel Roberts for their valuable advice in IHC & WB work. Special thanks to Erinn Melville, who helped in the functional study experiments on mice as part of her project. I should also thank my great friends Suad Alghamdi, Amnah Alofi, and Afaf Wasily for always being there for me and the special memories we had together in The UK during the lockdown period COVID-19 pandemic.

Special thanks to Maureen for her kind heart and wonderful smile. Also, I want to thank the lovely WHSmith Stationery Shop's ladies, Maria and Retta, for their kindness and the unique taste of coffee they provide to me throughout the years of my lab work.

Thanks also to the pregnant women in Liverpool Women's Hospital who donated some uterine biopsies for the work in this thesis. Thanks also to Liverpool University for this opportunity.

Many thanks to my parents for unlimited and unbelievable support, continuous prayers and love throughout my study; I will always be grateful to you. Special thanks to my brothers and sisters for their invaluable support and continues loved. I'm so thankful to my superhero, my son, "AMMAR", for his inspiration and want to let him know that he always will be in my life even if we are away; I LOVE YOU. Indeed, without their understanding and continuous encouragement, none of this work would be possible. They are the most important people in my world, and I dedicate this thesis to them.

Finally, I would also like to thank King Khalid University in Saudi Arabia for funding this project and granting me this scholarship.

Presentations

Oral presentation

-Short teaser talk (60 Seconds) thesis competition. Future Physiology conference. Aberdeen, UK, 2019.

-An investigation of the effects and mechanism of ATP on human myometrial contractility. Virtual Future Physiology conference, UK, 2020

Poster presentations

-The Effect of ATP and its Analogues on Myometrial Contractility in Non-Labouring Women. Future Physiology conference. Aberdeen, UK, 2019.

-E-Poster, An investigation of the effects and mechanism of ATP on human myometrial contractility. Virtual Future Physiology conference, UK, 2020.

-E-Poster, An investigation of the effects and mechanism of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) on labouring and non-labouring human myometrial contractility. The annual conference, UK, 2021.

Awards

-Two distinction awards from my sponsor, Saud Cultural Bureau in Britain, 2020-2021

- A Physiology 2021 Early Career Researcher Poster Competition Prize.

Declaration	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Presentations	v
Table of Contents	vi
List of Abbreviations	ix
List of Figures	xi
List of Tables	xiv
Thesis Abstract	1
Chapter 1: Introduction	4
1.1 Uterus structure	4
1.1.1 Anatomy of the Uterus	4
1.1.2 The uterine myocytes	7
1.2 The role of the uterus in pregnancy	8
1.3The stages of labour	11
1.4 The mechanism of uterine contraction and relaxation	12
1.5 Modulation of contraction	15
1.5.1 Neuronal effect	15
1.5.2 Hormonal effect	15
1.6 Regulation of hormone receptor expression in pregnancy	17
1.7 Purinergic receptors: Expression and Physiology	
1.8 Abnormalities in labour	25
1.9 Treatments for dysfunctional labour	26
1.10 Aims of the study	27
Chapter 2: General Materials and Methods	29
2.1 Contractility studies	29
2.2 Western blot	35
2.3 Immunohistochemistry (IHC)	
2.4 Solutions and Chemicals	43
2.5 Statistical Analysis	44

Table of Contents

Chapter 3: An Investigation of Subtypes of Purinergic-2X Receptors and their effects on Myometrial Contractility in non-Labouring Women
3.1 Introduction
3.1.1 Effect of extracellular ATP on the myometrium46
3.1.2 ATP analogues47
3.1.3 ATP and P2X7 receptors antagonists47
3.1.4 Aims of the study
3.2 Methods
3.2.1 Tissue
3.2.2 Drugs and solutions
3.2.3 Experimental protocol
3.2.4 Statistical Analysis
3.3 Results:
3.3.1 The effect of ATP on spontaneous uterine contractility in the non-labouring human myometrium
3.3.2 The concentration response to ATP in the non-labouring human myometrium59
3.3.3 The concentration response to ATP γ S in the non-labouring human myometrium.62
3.3.4 The Concentration response to BzATP in the non-labouring human myometrium64
3.3.5 Comparative effects of agonists
3.3.6 The Effect of ATP on uterine contractility in the presence of selective P2X7 Purinoceptor Antagonists A-438079 and A-740003
3.3.7 The Effect of BzATP on uterine contractility in the presence of selective P2X7 purinoceptor antagonist (A-740003)73
3.4 Discussion
Chapter 4: Investigating the expression of purinergic receptors, P2X1 and P2X7, in non-pregnant, term pregnant, non-labouring and labouring human myometrium
4.1 Introduction
4.1.1 Aims of the study82
4.2 Methods
4.3 Results
4.3.1 P2X1 antibody titration

4.3.2 Comparing the myometrial expression of P2X1R in non-pregnant, pregnant labouring and non-labouring women:
4.3.3 P2X7antibody titration
4.3.4 Comparing the myometrial expression of P2X7R in non-pregnant, pregnant labouring and non-labouring women:
4.3.5 Quantification of P2X1R93
4.3.6 Quantification of P2X7R95
4.4 Discussion
4.5 Limitations of the study10
Chapter 5: An Investigation of the effect of ATP on Myometrial Contractility of Laboring Women102
5.1 Introduction
5.1.1 Aims of the study104
5.2 Methods105
5.2.1 Tissue
5.2.2 Drugs and solutions105
5.2.4 Statistical Analysis105
5.3 Results:
5.3.1 The effect of ATPγS on spontaneous uterine contractility in the dysfunctionally labouring human myometrium108
5.3.2 The comparative effect of ATPγS on spontaneous uterine contractility in the dysfunctionally labouring and non-labouring human myometrium
5.4 Discussion
5.5 Limitations of the study114
Chapter 6: Final Discussion117
6.1 The Effect of ATP on the human myometrial contractility118
6.2 ATP and P2XR
6.3 ATP and Dysfunctional labour
6.4 Future work
References

List of Abbreviations

Aa	Amino acid
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
A-438079	3-(5-(2.3-dichlorophenyl)-1h tetrazol-1-yl) methyl
11 100019	nvridine hydrochloride hydrate
A-740003	Methyl amino}-2 2-dimethylpropyl)-2-(3 4
11 / 10005	dimethoxyphenyl) acetamide
ADP	Adenosine 5'-diphosphate
a B-MeATP	a B- methylene adenosine 5'-triphosphate
ATD	A denosine triphosphate
ATDAS	Adenosine friphosphate tetralithium salt
	A denosine $5 - [\gamma - timo]$ triphosphate tetrantinum sat
	Area under the curve
	Ricinghoninia agid
DCA	Dichicholinine actu
BIVII	Body mass index
	Large conductance calcium-activated potassium channel
BZAIP	$2^{\circ}(3^{\circ})$ -O-(4-benzoylbenzoyl) adenosine 5'-triphosphate
Ca-CaM	Calcium calmodulin complex
CaM	Calmodulin
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CS	Caesarean section delivery
CIG	Cardiotocography
DAB	3,3'-diaminobenzidine
DAG	Diacylglycerol
dH ₂ O	Distilled water
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
EC ₅₀	The molar concentration of agonist that produces 50% of
	maximal effect
GPCR	G-protein coupled receptor
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
IC ₅₀	The molar concentration of antagonist that produces
	50% of maximal effect
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IP ₃	Inositol 1, 4, 5-trisphosphate
IP ₃ R	Inositol 1, 4, 5-trisphosphate receptor
KATP	ATP sensitive potassium channel
K _{Cl}	Potassium chloride
Mins	Minutes (time)
MLCK	Myosin light chain kinase
MLCP	Myosin light chain phosphatase
n	Number of samples from different women
NCX	Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger
TO	Oxytocin
OTR	Oxytocin receptor
P1	Adenosine receptor
P2	Purinergic ATP receptor
PG	Prostaglandin
	- I O Mana Mana Mana Mana Mana Mana Mana Ma

PGE2	Prostaglandin E2
PGF2a	Prostaglandin F2α
PIP2	Phosphatidylinositol 4, 5 biphosphate
PLA2	Phospholipase A2
PLC	Phospholipase C
PMCA	Plasma membrane Ca ²⁺ -ATPase
PPADS	Pyridoxal-phosphate-6-azophenyl-2',4'-disulfonate
P-value	Probability value
PVDF	Polyvinylidene difluoride
RIPA	Radioimmunoprecipitation assay
RT	Room temperature
ROCC	Receptor operated calcium channel
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SERCA	Sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca ²⁺ -ATPase
SOCC	Store-operated calcium channel
SR	Sarcoplasmic reticulum
TM	Transmembrane domain
UTP	Uridine 5'-triphosphate
VGCC	Voltage-gated calcium channel
WB	Western blot
$[Ca^{2+}]_i$	Intracellular calcium concentration

List of Figures

Chapter 1
Figure 1. 1 The anatomical structure of the human uterus 5
Figure 1. 2 Blood supply to the human uterus
Figure 1.3 Smooth muscle contractile machinery
Figure 1.4 Schematic of uterine contraction/relaxation pathways, and mechanisms of increasing the contraction by agonists such as oxytocin
Figure 1.5 P2 purinergic receptors-mediated high intracellular calcium concentration20
Figure 1.6 Structure of P2X receptor subunits
Chapter 2
Figure 2.1 Recording of the human uterine contraction using an organ bath
Figure 2.2 Measurement of uterine contractile Parameters
Figure 2.3 Quickscoring using Aperio ImageScope software 42
Chapter 3
Figure 3.1 Line structures of ATP and its analogues
Figure 3.2 Line structures of selective P2X7 receptor antagonists
Figure 3.3 Experimental protocol
Figure 3.4 The effect of 1mM ATP application on non-labouring human myometrium57
Figure 3.5 The effects of ATP on the parameters of non-labouring human myometrium contraction
Figure 3.6 Time-dependent effect of ATP on non-labouring human myometrial contraction
Figure 3.7 Cumulative concentration-response curves to ATP in term non-labouring women
Figure 3.8 The effects of cumulative concentrations of ATP on the parameters of contraction
Figure 3.9 Cumulative concentration-response curve to ATPγS in term non-labouring women

Figure 3.10 The effects of cumulative concentrations of ATP γ S on the parameters of human
myometrial contraction
Figure 3.11 Cumulative concentration-response curve to BzATP in term non-labouring women .64
Figure 3.12 The effects of cumulative concentrations of BzATP on the parameters of human myometrial contraction
Figure 3.13 A comparison of ATP and its analogues67
Figure 3.14 Time-dependent effect of ATP and its analogues on non- labouring human myometrial contraction
Figure 3.15 Effect of the vehicle control and selective P2X7 antagonists on spontaneous contraction of term non-labouring women
Figure 3.16 The response to ATP in the absence and presence of P2X7-selective antagonists
Figure 3.17 The response to BzATP in the absence and presence of A-7400373
Figure 3.18 Effects of ATP on mouse spontaneous myometrial contractions in the presence and absence of a P2X7R antagonist
Chapter 4
Figure 4.1 P2X1 antibody titration
Figure 4.2 Immunoreactivity of P2X1 in the human myometrium
Figure 4.3 P2X7antibody titration
Figure 4.4 Immunoreactivity of P2X7 in the human myometrium
Figure 4.5 Presence of P2X1R in human myometrial tissue
Figure 4.6 Presence of P2X7R in human myometrial tissue
Chapter 5
Figure 5.1 Experimental protocol
Figure 5.2 The effect of 1mM ATPγS application on dysfunctional labouring human myometrium

Figure 5.3 The effects of ATPγS on dysfunctionally labouring human myometrial	
contraction parameters	110
Figure 5.4 A comparison of non-labouring and dysfunctional labouring human myometria response to ATPγS	al 111
Figure 5.5 Comparison of ATPγS response between non-labouring and dysfunctional labouring human myometrium	112

List of Tables

Chapter 1
Table 1.1: Summary of the P2X receptor subtypes expressed in the myometrium24
Chapter 2
Table 2.1 The composition of TGS Running Buffer and TBS-Tween Washing Buffer37
Table 2.2 The composition of physiological salt solution
Chapter 3
Table 3.1 Maternal demographic data
Table 3.2 Parameters of contraction in response to 1mM ATP, in the absence and presence of selective P2X7 purinoceptor antagonists in non-labouring human myometrium tissue72
Table 3.3 Parameters of contraction in response to 100µM BzATP, in the absence andpresence of A-740003 in non-labouring human myometrium
Chapter 4
Table 4.1 Summary of characteristics of the study's sample
Chapter 5
Table 5.1 Maternal demographic data 107

Thesis Abstract

Dysfunctional labour is defined as uncoordinated myometrial contractions associated with a lack of cervical dilatation. Currently, oxytocin is the only treatment available, and approximately 50% of women who have dysfunctional labour do not respond to oxytocin administration. This results in a large proportion of women requiring an emergency caesarean delivery which comes with associated risks. Adenosine triphosphate (ATP) has been shown to increase rat uterine contractions via purinergic receptors (P), mainly P2X1 or P2X7 receptors. Therefore, this study aimed to investigate the effects of ATP on human myometrial contractile activity, and its potential role in dysfunctional labour, with the hypothesis being that expression of P2X1 and/or P2X7 receptors in women's myometrial tissues is upregulated at term, and ATP binding to one of these receptors would potentiate myometrial contraction during the onset of labour. On the other hand, the depletion of one or both receptors would lead to dysfunctional labour. Quantitative immunoblotting studies measured the expression level of P2X1Rs and P2X7Rs and determined their location in myometrial tissue obtained from 1) non-labouring term pregnant, 2) normally labouring, 3) dysfunctionally labouring and 4) non-pregnant women. The effect of ATP and its analogues, ATPγS (a non-hydrolyzing form of ATP) and BzATP (a more potent agonist at the P2X7R), on labouring and non-labouring human myometrial contractility was also measured in organ bath assays. To further determine the role of P2X7R in mediating this action, selective antagonists, A-438079 and A-740003, were used. Immunoblotting studies demonstrated that P2X1Rs were expressed in human myometrium, but that the pattern and quantity of expression did not differ between groups. P2X7R expression was also detected in human myometrium and interestingly, was significantly greater in the normal labouring group $(32845\pm8655\%, n=3, P=0.0025)$ than non-pregnant $(4911\pm751\%, n=3)$, term pregnant nonlabouring $(12256 \pm 2118\%, n=10)$, and dysfunctionally labouring $(15599 \pm 3146\%, n=5)$ groups. In non-labouring tissues, ATP produced a significant increase in contractile frequency $(230\pm38.7\%, n=7)$. All three agonists increased the frequency of spontaneous contractions significantly with the rank order of ATP γ S> BzATP> ATP (656±102.4% (n=6) $> 250.2\pm38.8\%$ (n=9) $> 230\pm38.7\%$ (n=7)), respectively. Selective P2X7R antagonists, A-438079 and A-740003, were unable to inhibit the stimulatory effects of ATP. Furthermore, there were no significant differences in the effect of ATP on myometrial activity between non-labouring and dysfunctionally labouring women. It is concluded that the increased P2X7R expression observed in the normal labouring group could potentially be implicated in

the myometrial contractility response to ATP and help in the augmentation of contraction during the onset of labour, although no normally-labouring tissues were available to confirm this in the contractility studies. The data do not support a major role for P2X7R in human myometrial responses to purinergic stimulation, at least in non-labouring women; however, comparisons still need to be made with normal labouring myometrial tissue.





Chapter 1: Introduction

This thesis focuses on increasing understanding of P2X signalling in the myometrium to apply this knowledge to help develop a treatment for dysfunctional labour. Therefore, the role of purinergic signalling in smooth muscle, particularly in the myometrium, will be described.

1.1 Uterus structure

1.1.1 Anatomy of the Uterus

The uterus, also known as the womb, is the stretchable pear-shaped muscular sac in the female reproductive system. It is a major female hormone-responsive secondary sex organ of the reproductive system in most mammals. This organ has the capability of expansion to accommodate a growing fetus during pregnancy.

The uterus is located in the female pelvis between the bladder and rectum. In the human, the uterus is composed of two main parts: the uterine body and the uterine cervix. The cervix, the cylindrical distal portion of the uterus, opens into the vagina. The uterine body occupies the upper two-thirds of the uterus and consists of the fundus, united to the fallopian tubes (**Figure 1.1**). The uterus weight increases from 50gm in the non-pregnant state to 1000gm at term (Jain et al., 2020).

The anatomical structure of the uterus can be divided into the following 3 tissue layers: The inner layer, known as endometrium, consists of an epithelial layer and mucus-secreting membrane that rich with blood vessels, glands, and nerve endings, providing them with a source of many hormones and metabolites, which both, directly and indirectly, can affect myometrial contractility. The middle layer, myometrium, is a bulky layer composed of longitudinal and circular smooth muscle cells, where the excitation and contraction processes take place (Wray, 1993). The outer layer of the uterus, the serosa, is a thin layer of tissue that envelop the uterus to protect adjacent structures during free movement in pelvic or abdominal areas. However, ligaments such as broad ligament, round ligament, uterosacral ligament, and suspensory ligament stabilise the uterus in position and limit its range of movement (Kaniewska et al., 2018), (**Figure 1.1**).

Uterine arteries supply blood to the uterus. These arteries derivative from one branch of the internal iliac artery, and ultimately anastomosing with the ovarian artery. The latter arises from the abdominal aorta inferior to the renal arteries. The blood supply to the uterus penetrates deep through the myometrium to give the arcuate arteries and terminates as radial

arteries, which gives further branches to the endometrial layer as the basal and spiral arteries, which supply the decidua and the placenta throughout gestation (Gossman et al., 2019). The uterus is closely connected to provide consistent blood flow (**Figure 1.2**).



Figure 1. 1: The anatomical structure of the human uterus.

Adapted from Encyclopaedia Britannica, (2012).



Figure 1. 2: Blood supply of the human uterus.

A cross-section view shows the extensive blood supply to the human uterus, and its branches penetrate through the myometrium. Adapted from Snell, Clinical Anatomy by regions, 8th edition.

1.1.2 The uterine myocytes

Myometrial cells, known as myocytes, are the main cell structure of the myometrium. They are also the leading cell type within the uterus (Young, 2007). Myocytes are spindle-shaped cells tapered at the ends with a centered oval nucleus (Dawson and Wray, 1985). These cells are bundled together and enclosed in a connective tissue matrix. Important proteins are embedded in this matrix, such as elastin, collagen, glycoproteins and proteoglycans, which assist in transmitting contraction force throughout the uterine wall (Yu and Bernal, 1998). The cell membrane of the myocyte contains ion channels and receptors that play a critical role in transmitting signals between cells. Myocyte cytoplasm contains calmodulin, a calcium regulatory protein, initiating the activation of contraction after binding with free cytoplasmic Ca^{+2} (Aguilar and Mitchell, 2010). In the cell cytoplasm, long bundles are distributed throughout the cell, known as the contractile machinery proteins, which include actin thin myofilaments, myosin thick myofilaments, intermediate filaments, and dense bodies and dense bands (Young, 2007); (Wray, 1993), (**Figure 1.3**).



Figure 1.3: Smooth muscle contractile machinery.

The cytoplasm of smooth muscle cells (SMCs) is extremely dense with contractile machinery components (thick myosin and thin actin filaments) and other structural elements (dense bodies, dense bands, intermediate filaments). Adapted from (Aguilar and Mitchell, 2010).

1.2 The role of the uterus in pregnancy

The uterus is the main reproductive organ that serves various functions and is involved in fertility and childbirth. The vital function of the uterus is to accommodate the fetus and provide them with the required nourishment and protection throughout the pregnancy period. It undergoes multiple changes in order to provide the secure environment required for the increased metabolic process, blood supply and biochemical support of the growing fetus and eventually parturition (Davis, 1967); (Habiba et al., 2021). After parturition has been taken place, these changes are gradual, within 6 weeks, reversed in a process known as involution due to subsides in endocrine hormones and the removal of mechanical stretch (Wray, 1982).

The normal average length of a human pregnancy is 38-40 wks, starting from the 1st day of the female's last menstrual period (LMP). Delivery before 37 weeks is commonly categorised as preterm labour, and delivery after 41 weeks is categorised as post-term labour. When pregnancy approaches term, the uterus undertakes multiple preparatory processes for the onset of labour contractions. The uterine changes throughout pregnancy include changes in cell size, blood flow, and channel and receptor expressions:

1.2.1 Cell size

In the early weeks of pregnancy (12 weeks), hyperplasia occurs in myometrial cells, which is accompanied by an increase in anti-apoptotic proteins due to the action of pregnancy-related endocrine change. (Jaffer et al., 2009). While in the mid-pregnancy onwards, myometrial hypertrophic growth is encouraged by mechanical stretch caused by the growing foetus and the effects of sex hormones such as oestrogen and progesterone (Shynlova et al., 2010); (Douglas et al., 1988). Furthermore, changes in the extracellular matrix with the ability of myocytes to synthesise collagen are occurred (Shynlova et al., 2010).

1.2.2 Blood flow

The uterus is a rich blood supply organ. This high volume of blood flow needs to maintain nourishment and oxygenation during the labour process, where repetitive and intense myometrial contractions are needed to deliver the fetus. Different hemodynamic alterations, such as high blood volume and cardiac output with lower vascular resistance and blood viscosity, supported this local increase in blood flow (Burton et al., 2009).

1.2.3 Channel and receptor expression

The different ion channels, including calcium, potassium, chloride and sodium, are expressed on the myometrial cell membrane and control uterine excitability. Their expression is changed throughout pregnancy, suggesting their critical role in controlling the contractility of the myometrium. L-type calcium channel affinity to their agonists increases during pregnancy, and also, their expression is dramatically up-regulated towards term pregnancy in several species (Tezuka et al., 1995); (Collins et al., 2000). BKca channels were suggested to hyperpolarise the uterus during pregnancy and maintain its quiescent state in the mouse (Benkusky et al., 2002). They are downregulated during labour in human uterine smooth muscle cells (Matharoo-Ball et al., 2003). Similarly the density of KATP channels was identified to be less in non-pregnant uteri than in pregnant uteri, which are up-regulated throughout mid-pregnancy and then down-regulated during labour (Curley et al., 2002);(Sawada et al., 2005). Interestingly, myometrial smooth muscle cells isolated from pregnant rats were found to have non-selective cation channels (NSCC) (Miyoshi et al., 2004). Later, these channels were characterised in rat myometrial smooth muscle cells, with the properties of a P2X7 channel (Miyoshi et al., 2010). So, the P2X7R was identified as one of the myometrial non-selective cation channels in the rat myometrial cell (Miyoshi et al., 2012). For other ion channels present in the myometrium, see (Wray and Prendergast, 2019). In addition to the alteration in channel expression, the concentration of uterine hormone receptors changes toward the end of pregnancy. For example, there is a modification in the expression of prostaglandin receptors during parturition. Prostaglandin receptors (PGI₂), which may contribute to keeping the pregnant uterus relaxed, were shown to be expressed more in mid-pregnancy compared to labour and postpartum in rats (Brodt-Eppley and Myatt, 1998). On the other hand, the expression of $(PGF_{2\alpha})$ receptors, which possess a contractile effect, was dramatically increased during labour (Brodt-Eppley and Myatt, 1998). Myometrial oxytocin receptors are elevated throughout pregnancy and after parturition, according to a comprehensive investigation of myometrial oxytocin receptors (Jurek and Neumann, 2018). Purinergic receptor expression has also been shown to progressively increases throughout pregnancy, peaking during labour, and its activation has been found to cause muscular contractions, indicating that it plays a role in a successful labour (Alotaibi, 2018). Regulation of hormone receptor expression and implications for pregnancy and labour are discussed in more detail in sections 1.6 and 1.7.

1.2.4 Myometrium

The myometrium is known for its rhythmic contractions, which result in Braxton Hicks contractions during pregnancy which occur unpredictably. These contractions are variable in length, frequency, and intensity (McEvoy and Sabir, 2021). These contractions are converted to painful and regular contractions associated with cervical dilation during the actual onset of labour. The reason is that the myometrium has rhythmic contractions because it is an excitable tissue, which means the action potentials are generated within the smooth muscle cells. These action potentials occur spontaneously and reflect the electrical activity state of membrane potention (Wray et al., 2015). Ca²⁺ and Na⁺ influx and Cl⁻ efflux cause membrane depolarisation and enhance cellular excitability, while K⁺ efflux inhibits membrane excitability and causes membrane repolarisation (Kao and Carsten, 1997). It is worth noting that no one knows where these spontaneous activities come from. It has been speculated that specific cells may act as pacemaker cells (Sanders et al., 2014). In other smooth muscle cells such as the gastrointestinal tract, interstitial cells of Cajal (ICC) or ICC-like cells (ILC) act as pacemakers which give rise to the rhythmical activity (Zheng et al., 2014). However, these pacemaker cells in the myometrium are not anatomically defined (Young, 2018), and further work is needed to determine how electrical activity is initiated and what kind of cells form uterine pacemakers.

The resting membrane potential (RMP) in the uterine smooth muscles has been recorded between -35 and -80 mV (Aguilar and Mitchell, 2010). As pregnancy approaches its term stage, the resting membrane potential becomes less negative, bringing it closer to the threshold for firing action potentials (threshold potential) and facilitating Ca^{2+} influx through voltage-operated Ca^{2+} channels. Parkington and his team conducted a study to measure the RMP of myocytes in the 3rd trimester of a human pregnancy. They reported that the RMP has changed from an average of -70 mV at 29 weeks to -55 mV at labour and is accompanied by an increase in the frequency of myometrial contractions (Parkington et al., 1999). In addition, as parturition progresses, the conducting system between the adjacent cells is developed in the form of gap junctions that help transfer this activity rapidly between myometrial cells and finally produce coordinated and synchronised contractions (Sheldon et al., 2014).

1.3The stages of labour

It is known that the parturition process is not just one essential event but rather a series of interconnected, complicated alterations that might trigger labour. Modifications in ion channels, which impact action potentials, are part of these continual changes. The increased number of gap junctions and their conduction aids in the quick transmission of excitability to muscle bundles and the coordination of contractions. The endocrine environment has changed, with increased oxytocin release and receptors, increased prostaglandin synthesis, and reduced progesterone efficacy being the most notable changes. Hyperplasia and hypertrophy that are associated with uterine growth throughout pregnancy; all together contribute to the powerful contractions required for labour (Wray and Prendergast, 2019).

Labour is the physiological process of delivering the baby, followed by the placenta, membranes, and umbilical cord, from the uterus to the vagina to the external world. True labour is defined as regular and painful uterine contractions leading to cervical effacement, accompanied by descent and ultimately by pushing the foetus. Normal labour progress in nulliparous women might be slower than in multiparous (Ashwal et al., 2020).

Labour involves three main stages –the first, second and third stages of labour. These stages depend on the mechanical, biochemical and hormonal changes in the myometrium and cervix during labour (Irani and Foster, 2015). Physiological differences in the duration and progression of labour among women are taken into account clinically, particularly in early labour (Zhang et al., 2010); (Zhang and Duan, 2018).

First stage of labour

The 1st stage of labour is defined as the period from the beginning of uterine contractions to full cervical dilatation (0 to 10 cm). It is usually divided into 2 phases: latent and active. The latent phase is when there is a cervical dilatation to 3-4 cm associated with irregular uterine contractions. The next phase is the active phase, where the regular painful uterine contractions start and are accompanied by progress in widening the cervix until full dilatation. The latent phase lasts longer, even several hours, in contrast to the active phase, which is shorter and faster. The normal rate of cervical dilatation during the active phase is 1cm/hour (Pitkin, 2003). However, this might vary according to the population, parity, and foetal weight, whether spontaneous or induced labour (Juhasova et al., 2018).

Second stage of labour

The 2nd stage of labour is referred to be the time from the full dilatation of the cervix until the delivery of the baby. The length of this stage is also fluctuated depending on the parity. The second stage has two phases: the passive phase, which is initiated by the full dilatation of the cervix until the passive descent of the foetal head through birth pelvis. Then the active (expulsive) phase will start as contractions become intense, and the pushing actively begins.

Third stage of labour

The 3rd stage of labour starts at the time of full newborn delivery and lasts until full placental and membrane delivery. It usually lasts between 5 and 15 minutes when manually controlled and up to 60 minutes when spontaneous. When the placenta is delivered, it is accompanied with intense contractions, umbilical cord lengthening and vaginal bleeding as the placenta separates from the myometrial wall. Unfortunately, there is a lack of knowledge on the fundamental physiology of the third stage of labour. Postpartum haemorrhage is the commonest complication occurring during this stage. It can be controlled by using proper clamping and cutting of the umbilical cord and administration of uterotonic agents, such as oxytocin (Güngördük et al., 2018).

1.4 The mechanism of uterine contraction and relaxation

The uterus is in a quiescent state throughout pregnancy. It then becomes highly excitable and contractile during labour to expel the fetus and placenta to the external world through the vagina. The contractile force increases as the RMP of the myometrial cells becomes more depolarised. This can be explained by a reduction in the level of negativity of the RMP, which would allow Ca^{2+} influx through voltage-gated Ca^{2+} channels and increase contractility. The uterus is a myogenic organ; the smooth muscle contained within it can generate contractions autonomously (Wray and Prendergast, 2019). The contraction of its smooth muscles is preceded by a series of action potentials, this process known as excitation-contraction coupling. It is predominantly regulated by intracellular Ca^{2+} concentration, $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (Pehlivanoğlu et al., 2013). This might occur via 2 mechanisms which are electrochemical or pharmacomechanical coupling (Somlyo and Somlyo, 1994a).

In electrochemical coupling: when the myometrial cell membrane is excited and depolarised from -55mV to -40mV, Ca²⁺ influx via voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels occurs. It then binds to calmodulin (CAM), a calcium-modulated protein, forming a calcium- calmodulin complex that activates the myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) (Shmigol et al., 1998). This enzyme is

responsible for phosphorylation of serine 19 on the regulatory light chains of myosin, enabling actomyosin cross-bridge cycling, breakdown of ATP and the generation of force (Taggart et al., 1997) (**Figure1.4**).

When it comes to pharmacomechanical coupling, uterine stimulants augment contraction by binding to their particular receptor on the cell surface and allow small monomeric G-proteins to bind GTP and trigger phospholipase C (PLC) activity. As a result, phosphatidylinositol biphosphate (PIP₂) hydrolysis takes place, and inositol triphosphate (IP₃) and diacylglycerol (DAG) are generated (Wray and Prendergast, 2019). IP₃, after that, binds to its particular receptor in the membrane of SR, causing release of Ca^{2+} and $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ to rise (Somlyo and Somlyo, 1994b) (**Figure1.4**).

Relaxation of myometrial cells follows an opposite direction of the Ca^{2+} -calmodulin–MLCK pathway. The MLC is dephosphorylated by myosin light chain phosphatase (MLCP), and as such, $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ decreases because L-type Ca^{2+} channels close and Ca^{2+} outward mechanisms are triggered. As a result, Ca^{2+} dissociates from calmodulin, and MLCK is inactivated. Calcium leaves the cell by moving against its concentration gradients across the cell membrane, via plasma membrane Ca^{2+} -ATPase (PMCA) and a Na⁺–Ca²⁺ exchanger that allows 1 Ca²⁺ to leave the cells in exchange with 3 Na⁺ or sequestration of Ca^{2+} into the SR by SERCA pumps (Wray and Prendergast, 2019) (**Figure1.4**).



Figure 1.4: Schematic of uterine contraction/relaxation pathways, and mechanisms of increasing the contraction by agonists such as oxytocin. VGCC= voltage gated Ca^{2+} channels, Ca^{2+} -CAM= Ca-calmodulin complex, MLCK= myosin light chain kinase, P= phosphorylation, MLCP= myosin light chain phosphatase, Ca^{2+} -ATPase= Ca^{2+} -ATPase pump, SERCA= sarcoendoplasmic reticulum Ca pumps, OT= oxytocin hormone, GPCR= G-protein coupled receptors, PLC= phospholipase-C, PIP2= phosphatidylinositol biphosphate, IP₃= inositol triphosphate, DAG= diacylglycerol, IP₃R= inositol triphosphate receptor, ROCCs= receptor operator Ca channel, DAG= diacylglycerol, PKC= protein kinase C, MAPK= mitogen-activated protein kinase, PGs= prostaglandins, ROCK= RhoA-associated protein kinase. Created by PowerPoint tools.

1.5 Modulation of contraction

1.5.1 Neuronal effect

Although the uterus is innervated by parasympathetic and sympathetic innervation, uterine contraction is not dependent on either branch of the autonomic nervous system (Morizaki et al., 1989). The uterus does not have any motor innervation, and it is a myogenic organ, which may contract without being stimulated by nerves or hormones. As a result, the myometrium lacks synapses between axonal terminals and myocytes (Kota et al., 2013). Moreover, it has been claimed that functional degeneration results in denervation of the uterus toward term pregnancy in all species (Wikland et al., 1984); (Zupko et al., 2005); (Elmer et al., 1980).

1.5.2 Hormonal effect

Hormones are the strongest modulators for uterine contraction, and evidence points towards sustained changes in their function and expression to control pregnancy and parturition (Wray and Arrowsmith, 2021). Progesterone is suggested to play a crucial role in maintaining uterine quiescence throughout gestation as its receptor's expression is up-regulated in the myometrium (Arrowsmith et al., 2010). The main source of progesterone at the beginning of pregnancy in humans is the corpus luteum, while the placenta takes over progesterone production in the early few weeks of pregnancy (Chwalisz and Garfield, 1994). Progesterone depletion in maternal circulation has been suggested as a way to trigger labour in animals (Veronesi et al., 2002). This theory could not be applied to humans because circulating progesterone stays high during labour (Mitchell and Taggart, 2009). It has been found that progesterone inhibits spontaneous and oxytocin-induced contractions, and it is suggested to be through preventing Ca^{2+} entry and SR release or blocking oxytocin receptors (Arrowsmith et al., 2016). On the other hand, estrogen concentration and receptor activity increases close to the term, influencing excitability and increasing uterine contraction (Renthal et al., 2015).

Prostaglandins (PGs)

Prostaglandin is a family of fatty acids synthesised from arachidonic acid (AA) in the mammalian plasma membrane via cyclooxygenase. This enzyme mediates the synthesis of PGs, prostacyclin, and thromboxane and is the target of anti-inflammatory agents such as indomethacin. Mechanical stretch, oxytocin, and adenosine triphosphate (ATP) influenced PGs production considerably during labour (Patel and Challis, 2001); (Ziganshin et al., 2005). Myometrial contraction is influenced by the structure of PGs. When PGF_{2a} and PGE₂ are stimulated, for example, there is an increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, which enhances myometrial 15

contraction during term pregnancy (Brown et al., 1998). PGI₂ stimulation, on the other hand, causes relaxation by inhibiting inflammation by activating adenylate cyclase, which in turn maintains myometrium quiescence (Hertelendy and Zakár, 2004).

Oxytocin (OT)

Oxytocin is the most-studied among the hormones which affect excitability. It is a nonapeptide hormone synthesised in the hypothalamus and secreted by the posterior pituitary gland, then released into the systemic circulation. It has a molecular structure similar to antidiuretic hormone (ADH), allowing it to attach to OTR and function as an agonist. Oxytocin is a powerful myometrial stimulant commonly utilised as a uterotonic to induce parturition (Blanks and Thornton, 2003).

Oxytocin binds to G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR) in the cell membrane, which are expressed in high density at term in human myometrium (Kimura et al., 1992). This triggers the $G_{q/11}$ family of the G-proteins, and then the cascades of the GPCR pathway take place (Arrowsmith and Wray, 2014); (Wray and Prendergast, 2019), as shown in (**Figure 1.4**). The DAG stimulates protein kinase C (PKC), which in turn activates the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway and leads to prostaglandin (PGs) synthesis and eventually enhances contractile activity (Molnár et al., 1999). Extra investigation of the oxytocin mechanism of action has illustrated its ability to activate the RhoA/ROCK signalling pathway and increase the machinery contractile activity (Somlyo et al., 1999) (**Figure 1.4**). Moreover, oxytocin can inhibit Ca²⁺ extrusion through the PMCA; these additional mechanisms confirm that oxytocin activation can occur without extracellular calcium (Monga et al., 1999). Oxytocin receptors could be occupied by progesterone which inhibits their activation and relaxes the uterus.

1.6 Regulation of hormone receptor expression in pregnancy

The exact mechanisms of pregnancy preservation and the initiation of onset of labour are not clearly understood. However, evidence suggests that hormones play a crucial role in controlling gestation and parturition. Oestrogen enhances uterine contractility during labour, whereas progesterone promotes myometrial relaxation and serves to maintain the pregnancy continuing (Kota et al., 2013). Progesterone and oestrogen control myometrial contractility essentially by regulating the expression of genes that encode contraction-associated proteins (CAPs). These CAPs include the OT receptor (OTR, prostaglandin (PG)-F2a (PGF2a) receptor, the gap-junction protein connexin-43 (Cx-43), and ion channels such as L-type voltage-gated Ca²⁺channels (VGCCs) (Mesiano and Welsh, 2007);(Tezuka et al., 1995);(Ilicic et al., 2020). In term pregnancy, an increase in the oestrogen concentration was shown to stimulate the expression of oxytocin receptor OT mRNA in the uterus and increased uterine sensitivity to oxytocin, enhancing myometrial excitability and increasing uterine contraction during labour (Murata et al., 2003); (Veiga et al., 2015). Progesterone, on the other hand, was found to reduce myometrial OTR levels indirectly by suppressing oestrogeninduced OTR expression (ADACHI and OKU, 1995); (Fang et al., 1997). Cx43 expression is reported to be up-regulated toward term pregnancy by oestrogen, boosting cell-cell communication to synchronise myometrial contractions (Garfield and Hayashi, 1981); (Di et al., 2001) and inhibited by progesterone (Zhao et al., 1996);(Ilicic et al., 2020). In preparation for labour, progesterone withdrawal has been suggested to be responsible for modulating mRNA levels for L-type voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels in the rat myometrium resulting in an enhanced influx of calcium ions into myocytes and prompting the uterine muscle to produce high-intensity contractions (Tezuka et al., 1995);(Ilicic et al., 2020). Furthermore, evidence suggests that uterine inflammation and mechanical distention of the uterus during the late stage of pregnancy also promotes OTR expression and prostaglandin synthesis that enhances the uterine contraction during labour (FANG et al., 2000);(Terzidou et al., 2011);(Terzidou et al., 2005);(Sooranna et al., 2005);(Sooranna et al., 2004).

As circulating hormone levels rise, the expression of their receptors on the cell increases, making the cell more responsive to the hormone and allowing for increased cellular activity. However, sustained hormone exposure causes a considerable reduction in the ability of variable receptors on myometrial cells to respond to the stimuli. This is referred to as receptor desensitisation (Shankaran et al., 2007). Desensitisation to hormones could be concentration

or time-dependent (Arrowsmith and Wray, 2014). The different mechanisms of receptor desensitisation could regulate the receptor's surface expression. For instance, in the down-regulation process, there is a net loss of receptors from a cell surface expression due to a decrease in receptor production or an increase in receptor degradation (Shankaran et al., 2007). Internalisation or sequestration of the receptors is another mechanism in which the receptor is endocytosed in vesicles and then degraded by lysosomes (Burke et al., 2001). Sometimes surface expression is not altered, but instead, a receptor conformational change occurs, leading to the uncoupling of the receptor from the downstream signalling pathway and thereby preventing the cell from over-responding to the hormone (Arrowsmith and Wray, 2014).

1.7 Purinergic receptors: Expression and Physiology

As briefly outlined in section 1.2.3, purinergic receptor expression has been shown to increase during pregnancy. The signalling pathway of these purinergic receptors was initially investigated fifty years ago (Burnstock, 1972), and major advances have been made in our understanding of several purinergic receptors. In 1978, two separate families of purinoceptors were suggested, P1 and P2, for adenosine and ATP, respectively (Burnstock et al., 1978). A pharmacological approach has been successfully used to recognise the two superfamilies of P2 receptors as either ionotropic P2X or metabotropic P2Y receptors (Burnstock, 2004).

Adenosine purinoceptors (P1 receptors) and P2Y receptors belong to G-coupled protein receptors, typically with seven hydrophobic transmembrane-spanning α -helical domains and extracellular N-terminal domain and intracellular C-terminal domain **Figure 1.5** (Gacasan et al., 2017). Four subtypes of P1 receptors have been reported (A1, A2A, A2B, and A3) (Fredholm et al., 2001). Among these four subtype receptors, the A1 subtype has been identified in human myometrium (Tsai et al., 1996), and its stimulation leads to the contraction of uterine smooth muscle. This subtype is coupled with inhibitory G_{i/o} to decrease the synthesis of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) (Sheth et al., 2014).

1.7.1 P2Y Receptors

P2Y receptors are present in cell membranes, and in humans, eight P2Y receptor subtypes (P2Y1, 2, 4, 6, 11, 12, 13 and 14) have been cloned and characterised (Webb et al., 1993). P2Y receptors can be triggered by a range of extracellular nucleotides (ATP, ADP, UTP and UDP), and the response mainly depends on the P2Y subtype (Jacobson et al., 2015). Previous studies have shown that P2YR are expressed in different tissues, including the uterus in the female reproductive system (Slater et al., 2002). For instance, in rat myometrium, P2Y2R's expression increases until attachment and implantation occur in early pregnancy. Ziganshinc and his team have examined the effect of different P2 agonists, including ATP, α , β methylene-ATP, UTP, and ADP, on preparations of the isolated human pregnant uterus. They found the rank order potency of these nucleotides were α,β -methylene-ATP>UTP>ATP=ADP. The α,β -meATP is a recognised P2X1 and P2X3 receptor agonist. Furthermore, due to a comparatively high potency of UTP, they concluded that P2Y4R might contribute along with other purinergic receptors in contractile response induced by ATP in this tissue (Ziganshin et al., 2003). However, no further studies have been confirmed the expression of P2YR or determined its role in human myometrium contraction since then.

1.7.2 P2X Receptors

P2XRs are ligand-gated nonselective cation channels with a high affinity for ATP, much less to ADP, but not at all to AMP or adenosine (North, 2016). ATP binding induces a plasma membrane depolarisation by allowing the flow of cations such as Ca^{+2} and Na^+ ions, leading to an increase in free cytosolic Ca^{2+} concentration (**Figure 1.5**). This depolarization opens L-type Ca^{2+} channels and influences Ca^{2+-} sensitive processes, including muscle contraction (Bradley et al., 2011).



Figure 1.5: P2 purinergic receptors-mediated high intracellular calcium concentration.

Ionotropic P2X receptors are permeable to Na⁺ and Ca²⁺. Their activation by extracellular ATP causes membrane depolarisation and cell excitation. The activation of metabotropic P2Y receptors by ATP or its metabolites breakdown results in coupling of Gq, and then the cascades of the GPCR pathway take place, which promotes intracellular mobilisation of Ca²⁺.

In mammalians, seven P2X purinoceptors subtypes have been cloned to date (P2X1 – P2X7). Each subtype contains a large ectodomain containing ATP binding sites and 10 conserved cysteine residues forming an extracellular loop. The subunits also have two hydrophobic transmembrane domains, short intracellular N and variable size C termini (Figure 1.6) (Burnstock et al., 2010). The sequence length of P2X subunits varies from 384 amino acids for P2X4R to 595 amino acids for P2X7R (Coddou et al., 2011). Growing evidence has shown that the structure of P2X receptors involves three subunits, which form a trimer ion pore (Burnstock, 2006). These subunits form either a homomeric receptor as P2X7R or a heteromeric receptor as P2X2/3, P2X4/6, P2X1/5, P2X2/6, P2X1/4, and P2X1/2 receptors (Burnstock, 2006). A P2X6R is always expressed as a heterotrimeric receptor because its subunits are combined with other P2XR subunits (Kaczmarek-Hájek et al., 2012). The kinetics of desensitisation (in prolonged exposure to the physiological agonist, the receptor becomes temporarily unable to open even though the binding of the agonist persists) depends on the P2X receptor subtype. Studies have shown that the homomeric P2X1 and P2X3 receptors have fast desensitisation (Giniatullin and Nistri, 2013). In contrast, P2X2, P2X4, and P2X7 receptors desensitise slowly (Kaczmarek-Hájek et al., 2012). Ionotropic receptors' desensitisation may involve internalisation and degradation of the P2X receptor (Feng et al., 2005); (Khadra et al., 2013). It can also happen when membrane receptors undergo conformational changes, leaving them unable to affect signalling pathways further (Jarvis and Khakh, 2009). All P2XR subtypes require a low micromolar concentration of ATP to have a great effect, except P2X7R, which requires >100µM concentrations for stimulation (Coddou et al., 2011).

P2X subtypes such as P2X2, P2X3, and P2X4 are widely distributed in the central nervous system, and their role is determined in pain perception, age-related hearing loss, and some neurodegenerative diseases like Parkinson's disease (Yan et al., 2013); (Wirkner et al., 2007);(Zhang et al., 2021). Studies have reported that the P2X5 subtype does not have a major role in human physiology (Kotnis et al., 2010). The P2X6 receptors expressed in the kidney (Jones et al., 2004) and their overexpression have been linked to renal cell carcinoma's poor prognosis in humans (Gong et al., 2019). P2X1 is predominantly found in smooth muscle tissues, such as the arteries and urinary bladder (Kennedy et al., 2007); (Mahaut Smith et al., 2019). Evidence has demonstrated that P2X7Rs expression is abundant in the urinary bladder (Svennersten et al., 2015) and saphenous vein smooth muscle (Cario-

Toumaniantz et al., 1998) and their stimulation have been identified to induce muscle contractions.



Figure 1.6 Structure of P2X receptor subunits.

P2X receptors contain two transmembrane domains (TMs), connected extracellular by a large ectodomain and from the cytosol by a short-sized N- terminus and a variable-sized C-terminus, ranging between 25 amino acids (P2X4) to 240 amino acids (P2X7).
Interestingly, P2X receptor subtypes have a functional significance and expression in myometrial smooth muscle. (See Table 1.1). Ziganshin et al. have studied the effect of α,β meATP (known as P2X1 receptor agonist) on myometrial samples obtained from term pregnant and early pregnant women undergoing caesarean section using a pharmacological organ bath technique. Moreover, the effect of pyridoxalphosphate azophenyl-2',4'disulphonic acid (PPADS), a P2 receptor antagonist, was also examined. They found that the force of myometrial contractions to α,β -meATP was stronger in term pregnancy than in earlier pregnancy, and the PPADS inhibited myometrial responses to α,β -meATP in both groups. Therefore, it has been suggested that the myometrial contraction induced by ATP in pregnant women was probably mediated through the stimulation of P2X1 receptors (Ziganshin et al., 2006). Furthermore, a study on pregnant rat myometrial contraction has suggested that the markedly peaked P2X1 receptor expression in the post-partum uterus might contribute to coordinating the uterine contractions during the involution period (Khanam and Burnstock, 2007). On the other hand, Urabe et al. have reported that P2X7 receptors were strongly expressed in pregnant rat myometrium and suggested that their potential expression is the leading cause of uterine contraction in a preterm delivery model (Urabe et al., 2009). Miyoshi and their team confirmed that the P2X7 receptor was the main channel involved in the ATP-induced ion currents in myometrial cells isolated from pregnant rats (Miyoshi et al., 2010); (Miyoshi et al., 2012). Alotaibi recently found that A-438079, a selective P2X7R antagonist, can abolish the stimulatory effect of ATP in labouring rats and concluded that P2X7Rs are functionally implicated in ATP stimulatory effect on uterine contraction (Alotaibi, 2018). Because the P2X1 and P2X7 receptors have been studied the most in the uterus due to their abundance and significant role in mediating smooth muscle contraction in a variety of species, it is critical to find out if they are expressed in human myometrium and conduct preliminary research to identify their functional significance, this in turn may reveal potential abnormal function playing a role in dysfunctional labour.

Table 1.1: summary of the P2X receptor subtypes expressed in the myometrium.

Immunohistochemistry =IHC, the quantitative real-time reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction =RT-PCR, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay =ELISA

P2 receptor subtypes	Tissue type	Methods of detection	Expression	Reference
P2X1	Early pregnant (6 days) rat	IHC	The level of P2X1R expression increased at the time of implantation	(Slater et al., 2000)
	Term pregnant & postpartum rat	Immunostaining & fluorescence and confocal microscopy	The level of P2X1R expression increased in postpartum>pregnant	(Khanam and Burnstock, 2007)
	Term pregnant mouse	IHC	The level of P2X1R has no change in the expression pattern during pregnancy.	(Vial and Evans, 2001)
P2X2	Non-pregnant rat	IHC	The P2X2R expressed in the uterus	(Bardini et al., 2000)
P2X3	Early pregnant (6 days) rat	IHC	The level of P2X3R expression increased at the time of implantation	(Slater et al., 2000)
P2X4	Term pregnant & Labouring rat	-RT-PCR -Western blot	Expression levels of mRNAs and proteins of P2X4 increased during the late stages of pregnancy & at the time of delivery	(Urabe et al., 2009)
P2X7	Early pregnant rat	IHC	Expression increased until attachment and implantation on Day 6	(Slater et al., 2002)
	Labouring & postpartum rat	- ELISA	 Expression significantly increased towards labour & postpartum period. 	(Alotaibi, 2018)
	Term pregnant & Labouring rat	-RT-PCR -Western blot	Expression levels of mRNAs and proteins of P2X7 increased during the late stages of pregnancy & at the time of delivery	(Urabe et al., 2009)

1.8 Abnormalities in labour

It is known that the uterus is a dynamic organ. This active state is vital in many reproductive activities such as migration of sperm and embryos, menstruation, pregnancy and parturition (Wray, 1993). Improper or irregular uterine contraction may cause premature deliveries if initiated too early in pregnancy, while if uterine activities are too weak or incoordinate, an emergency caesarean section will required (Wray, 2007). The latter is called dysfunctional labour, and it will be briefly discussed below as it used in the current study

Dysfunctional labour

Parturition is a process which ends with normal vaginal birth and delivery of a healthy child. However, about 10 per cent will not if their contractions begin to weaken and become uncoordinated, which prevents cervical dilatation and slows or even arrests the labour. This condition is termed dysfunctional or dystocic, or obstructive labour. It is the leading cause of emergency C-section deliveries, particularly in nulliparous women (Wray and Prendergast, 2019). However, multiparous women may also experience dysfunctional labour (Nystedt and Hildingsson, 2014). Scientists have worked hard investigating what maternal factors might lead to dysfunctional labour. They found that parity, obesity, age, diabetes, fetal weight and position, pelvic size and shape and genetic cause play a role in labour length, but none are predictive or causal; in other words, older obese, diabetic women can have normal labours, (Wray and Arrowsmith, 2012);(Algovik et al., 2010). A differential gene expression study of women with delay in the first stage found some differences, but it was hard to link these to causing dystocia (Mittal et al., 2011).

The physiological cause of dysfunctional labour has been suggested to be due to the low pH level and increased lactate in myometrial capillary blood (Quenby et al., 2004). The metabolic requirements can be compensated in normal labour. In contrast, if labour is prolonged, myometrium will constantly consume its metabolic reserves of glycogen and ATP, which eventually leads to an increased acidic environment secondary to ATP depletion, anaerobic metabolism, and systemic ketoacidosis. According to research from several species, when myometrial lactic acidification develops, which is linked to a change in intracellular [Ca²⁺], uterine contractility is reduced or even abolished (Taggart and Wray, 1995);(Taggart and Wray, 1993);(Hanley et al., 2015);(Pierce et al., 2003). Indeed, the pathological mechanism underlying dysfunctional labour is obscured, where the adaptive reactions are developed to respond to the effects of acidification. On the other hand,

purinergic signalling has been suggested to play an important role in uterine contraction, and the low expression of their receptors might lead to dysfunctional labour (Alotaibi, 2018); (Miyoshi et al., 2012). The increased expression of P2X7Rs in the uterus and the increased response to ATP during labour demonstrate the necessity of these purinergic receptors for successful labour. Furthermore, Miyoshi and his colleagues determined that P2X7R was significantly elevated in the rat myometrium of normally delivered as well as under LPS-induced inflammatory circumstances that simulated preterm birth, implying that P2X7R overexpression is linked to normal delivery and preterm birth (Urabe et al., 2009). Moreover, inhibiting P2X7R has been recommended as a clinically beneficial approach for preventing premature labour in a mouse model of intrauterine inflammation (Tsimis et al., 2017).

1.9 Treatments for dysfunctional labour

Oxytocin is extensively used for labour induction and augmentation. It causes a wide range of responses, but half of the women with difficulty labouring, do not respond to OT treatment and require CS. As a result, dysfunctional labour continues to be a key contributor to the nonelective CS rate, with OT having little impact (Arrowsmith et al., 2010). In addition, an intravenous fluid infusion is advised as a major component for correcting dehydration and electrolyte imbalance. However, it is unlikely that it entirely restores the metabolic acidosis associated with dysfunctional labour (Dawood et al., 2013). Interestingly, a recent randomised control trial found that oral bicarbonate ingestion was extremely encouraging to assist in neutralising the low pH and help to reduce threatened dysfunctional labour (Wiberg-Itzel et al., 2018). The study's sample size, on the other hand, was relatively small. Interestingly, in the case of primary dysfunctional labour, an intravenous infusion of Adenosine triphosphate (ATP) has been found to enhance the full cervical dilatation when combined with a prostaglandin infusion compared with prostaglandin infusion alone (Ziganshin et al., 2005), however, the sample size in the study is also quite small.

Despite all the prior treatment options, the dysfunctional labour has most frequently ended by Cesarean Section. According to Maternity Services Monthly Statistics in England (2021), around 35% of births were by caesarean sections. More than half of these emergency C-sections were due to emergency causes such as dysfunctional labour. Therefore, new approaches to improving uterine contractility are required.

1.10 Aims of the study

Dysfunctional labour is defined as a failure to progress in labour because of insufficient uterine activity. The currently available treatment for dysfunctional labour is limited, and women ultimately require CS (Arrowsmith et al., 2010). There is, therefore, a need for another stimulator as ATP could potentially be used for labour augmentation. There are few data so far to suggest that P2X1R or P2X7R are involved in mediating the contractile responses of the human myometrium to extracellular ATP. These findings are discussed in the light of work on animal myometrium and other P2X receptors. This study aimed to:

1- Investigate the effect of extracellular ATP on spontaneous uterine contractions in myometrial biopsies obtained from women who have elective caesarean sections (non-labouring women).

2- Investigate the effect of other ATP analogues, ATPγS and BzATP, on spontaneous uterine contractions in myometrial biopsies obtained from non-labouring women.

3- Investigate the effect of extracellular ATP on spontaneous uterine contractions in myometrial biopsies obtained from women who have emergency Caesarean sections (using ATPγS).

4- Determine if there is a role for P2X7Rs in contraction induced by ATP or BzATP via using selective P2X7 receptor blockers.

5- Investigate the presence of P2XR1 and P2X7R in the human myometrial tissue as their expression is expected to increase towards term pregnancy. ATP binding to one of these receptors could potentiate the myometrium contraction, which would help in contractile augmentation during the onset of labour. On the other hand, the depletion of one or both receptors would lead to dysfunctional labour.



Chapter 2: General Materials and Methods

2.1 Contractility studies

2.1.1 Human Tissue Ethics and Regulation

Experiments were performed on human uterine tissues. Informed consent from patients undergoing caesarean sections (CS) at the Liverpool Women's Hospital was written to obtain labouring and non-labouring human myometrial biopsies. A further application was submitted and accepted for the use of tissue from the Myometrial Research Tissue Bank (MRTB) at Liverpool Women's Hospital.

2.1.2 Collection and Storage

A biopsy was taken after the baby had been delivered and before the administration of oxytocin, which is applied to prevent post-partum haemorrhage. The uterine biopsy measuring 1cm x 1cm was taken from the upper lip of the incision in the lower uterine segment, was immediately placed in a buffered physiological saline solution (PPS) that contained (mM) [NaCl 154, KCl 5.6, MgSO₄7H₂O 1.2, HEPES 10.9, Glucose 7.8, and CaCl₂ 2], pH 7.40. Immediately after taking the biopsy, part of the tissue biopsy was taken and fixed in neutral buffered formalin (NBF) for immunohistochemistry studies or snap-frozen by Liquid Nitrogen and stored at -80°C for future experiments such as western blotting studies. The rest of the biopsy was stored in the fridge at 4°C overnight and used for contractility studies the following day. This did not change the contractile ability of the uterus, and there was no difference between tissues used immediately and those used the next morning (Kawarabayashi et al., 1989);(Popat and Crankshaw, 2001). Anonymised maternal demographic data (age, parity, gestation, reason for section, BMI, Medications, Diabetic or not, Gravidity) was obtained for each biopsy and is described in the appropriate results chapter.

2.1.3 Dissection

The uterine tissue biopsy was placed in a clean, shallow dissecting dish that contained PSS solution at room temperature under a stereomicroscope (Micro Instruments Ltd, Oxford) for fine dissection. As the majority of fibres run in the same direction, a bundle of fibre was pinched by forceps, and then a straight cut was done using fine scissors. This was done to reduce the trauma to the tissue. Small uterine strips measuring (2 mm in width \times 10mm in

length) were dissected. Each strip was tied with surgical silk thread at both ends in preparation for mounting in an organ bath containing PSS solution at 37°C for isometric force measurement (**Figure 2.1**).



Figure 2.1 Recording of the human uterine contraction using an organ bath.

A diagram showing a small human myometrial biopsy was dissected into small strips, measuring 2mmx10mm. The strips are then tied up by surgical silk from both ends and mounted vertically in an organ bath setup, the bottom end attached to a fixed hook and the top end connected to a sensitive isometric force transducer, and continuously perfused with PSS at 37°C and bubbled with 100% O2 for isometric force measurement.

2.1.4 Isometric Force Measurement in Organ Bath

The uterine strips were mounted vertically in a 10 mL organ bath (World Precision Instruments, UK), using surgical silk to attach the bottom end to a fixed hook and the top end to an isometric force transducer (**Figure 2.1**). The strips were constantly perfused with PSS (pH=7.4) at the rate of 1 ml/min, using a peristaltic pump (Peri-Star Pro, World Precision Instruments, UK), and the temperature was maintained at 37°C throughout the entire experiment using a Thermostatic water bath (Grant Instruments Ltd, Cambridge) that circulated warm water through the organ bath jackets.

The strips were then placed under 2mN resting tension and were allowed to equilibrate in PSS bubbled with 100% O₂ for an average of 2hrs before the strips started to contract in vitro. Experiments weren't started until stable contractions were produced, meaning at least 3 contractions of equal amplitude were obtained.

2.1.4.1 Calibration of Force

Electrical signals from the force transducer are amplified and converted to a digital signal recorded on the computer using Lab scribe V.3 software (iWorx Systems, Inc, USA). Before mounting the tissue in the organ bath, these electrical signals need to be calibrated, allowing the measurement of responses as mN of force. To achieve this, a known weight (1mN) was suspended on the force transducer, and then the force was recorded using the Lab scribe software.

2.1.4.2 Exclusion Criteria for Experiments

For each experiment, three identical tissue strips from the same myometrial biopsy were mounted in three identical organ baths. The human myometrial strips develop spontaneous contractions 1-2 hours after mounting in an organ bath, and these tissues are capable of contracting regularly over many hours. Strips from 5 women that failed to spontaneously contract were excluded. These samples represented around 9% of the total percentage of the non-labouring group n=53. However, when it comes to the dysfunctional labouring women, 4 out of 5 samples contracted spontaneously, while the 5th one failed to contract and was challenged with ATP to see whether it could induce contractions or not, as it is hypothesized in this study that ATP might be a potential treatment for augmentation the contraction in those group, and it was successful. Therefore, no samples from the dysfunctional labouring group were excluded. However, these data were not included in the analysis (n=1).

2.1.5 Analysis of Contractile Parameters

Data were obtained from uterine strips that were allowed to equilibrate and generate stable contractions for at least 1 hour to establish a sufficient control period. Four parameters of contraction were analysed during control and treatment periods, force amplitude, duration, frequency, and area under the curve (AUC), and the analysis of these parameters was carried out in Origin Pro 2015 software (Origin Lab Corporation, USA). All those parameters were measured over a 20 mins treatment period and normalised against the 20 mins control period (set as 100% control). Addition of agonist caused a rise in the baseline of contraction in some experiments. This shifted baseline was measured and expressed as a mN increase compared to the baseline in the control period.

An illustration of how contractile parameters were measured and obtained is shown in (Figure 2.2). The force amplitude of uterine contractions was determined by measuring the value of the baseline of each contraction and subtracting it from the value of the peak of such contraction. The mean force amplitude was calculated for a 20 mins period before applying a drug or treatment; this was termed 'control'. The control period was then compared to the mean force amplitude calculated during the 20 mins treatment period. Frequency is the number of contractions at a given time period. The frequency of contractions was measured over 20 mins time periods, during the last 20 mins control and the treatment period. The duration of contraction is represented by how long each contraction lasts (in minutes) and is measured at a half-maximal height of the contractions. It was measured during the last 20mins control and the treatment period application. The force integral or the AUC for a number of uterine contractions (the contractile integral of force over a fixed period of time) was measured over the last 20 mins of the control period and over the 20 mins treatment period application. The baseline shift is determined by measuring the difference between the shifted baseline in the treatment period and the control baseline (in mN). The baseline shift was measured during the last 20mins of the control and the treatment period.

2.1.6 Sample Size

The sample size is the number (n) of uterine biopsies collected from each woman. Prior animal and human research conducted in our department or elsewhere led us to determine the number of samples we required for our investigation, we also considered employing power analysis for the sample size calculation. In order to determine the minimal sample size, the effect size, type 1 Error, power of the study, direction of effect, and statistical test were determined. Investigators need to know the effect size in order to determine how much minimum variance between the means of 2 groups can be considered clinically significant. This can be obtained from prior studies, if possible, as well as the standard deviation in the case of quantitative studies. The type 1 Error is measured by significance level, which is usually fixed at the level of 5% (P = 0.05); however, it can be modified according to the study question. The power of the study is the likelihood of detecting the potential effect, which can range from 80 to 99% but is commonly kept at 80%. The direction of effect determines the type of test the investigator can apply while investigating the effect. If the effect is in the same or opposite direction, the investigator can use a one-tailed test; if the effect is in both directions, a two-tailed test can be used. It is necessary to understand the statistical tests that will be used in order to calculate the sample size. The calculation for simple statistical tests like the t-test is achievable using a formula, but for advanced statistical tests, for instance, the analysis of variance (ANOVA), proper software or statistician assistance is required.

The sample size (N) was calculated using the following equation:

Sample size =
$$\frac{(\text{level of confidence})^2 * (\text{Standered deviation})^2}{(\text{Error rate})^2} \qquad N = \frac{(Z)^2 * (\sigma)^2}{(E)^2}$$
Where $\mathbf{E} = \frac{Z * \sigma}{\sqrt{n}}$

Z= Confidence level (1.96 at 95%)

E= Margin of error

 σ = Standard deviation, data from initial experiments (n=10) of the effect of ATP on uterine contractility showed a change in the frequency have standard deviation = 90.

$$N = \frac{(1.96)^2 * (90)^2}{(57)^2} = 9$$

As a result, power analysis suggests that the calculated sample size is at least 9 samples (confidence level of 95%, margin error of 5% (0.05) and significance level of 0.05).



Figure 2.2: Measurement of uterine contractile Parameters.

Contraction amplitude is represented by the height or peak of the contraction for each contraction over 20 mins. The contractions frequency is represented by the number of contractions occurring over 20mins. The AUC was obtained by measuring the contractile integral of force over 20 mins (equivalent to a Red shaded area). Duration is measured at half-maximal amplitude (minutes) for each contraction over 20 mins. The shifted baseline is determined by subtracting the baseline in the control period from the shifted baseline in the treatment period, in mN.

2.2 Western blot

Western blot is a technique widely used in research to determine the relative protein levels between samples and establish the molecular weight of the target protein. To achieve this, western blot implements three steps: 1) separation by size, (2) transfer to a membrane, and (3) visualizing target protein using primary and secondary antibodies. In this study, immunoblotting was utilized to identify the P2X1R and P2X7R expression in the human myometrial tissue samples obtained from non-pregnant and term pregnant women who underwent elective CS deliveries secondary to previous CS and breech foetal presentation or emergency CS deliveries secondary to dysfunctional labour or foetal distress. In the current work, proteins were separated on SDS-PAGE gels (MINI-PROTEAN TGX 12%, Cat# 456-1045, BIORAD, UK) and transferred to a PVDF membrane (Immobilon-P-Cat# IPVH00010-Pore size 0.45µm). Anti-P2X1 (Cat. #APR-022) and Anti-P2X7 (Cat. #APR-008) antibodies were used. These antibodies were purchased from (Alomone Labs, Israel) to detect the P2X1 and P2X7 receptors. A knockout validation of these antibodies in mouse vas deferens and spinal cord has determined their specificity to these proteins (Apolloni et al., 2013):(White et al., 2013). GAPDH was used as a loading control.

2.2.1 Protein extraction and quantification

Frozen human myometrial tissues were taken out from the -80°C freezer, defrosted on ice, weighed and minced into small pieces using a clean razor blade. Then these tissues were homogenized by using IKA Labortechnik Ultra Turrax T25 Basic S2 homogenizer in Radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer, which was mixed with a protease inhibitors cocktail (The volume of buffer was made depending on the size of the tissue). Lysate next was transferred into Eppendorf tubes and incubated on ice for 30 mins. The lysate was then centrifuged at 4°C, 12,000 rpm for 5 min. and the supernatant was transferred to fresh tubes, and the pellets were discarded. The centrifugation step was repeated, and this time the supernatant was obtained and used to estimate the total protein content. The total protein amount was quantitatively assayed using bicinchoninic acid assay (BCA). The assay is based on the fact that proteins in a highly alkaline environment reduce Cu²⁺ ions to Cu¹⁺. BCA is a chromogenic reagent that chelates Cu¹⁺ producing a purple complex with a significant absorption at 562 nm. The absorbance is directly proportional to the amount of protein present in the solution. Then a standard curve of absorbance was plotted, and the protein concentration was calculated. After that, the loading volume of the prepared sample for western blot was calculated and expressed as $\mu g/\mu l$.

2.2.2 P2X1 and P2X7 Western Blot procedure

Samples were prepared by mixing tissue lysate with 2x Laemmli loading buffer (Thermo Scientific, Loughborough, UK) and deionized water to obtain a satisfactory dilution level in each well. Then these samples were heated in a digital dry bath at 100°C for 5 min to denature proteins, spun shortly to collect the sample at the bottom of the tube and allowed to cool to RT. A 10µl of molecular weight marker was loaded into 1st lane of Precast gel Tris-Glycine extended shelf life (TGX) 12% (Bio-Rad, Hertfordshire, UK); and 5µl of prepared lysates were electrophoresed in Tris-Glycine-SDS (TGS) running buffer (see Table 2.1 for the composition) at 100V for the first 5 min then maximized to 150V for 45 min. The protein was then transferred to an Immun-Blot Polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane (Bio-Rad, Hertfordshire, UK) by using Trans-Blot Turbo Transfer System (BIO-RAD, Hertfordshire, UK) for 7 min. After that, the membrane was blocked with 5% non-fat milk diluted in TBS-T (see Table 2.1 for the TBS-T composition) for 1 hour to prevent the nonspecific binding of antibodies. After blocking, the membrane was incubated at 4°C overnight with the primary antibody solution. The primary antibodies (anti-P2X1 and P2X7) were all polyclonal, hosted in rabbits, and used at a concentration of (1:1000-1:200), respectively and 5% non-fat milk was used as diluent. On the following day, the membrane was washed 3 times in 1x TBS-T wash buffer, with each wash lasting 10 minutes. After washing, the blot was incubated at RT overnight with the secondary antibody (goat anti-rabbit antibody (1:3000), diluted in 5% nonfat milk) (Cat. #32460) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK). On the third day and after washing 3 times, each for 10 min in TBS-T, membranes were incubated with Super Signal West Dura Chemiluminescent Substrate (Thermo Scientific, Loughborough, UK) for 5 min at room temperature. After that, in the darkroom, detecting signals at a range of exposures using Amersham Hyperfilm ECL film (Sigma-Aldrich, GE28-9068-35) was taken place. After exposure, the film was placed in the developer for 1 minute, then rinsed in water, then placed in fixative for 1 minute, then finally rinsed in water prior to hanging up to dry. The same blots with the same tissues were used as a re-probed blot. GAPDH (Cat. # G9545) (Sigma, UK) was selected as a loading control because it is expressed in almost all tissues in high amounts and to quantify the relative expression of P2X1 and P2X7 receptors as its molecular weight is 37 KDs which is away from the predicted protein size of my proteins of interest (P2X1=45KDs and P2X7=69KDs). The membrane was washed 3 times in 1x TBS-T wash buffer, with each wash lasting 10 minutes. After that, it was blocked for 1 hour with 5% nonfat milk to prevent nonspecific antibody binding. Then it was incubated with an antiGAPDH antibody as a loading control (1:5000) at RT overnight. After that, the same experimental protocol on the second and third days was followed.

TGS Running Buffer	Molar concentration	TBS-Tween	Molar concentration
	(mM)		(mM)
Trizma base	25	Trizma base	20
Glycine	192	NaCl	150
SDS	0.1%	Tween20	0.1%

Table2.1: The composition of TGS Running Buffer and TBS- Tween Washing Buffer

2.2.3 Analysis

ImageJ was used to analyse the data. The blots were scanned at 200dpi and saved in TIFF format. The background signal in the blot was eliminated after opening the files in ImageJ. Each band in the blot was surrounded by a wide and equal size rectangular box to allow background assessment. All bands of blot were selected, and then the relative density of the contents of the rectangle over each band was plotted. Peaks and troughs represent these plots. The involved area of each peak (which represents each band) was enclosed with the line selected from the drawing tool. The (wand) tool selected each contained area and displayed the AUC for an individual band. These were then imported to Excel for additional calculations.

2.3 Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

Immunohistochemistry is a technique for detecting and locating antigens or proteins of interest in tissue samples. Previous studies have shown the enhanced expression of P2X1 and P2X7 receptors during pregnancy (Alotaibi, 2018);(Urabe et al., 2009);(Slater et al., 2002);(Khanam and Burnstock, 2007). However, all investigations have been conducted on pregnant rats, and neither of them has examined the expression of P2X1 and P2X7 in labouring myometrium. Additionally, no such expression studies have been carried out in (labouring pregnant human myometrium or non-labouring). In this study, immunohistochemistry was used to test the expression of P2X1 and P2X7 receptors in human myometrial samples taken from labouring, non-labouring and non-pregnant women. Mouse kidney was taken from the university's tissue bank and used as a positive control for P2X7R. The positive control is a tissue known to express the protein of interest. As the myometrial tissue was known to express P2X1R, the non-pregnant myometrial tissue was selected as a positive control. Later, one sample of the non-pregnant human myometrium was tested in each experimental set with the same antibody to be used as an internal positive control to ensure conditions were similar between runs. Again, the same sample was incubated with rabbit IgG (1:10000, Vector Labs) instead of primary antibody, and served as a negative control. Primary antibodies were applied at an appropriate dilution determined by titration and followed by adding the secondary antibody to all slides (horse anti-rabbit IgG for P2X1 and P2X7 antibodies); further detail is in chapter 4.

2.3.1 Tissue preparation and fixation:

The human myometrial biopsies were obtained at emergency and elective caesarean section of pregnant women and during hysterectomy procedures from non-pregnant women after informed consent at Liverpool Women's Hospital, Liverpool, UK.

In order to maintain the cells and prevent their natural autolysis, the cell fixation process plays an important role by inactivating the lysosomal enzymes and inhibiting bacterial growth without affecting the cell morphology. A 0.5mm x 0.5mm x 0.5mm of human myometrial biopsy was dissected and incubated, at room temperature, in neutral buffered formalin (NBF) containing 10 % formalin (4% formaldehyde) for 24 hours. The fixed samples were processed and embedded in paraffin wax, then mounted onto glass slides.

2.3.2 Tissue embedding and sectioning:

The fixed tissue is then prepared for tissue embedding, where infiltration with paraffin is required. The tissue was dehydrated firstly by dipping them in a series of ascending grades of ethanol baths from 60% (1 hour), 70% (1 hour), 90% (1 minute) and 100% (1 hour), 100% ($1\frac{1}{2}$ hours) and 100% (2 hours). Then the tissue was cleared by xylene in 3 processes, each with different times, such as the 1st process: 1 hour; the 2nd process: $2\frac{1}{2}$ hours; the 3rd process: $2\frac{1}{2}$ hours; the 2nd process; $2\frac{1}{2}$ hours; the 2nd p

The embedded tissues were then sectioned at a thickness of 5μ M by a rotatory microtome (Microm HM335, MIROM UK Ltd, UK), transferred to a warm water bath at 37°C and then fixed onto glass slides. The sections were placed in racks to dry overnight at room temperature until the day of the immunohistochemistry experiment. Tissue preparation, fixation, embedding and sectioning were done by Helen Cox, the lab technician at the Liverpool Women's Hospital.

2.3.3 P2X1 and P2X7 IHC staining procedure

Sections from human myometrium were selected according to the following criteria: the women should be primigravida, their age between 20-40 years, have normal body mass index (BMI), have singleton pregnancy, and they should not have diabetes. In the non-pregnant women, the age average was between 20-47 years.

On the day of the experiment, slides of sections were chosen randomly and labelled in advance with the sample ID, the antibody used, the concentration and the date of the experiment. Then slides were baked in a section dryer maintained at 60 °C for 60 mins to dry them out and ensure that the tissue sections adhered to the slides. After that, slides were dewaxed in 100% xylene, solvent-based agent, (2 times for 10mins followed by submersion in 100% ethanol (2x- 5mins) and immersed in 90% then 70% ethanol (1 min each). Finally, the sample was transferred into a bath containing distilled water for 5 minutes. This gradual rehydration is essential to prepare the tissue for water-based antibodies. After that, the antigen retrieval method was done by immersing the slides in boiling 1x citrate buffer in a Tefal Clipso Easy 6L pressure cooker for 20-30 minutes. This acid-base antigen retrieval method is crucial to expose the antigen to the desired antibodies. The slides were then transferred to distilled water. Then slides were incubated in buffered saline solution (TBS, Sigma Aldrich) 2x- 5 mins at room temperature. After that, a 0.3% H₂O₂ /TBS solution was

prepared to incubate the sections for 10 mins at room temperature to block any endogenous peroxidase activity, which is conjugated to the secondary antibody. Then the slides were incubated in TBS for 5 mins at room temperature. Each slide then was tapped off from excess water before marking a circle around the tissue section with DAKO hydrophobic barrier pen (Vector Labs), which creates sufficient space for the reagents and allows the reagents to remain localized to the tissue. Then slides were washed with the TBS for 5 mins. Then, for 20 minutes at room temperature (RT) in a humidified environment, one drop of a ready-to-use 2.5 percent Normal Horse Serum (Vector Labs) was applied to each slide to inhibit non-specific binding sites. Anti-P2X1 at 1:400 and anti P2X7 at 1:200 were diluted in a 0.5% solution of BSA, bovine serum albumin, in TBS and applied to sections which were incubated overnight at 4°C. A 70µl of the solution was enough to cover the whole tissue section on each slide.

One of these myometrial sections was considered a negative control section and incubated overnight in blocking solution without adding the primary antibody, but instead DAKO rabbit IgG (1:10000, Vector Labs) were applied. The rabbit IgG negative control antibody checks for non-specific binding to human tissue.

All the incubations were performed in a humidified chamber to keep the environment moist and to prevent tissue dry out as that might lead to nonspecific binding.

On the second day, the primary antibody was washed in TBS (2x 5 mins). Then sections were incubated with two drops per slide of the ready-to-use secondary antibody, horse anti-rabbit IgG antibody (Thermo Fisher Scientific, UK, Cat. #32460) for 30 mins at RT in the humidified chamber. Then, slides were washed in TBS (2x 5 mins) and later incubated with a chromogen such as ImmPACT 3,3'-Diaminobenzidine (DAB solution) (Cat. #SK-4105) (Vector Labs) to visualize antibody binding at RT for 10 mins; then immediately return in TBS and finally into tap water to stop the further reaction. Because horseradish peroxidase (HRP) labelled secondary antibodies were utilized, (DAB) was chosen as a stain. The location of proteins can be identified using DAB as a substrate in immunohistochemical procedures. The secondary antibody conjugated with a peroxidase enzyme targets a protein of interest, and in the presence of hydrogen peroxide, DAB is readily catalyzed to its oxidized state at the position of the (HRP) resulting in a brown precipitate. Sections then were counterstained with filtered Gill 2 hematoxylin (nuclear stain). The staining reaction was halted after 1.5 mins by dipping the sections in running water until the water flowed clear.

After that, slides were briefly submerged in 1% acid alcohol solution to wash off any extra stain and immediately shifted into tap water for 5 mins at room temperature. Sections were then dehydrated through a series of ethanol; 70% then 90% (1min each), 100% (2x 3 mins) and then 100% xylene (5 then 10 mins) before being mounted. Cover-slips were then mounted with a xylene based mounting medium using DPX mountant. The steps of dehydration were performed in a fume hood. After 24hrs, slides were scanned and viewed using the Aperio scan scope system (Aperio, Technology; Vista, USA) at 20x magnification to provide a high-resolution digital image. The ImageScope software was used to help quantify P2X1R & P2X7R expressions using a scoring system from 0 to 3. The ImageScope allows visualising the whole tissue section to determine the most representative areas of the entire tissue. Images were obtained and saved as TIFF files.

The negative control was examined first to make sure there was no staining, which is an indicator of a successful experiment. The internal control was compared after each experiment to ensure conditions were similar between runs. To avoid biased results, all slides were blinded to the observer and visualized by two observers. Discrepancies between the two observers were resolved by re-evaluating the samples together and agreeing on a final score.

2.3.4 Analysis

Samples were scanned using the Aperio scan scope system (Aperio, Technology; Vista, USA) at 20x magnification to provide a high-resolution digital image, and the intensity of the staining was observed. The ImageScope software was used to help in the quantification of P2X1R & P2X7R expression using a quickscore system from 0 to 3 (Alnafakh et al., 2021). Both stain intensity and percentage of positive cells were evaluated within the myometrial regions. Each section of myometrium was divided into compartments. The myometrial myocytes in each compartment were included in the analysis, whereas the non-myometrial regions (if present), such as blood vessels which are easily visible by the eye, as marked in the red square in **Figure 2.3A**, were discounted during analysis. The edges of the section were avoided as well. The myometrial myocytes appear as a long spindle-shaped muscle, arranged in bundles that travel in the same direction **Figure 2.3B**. A thumbnail window guided scanning for each compartment to ensure that the whole sample was systematically assessed. The intensity was identified subjectively by comparing the compartments to determine the lowest (weak) and the highest (strong) intensity. The compartments were scored by applying the formula $Q = I \times P$, where (Q) represents quantification, (I) represents

the intensity, and (P) represents the percentage of positive cells. The staining's intensity (brown staining) for the muscles was detected: 0 indicated no staining, 1 indicated weak staining, 2 indicated moderate staining, and 3 indicated strong staining. The overall percentage of staining was assessed across the compartment: a score of 1 is given if 25% of the compartment is stained. A score of 2 is given if 50% is stained. A score of 3 is given if 75% is stained. A score of 4 is given if 100% is stained. A compartment can have a maximum score of 12 points. This means that 100% is strongly stained. The formula: 3(strong staining) × 4(100% stained) =12. After that, the average score of each compartment is identified for each section. All slides were blinded to the observer and visualized by two people to avoid bias in the results. Discrepancies between the two observers were resolved by re-evaluating the samples together and agreeing on a final score.



Figure 2.3 Quickscoring using Aperio ImageScope software.

A representative section of the human myometrium contains a few blood vessels labelled in red squares (A). Magnification 20x shows myometrial myocytes (black arrow) and blood vessels (red arrow) (B).

2.4 Solutions and Chemicals

Physiological Saline Solution

Fresh Physiological Saline Solution was prepared on a daily basis. The pH of the solution was adjusted to 7.40 using sodium hydroxide. The composition of the physiological saline solution is shown in Table 2.2:

Physiological salt solution	Molar concentration	
	(mM)	
Sodium Chloride (NaCl)	154	
Potassium Chloride (KCl)	5.6	
Magnesium Sulphate (MgSO ₄)	1.2	
4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-	10.9	
piperazineethanesulfonic acid		
buffer (HEPES Buffer)		
Glucose (D-(+)-Glucose)	8	
Calcium Chloride (CaCl ₂)	2	

Table2.2:	The composition	of physiological	salt solution
-----------	-----------------	------------------	---------------

The high-K⁺ solution was made by replacement of NaCl with 40mM KCl; otherwise, the compositions were exactly the same as standard PSS.

Experiment's solutions:

Concentrated solutions of Adenosine 5'-triphosphate disodium salt hydrate (ATP,10mM) or Adenosine 5'-[γ -thio] triphosphate tetralithium salt (ATP γ S, 1mM) were made up freshly from powder every day and then serially diluted to the required concentration in standard PSS. Concentrated stock solutions at 10mM of [2,3-O-(4-benzoyl benzoyl)-ATP (BzATP) in H₂O and A-438079 or A-740003 in Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) were made. Then they were aliquoted and frozen at -20°C. Aliquots were removed from the freezer and diluted to required concentrations in PSS as needed on the day of the experiment, thus avoiding repeated freeze-thaw cycles of the stock solution. Matched vehicle and time controls were performed accordingly in initial experiments, as shown in (chapter 3). All chemicals were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (Dorset, UK).

2.5 Statistical Analysis

GraphPad Prism-5 was used to produce graphs and perform statistical tests. Data were expressed as a percentage of the control values (100%) in contractility studies or as immunoreactivity score values in immunohistochemistry study or as relative protein abundance values in western blot study, and the statistical differences were tested using Student's t-test or one sample t-test or Repeated Measures ANOVA or one-way ANOVA as appropriate. The Bonferroni test was used as a *post hoc* test. A probability value (P-value) of <0.05 was taken as the level of significance, and (n) is the number of myometrial tissue biopsies examined. An asterisk (*) denotes a significant difference in contractility compared to the preceding control period p<0.05, ** p<0.005 and *** p<0.0005. In the current study, some n numbers were very low. The number of samples suggested by the power calculations was not reached due to the shortages in tissue availability secondary to the Covid 19 pandemic, as it was difficult to obtain the tissue. As the sample size increases, the variability in the response between samples decreases, and the confidence in the conclusion increases. This is discussed further in the appropriate chapters.



Chapter 3: An Investigation of Subtypes of Purinergic-2X Receptors and their effects on Myometrial Contractility in non-Labouring Women

3.1 Introduction

3.1.1 Effect of extracellular ATP on the myometrium

Extracellular adenosine triphosphate (ATP) has been identified as a critical extracellular signaling molecule and as a neurotransmitter regulating various biological functions in numerous physiological and pathophysiological conditions (Taruno, 2018). There is compelling evidence that ATP is released from the cell in pathological as well as physiological states (Bonora et al., 2012). Evidence show that cells can release ATP into the extracellular milieu in response to hypoxia (Gourine et al., 2005);(To et al., 2015). In myometrial cells particularly, the brief hypoxic episodes which accompany each contraction, are suggested to stimulate adenosine and ATP release into the acidic extracellular milieu during labour (Alotaibi et al., 2015). ATP has an excitatory effect on contractility of myometrium. It causes contraction of the uterus in human (Hutchings et al., 2009), guinea-pig (Piper and Hollingsworth, 1996), and rat (Alotaibi, 2018). This excitatory effect of ATP was found to be upregulated in the myometrium throughout gestation in the rat, thus it might be considered as a therapeutic target to control uterine activity during difficult labours (Zafrah and Alotaibi, 2017). A previous study on pregnant human uterus has suggested, by both laboratory and clinical observations, that ATP augments the effect of prostaglandin and thus could be a useful supplemental drug to increase uterine contractility in dysfunctional labour (Ziganshin et al., 2005). This stimulatory activity of ATP is mediated primarily by binding to its P2 receptors; P2XRs (Nagaoka et al., 2009) mainly P2X7R as reported from animal experiments (Urabe et al., 2009); (Miyoshi et al., 2010); (Miyoshi et al., 2012); (Alotaibi, 2018). For more details about purinergic receptors and their expression and physiology, see Chapter1.

In summary, there have been few studies examining the effects of extracellular ATP on human myometrium, and little is known about its mechanisms of action, or which subtypes of P2X receptors are expressed in human myometrium. In this study, the effect of extracellular ATP was investigated and some of its analogues on non-labouring human myometrial preparations, and have studied the potential role of P2X7 in ATP-induced human myometrial contraction.

3.1.2 ATP analogues

The concentrations of extracellular ATP are maintained by the enzymatic activities of membrane-bound ectonucleotidases (Zimmermann et al., 2012). These enzymes are responsible for degradation of extracellular ATP to adenosine diphosphate (ADP), adenosine monophosphate (AMP) and adenosine **Figure 3.1 A**, and these metabolites can also stimulate purinergic receptors (Burnstock and Kennedy, 1985). This makes it difficult to distinguish the effects of ATP from its breakdown products. Therefore, the effect of a non-hydrolysable analogue of ATP, ATP γ S on human myometrial contractility, was used in the current study (**Figure 3.1 B**).

ATP γ S is metabolically more stable than ATP; it does not break down to ADP or adenosine. The contractile response can therefore be attributed to ATP and not to any of its metabolites (Lambrecht, 2000). ATP γ S mimics the action of ATP and is an agonist for P2X, P2Y1, P2Y2, and P2Y11 receptors (Lambrecht, 2000). A previous study has shown that ATP γ S greatly increases the frequency of contractions in term-pregnant rat myometrium (Alotaibi et al., 2015). However, it has been found to be a weak agonist at the human P2X7 receptors (Donnelly-Roberts et al., 2009), but about two fold more potent than ATP at recombinant P2Y1 receptors (Schachter et al., 1996).

Studies on animal tissue have suggested that P2X7Rs are functionally regulated and contribute to ATP-induced uterine contraction (Alotaibi, 2018);(Miyoshi et al., 2012) (**Figure3.1-C**). ATP has a relatively low potency for P2X7, however the stable ATP analogue BzATP is ten times more potent (Donnelly-Roberts et al., 2009), and although not selective for the P2X7 receptor, it tends to be the agonist of choice for P2X7 receptor studies (Syed and Kennedy, 2012). Interestingly, the stimulation of P2X7R requires high concentration of nucleotides compared with all other P2X channels (Donnelly-Roberts et al., 2009) meaning a more potent agonist is a useful tool for its study. BzATP, along with ATP and ATP γ S, will therefore be used to characterize the ATP response in human myometrium.

3.1.3 ATP and P2X7 receptors antagonists

There is now a large diversity of antagonists that have potent and selective activity for P2X7 receptors (Gum et al., 2012). However, evidence has shown species differences in the

potencies of these antagonists at P2X7 receptors (Donnelly-Roberts et al., 2009). A-438079 and A-740003, **Figure3.2**, are both reversible and competitive P2X7 antagonists (Donnelly-Roberts and Jarvis, 2007). A-438079 selectively antagonized BzATP-triggered Ca^{2+} entry through P2X7R with an IC₅₀ of 100nM and 300nM at rat and human receptors respectively (Nelson et al., 2006). P2X7 receptors are expressed in the rat myometrium (Miyoshi et al., 2016). The stimulatory effect of ATP on rat uterine contractions was found to be reduced in the presence of A-438079, suggesting that P2X7R is involved in ATP-mediated stimulation of uterine contractility (Miyoshi et al., 2010);(Alotaibi, 2018) However, the drug also reduced uterine contraction in the absence of extracellular ATP, which suggested that P2X7R may contribute to membrane depolarization (Alotaibi, 2018).

A-740003 is another selective and competitive blocker of P2X7 receptors (Donnelly-Roberts et al., 2009). It is known to antagonize rat and human P2X7 receptors, with IC_{50} equal to 18nM and 40nM, respectively (Honore et al., 2006). There is no published data showing the effect of A-740003 in uterine tissue, however, it was found to be a potent blocker of P2X7R in neural cells and cause pain relief (Honore et al., 2006); (King, 2007).



2',3'-O-(4-benzoylbenzoyl)-ATP

Figure 3.1: Line structures of ATP and its analogues.

(A) Adenosine triphosphate and its metabolic products ADP, AMP, and Adenosine. (B) ATPγS and (C) BzATP.

A) A-438079



3-(5-(2,3-dichlorophenyl)-1H-tetrazol-1-yl)methyl pyridine hydrochloride hydrate

B) A-740003



N-(1-{[(cyanoimino)(5-quinolinylamino) methyl] amino}-2,2-dimethylpropyl)-2-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)acetamide

Figure3.2: Line structures of selective P2X7 receptor antagonists. (A) A-438079 and (B) A-740003.

3.1.4 Aims of the study

Extracellular ATP has a powerful stimulatory effect in myometrial tissue from animals. There is however limited work investigating its effects in human uterus, or knowledge of which subtypes of P2X receptors might be involved. The aims of this chapter were:

1- To investigate the effect of extracellular ATP on spontaneous uterine contractions in myometrial biopsies obtained from non-labouring women.

2- To investigate the effect of ATP analogues, ATP γ S and BzATP, on spontaneous uterine contractions and determine the rank order of potency of these analogues in non-labouring women myometrium.

3- To determine if there is a role for P2X7Rs in contraction induced by ATP or BzATP via using of selective P2X7 receptor antagonists, A-438079 hydrochloride hydrate and A-740003 on the responses of non-labouring women myometrium to ATP and BzATP were investigated.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Tissue

Human myometrium was obtained from women undergoing elective caesarean section at term at Liverpool Women's hospital with local ethical committee approval and written informed consent. Uterine tissues were collected, prepared and then myometrial strips were dissected and mounted as described in general materials and methods chapter (Chapter 2). The demographic data on the samples used is given in Table 3.1

3.2.2 Drugs and solutions

ATP, a pan -purinergic agonist, ATP γ S, a non-hydrolysable version of ATP and BzATP, the most potent P2X7R agonist were used to stimulate myometrial contraction. The selective P2X7R blockers, A-438079 and A-740003, were used to investigate whether the responses to ATP and its analogues were mediated by P2X7 receptors. A-438079 was used at a final concentration of 10µM and 50µM to block the P2X7R. A-740003 was used at a final concentration of 10µM. A relatively higher concentration was chosen, despite an IC₅₀ of 40nM at P2X7, since no inhibition was seen with A-438079. The drugs and solutions were prepared as described in general materials and methods chapter.

3.2.3 Experimental protocol

After approximately an hour of superfusion with physiological saline the spontaneous contractions reached a regular pattern displaying similar amplitude and duration and regular frequency. The uterine strips were then exposed to either 1 mM ATP, 1mM ATP γ S or 1mM BzATP for 20 mins, to test their effects on spontaneous myometrial contractions, and then washed out with PSS. Additionally, cumulative concentration-response curves were obtained for each of the three agonists (ATP (10 μ M-1mM), ATP γ S (1 μ M-1mM) and BzATP (1 μ M – 1mM)) in order to calculate an EC₅₀ for each and determine the rank order of potency of these agonists. Each concentration of agonist was applied for 20min. Since the maximal response to ATP was not reached at 1mM, an alternative concentration-response curve was obtained using higher concentrations of ATP: 300 μ M, 1mM, 3mM, 5.6mM and 10mM. For experiments involving antagonists, tissue was preincubated (for 40 mins) with either antagonist then challenged with 1mM ATP or 100 μ M BzATP. The 20minute period immediately before application of the agonists was used as the control (100%) period (**Figure 3.3**). For all antagonist experiments, the concentration of DMSO did not exceed 0.1%.

3.2.4 Statistical Analysis.

Data were obtained from uterine strips that generated stable contractions for at least 1 hour to allow for a sufficient control period. Four parameters of contraction were analysed throughout the 20 mins control and treatment periods; force amplitude, duration, frequency and area under the curve and treatment effect was expressed as % of the control value. Expressing the data as % of the control, helps normalise the sometimes considerable between-sample variability that can occur in the raw data (i.e., the frequency could be 1 every 5 mins or 1 every 15 mins). In some preparations, the highest agonist concentration increased the frequency such that the contractions became tonic. In some cases, this meant an elevated baseline upon which contractions were superimposed and here, frequency was calculated as normal, as described in Chapter 2. If a tonic response was obtained and the tissue was no longer phasically contracting, then the maximal value for frequency obtained in the tissue immediately before it stopped phasically contracting, was used as an estimate of frequency for that tissue and this is noted in the figure and table legend where appropriate. This approach was undertaken to avoid having to discard the data. With data normalised to the control period (100%), significant difference from control was tested using a one-sample ttest. The time dependent effects of ATP, different agonist responses and the effects of antagonists were compared using paired or unpaired Student's t-test (or Mann Whitney test where data is non-parametric) and Repeated Measures ANOVA as appropriate. The analysis of these parameters was carried out using Origin Pro 2015 Software and statistical difference was carried out in GraphPad Prism as detailed in materials and methods chapter.



Figure 3.3: Experimental protocol. Spontaneous uterine contractions were obtained in a steady state and the last 20 minutes were considered as a control period; labelled by the blue bar. Then followed the 20-minute experimental intervention, which was labelled with colourful bars. Recovery was then followed for at least 20 minutes; labelled by black bar. Control values for the parameters of contraction were assigned 100% and any changes measured during the experimental period were expressed relative to this (mean±SEM).

3.3 Results:

The demographic data shows that the women in this study were on average slightly overweight, but otherwise largely healthy (Table 3.1). Their average age of 33 fits with the local city and country expectations, and the majority of women had already had one pregnancy. Previous traumatic vaginal birth was the major reason for the subsequent elective Caesarean section. All had a term (>37 weeks) delivery.

Table 3.1 Maternal demographic data. It illustrates the study sample characteristics of maternal age (years), gestational age (days), maternal body mass index (BMI), parity, gravidity, and indication for Caesarean section.

Maternal sample demographics $(n = 48)$		
Mother's age (years: mean± SD)	33±5	
Gestational age at delivery (days: median IQR)	273 (271-275)	
BMI (kg/m ² : median IQR)	25.2 (23-30.9)	
Parity		
Nulliparous	n=14	
Primiparous	n=23	
Multiparous	n=11	
Gravidity		
Primigravida	n=13	
Multigravida	n=35	
Indication for Caesarean section		
Previous traumatic vaginal delivery	n=34	
Breech	n=3	
Twins	n=2	
Other	n=9	
Type of Caesarean		
Elective non-labouring	n=48	
Diabetic	None	

3.3.1 The effect of ATP on spontaneous uterine contractility in the non-labouring human myometrium

Strips of myometrium from non-labouring term human myometrium, contracted spontaneously within 2hrs when mounted in the organ bath. They continued to contract regularly for hours without fatigue when superfused with the physiological saline solution and bubbled with 100% O_2 at 37 °C (**Figure 3.4A**). A 20-minute application of ATP was

chosen as this allowed sufficient time for an average of three contractions to occur and the parameters of contraction to be accurately measured and compared to the values of the control period.

As can be seen in **Figure3.4B**, the application of 1mM ATP for 20 mins produced a large initial stimulation of frequency which then started to return to control values in the continued presence of ATP. It can also be seen that relaxation is incomplete between contractions which resulted in a small, non-significant elevation in the baseline (0.4 ± 0.1 mN, P=0.06), as frequency starts to return to control values, so too does resting force. Contractions continued on washing out of ATP with fresh PPS.

Figure 3.5 shows scatter plots of the effect of 1mM ATP on contractile parameters during spontaneous activity in the non-labouring human myometrium. Analysis of these data shows a significant increase in the frequency of contraction and AUC compared to the preceding control period (100%). During ATP application, frequency of contraction significantly increased ($230\pm38.7\%$ of control, P=0.01), and the AUC increased significantly to ($156.3\pm18.1\%$ of control, P=0.02). There was a small decline in the duration to $89.2\pm5.2\%$ of control, which was not significant (P=0.06). There was also no significant difference in amplitude of contraction ($97.9\pm9.2\%$ of control, P=0.8).

It can be seen from **Figure 3.4B** that the effect of ATP on the frequency and AUC were transient, and values returned to baseline within approximately 10 min of 1mM ATP application. As shown in **Figure 3.6**, the effect of ATP on AUC in the 2^{nd} 10mins was significantly smaller than in the 1^{st} 10 mins ($129\pm 10.4\%$ and $183.6\pm 20.1\%$, P=0.02), respectively. However, no significant difference in frequency was seen between the 1^{st} and the 2^{nd} 10 minutes ($323.4\pm71.9\%$ and $212.4\pm69.8\%$, P= 0.1).



Figure 3.4: The effect of 1mM ATP application on non-labouring human myometrium.

(A) Typical trace of control spontaneous contractions obtained by dissecting myometrial strips from non-labouring women. (B) The effect of 1mM ATP on spontaneous uterine contractions applied for 20 mins. Tissue was continuously superfused with physiological saline solution at pH 7.4. The perfusion rate was 1ml/min and preparations were bubbled with 100% O_2 at 37°C in this and subsequent traces in this chapter.



Figure 3.5: The effects of ATP on the parameters of non-labouring human myometrium contraction. Scatter plot showing the effects of 1mM ATP on **A**: frequency, **B**: the area under the curve (AUC), **C**: amplitude and **D**: duration. The horizontal line through the data points represents the mean. Significance was tested using a one sample t-test, n=7.


Figure 3.6: Time-dependent effect of ATP on non-labouring human myometrial contraction. Scatter plot showing the time dependent effect of 1mM ATP on contractile frequency (A) and AUC (B) over 20 mins period of application which was divided into two 10 mins sections, each analysed separately. The 2nd 10 mins of AUC was decreased significantly compared to the 1st half. Significant difference was found using a paired student t-test.

3.3.2 The concentration response to ATP in the non-labouring human myometrium.

After obtaining clear data showing the effect of 1mM ATP, concentration-response curves were obtained to generate an EC_{50} value for ATP. Each concentration of ATP was applied for 20mins.

Initially a concentration range of 10μ M to 1mM was tested (n=5, Figure 3.7A). As a maximal response was not defined, the concentration range was altered to include higher concentrations (300 μ M to 10mM, n=5, Figure 3.7B). ATP produced a concentration-dependent increase of contractile frequency but the amplitude of contraction fell gradually towards 10mM as shown in Figure 3.7B, and contractions recovered to control values when ATP was removed.

Analysis of these data showed that starting from concentrations of 10μ M and above there is an increase in frequency and decrease in amplitude towards 10mM but these changes do not achieve significance. Also, the AUC was not significantly affected as shown in **Figure 3.8A**-**C.** Unfortunately, from the concentration-response curve of frequency, the EC₅₀ for ATP could not be calculated, as the maximum response was not achieved.



Figure 3.7: Cumulative concentration-response curves to ATP in term non-labouring women. Typical traces represent the concentration dependency of spontaneously contracting myometrial strips during 20- or 30-minute applications of (**A**) 10µM-1mM ATP, and (**B**) 300µM- 10mM ATP.



Figure 3.8: The effects of cumulative concentrations of ATP on the parameters of contraction. The concentration-response curves showing the effect of ATP on frequency (A), AUC (B) and amplitude (C) (n= 5). The data for frequency illustrated that the maximum response could not be defined, therefore, the EC_{50} value was not calculated.

3.3.3 The concentration response to $ATP\gamma S$ in the non-labouring human myometrium

The effects of extracellular application of ATP γ S on contractility (1 μ M-1mM, 20 minutes for each concentration) were determined (n=5). At concentrations of 10 μ M and below, ATP γ S had no effects on mechanical activity of the isolated uterine strips. ATP γ S at 100 μ M and 1mM caused a clear effect on frequency, **Figure 3.9**, which reached significance at 1mM (430.3±118.2%, P=0.005, n=5, **Figure 3.10A**). 1mM ATP γ S induced a significant enhancement of AUC, (294.7± 62.9%, P= 0.003, n=5, **Figure 3.10B**) when compared to the preceding control period. There was no significant change found in the amplitude of contraction.



Figure 3.9: Cumulative concentration-response curve to ATP γ S in term non-labouring women. Typical traces showing the effect of cumulative ATP γ S concentration 1 μ M-1mM on spontaneously contracting uterine strips (A). In 1/5 preparations the frequency became tonic at 1mM (B).



Figure 3.10: The effects of cumulative concentrations of ATP γ S on the parameters of human myometrial contraction.

The concentration-response curves showing the effects of $ATP\gamma S$ on the frequency (**A**), AUC (**B**), and amplitude (**C**) of contraction (n=4-5). A significant difference in activity was found using Repeated Measures ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test.

3.3.4 The Concentration response to BzATP in the non-labouring human myometrium

Cumulative concentrations of BzATP (1µM-1mM) were applied for 20min (n=4, **Figure 3.11**). At concentrations of 10µM and below, BzATP had no effects on mechanical activity of the myometrial tissue. The frequency response to 1mM BzATP was significant (262.3 \pm 60.7%, P=0.005, n=4). 1mM BzATP induced a significant enhancement of AUC, (156.1 \pm 27.9%, P=0.01, n=4, **Figure 3.12**) when compared to the preceding control period. There was no significant change found in the amplitude of contraction.



Figure 3.11: Cumulative concentration-response curve to BzATP in term non-labouring women. Typical traces showing the effect of cumulative BzATP concentrations (1 μ M-1mM) on spontanously contracting uterine strips from term non-labouring women (A). In 1/4 preparations the frequency became tonic at 1mM (B).



Figure 3.12: The effects of cumulative concentrations of BzATP on the parameters of human myometrial contraction. The concentration-response curves showing the effects of BzATP on frequency (A), AUC (B), and amplitude (C), (n=3-4). A significant difference in activity was found using Repeated Measures ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test.

3.3.5 Comparative effects of agonists

As full concentration-response curves and EC_{50} data were not be obtained for ATP, ATP γ S and BzATP, the rank order of potency could not be defined. Instead, the effect of a single concentration of ATP, ATP γ S and BzATP (1mM) on myometrial response was compared. The three agonists were administered to spontaneously contracting tissue at a single concentration that gave clear effects (1mM for 20 minutes, n=6-9, **Figure 3.13A(i,ii&iii)**). The responses to a single 1mM concentration of ATP have already been described above (**Figure 3.4 & 3.5**).

Figure 3.13 illustrates that the application of 1mM BzATP and ATP γ S for 20 mins increased contractility in term pregnant myometrium. With ATP γ S, the contractions tended to become tonic, although contractions were still visible on top of this elevated baseline. This rise in basal tension with ATP γ S was significant (3.3± 0.7mN, n=6, P=0.008) compared to the pretreatment control period. For BzATP, as seen with ATP previously, changes in baseline tension were not significant (1.3±0.6mN, n=9, P=0.08). Application of 1mM BzATP and ATP γ S increased contractile frequency significantly (BzATP: 250.2±38.8%, n=9, P=0.004 and ATP γ S: 656±102.4%, n=6, p=0.0001), which then started to return to control values in their continued presence (**Figure 3.13B(ii**)). Consequently, the increase in AUC for 1mM ATP γ S (349±60.2%, n=6, P=0.005, **Figure 3.13B(iii**)) or ATP (156.3±18.1%, n=7, P=0.02, **Figure 3.13B(iii**)). There was no significant change in amplitude following the agonists' application. Contractions returned to pretreatment values after washing, taking the longest to recover with ATP γ S. The current findings ranked the effectiveness of ATP analogues in the order ATP γ S-BzATP>ATP, as shown in **Figure 3.13**.

It can be seen from **Figure 3.13A**(**ii&iii**) that the effects of 1mM BzATP and ATP γ S on the frequency and the AUC of contractions were transient, and they returned to baseline values within approximately 10 min of their application, similar to what has been observed with ATP (**Figure 3.13A**(**i**)). As shown in **Figure 3.14B**, the effect of BzATP on AUC in the 2nd 10mins were significantly less than in the 1st 10 mins (159.5±19.9 and 264.6±51.2, P*<0.01), respectively. However, no significant difference was seen between the 1st and 2nd 10 mins of ATP γ S application (395.9±67.8 and 305±64.7, P= 0.13, **Figure 3.14C**).



Figure 3.13: A comparison of the response to ATP and its analogues

(A) Typical traces showing the effect of 1mM ATP (i), BzATP (ii), and ATP γ S (iii) (20 minutes) on term pregnant uterine contractility (**B**) Scattered plot showing the effect of ATP (red symbols), BzATP (orange symbols) and ATP γ S (green symbols) on contraction amplitude (**i**), frequency (ii) and AUC (iii) (n=6-9). A significant difference in activity was found using One-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test, * denotes P<0.05, ** P<0.005 and *** P<0.0005.



Figure 3.14 Time-dependent effect of ATP and its analogues on non-labouring human myometrial contraction. Scatter plot showing the time-dependent effects of 1mM ATP (A), BzATP (B) and ATP γ S (C) on AUC over 20 mins period of application, which was divided into two 10 mins sections, each analysed separately. The 2nd 10 mins of AUC was decreased significantly compared to the 1st 10 mins in ATP and BzATP. There was no significant difference between the 1st and 2nd 10 mins in ATP γ S. Significant difference was found using paired student t-test in ATP & ATP γ S while Mann Whitney test used in BzATP. * Denotes a significance P<0.05.

3.3.6 The Effect of ATP on uterine contractility in the presence of selective P2X7 Purinoceptor Antagonists A-438079 and A-740003.

The data clearly showed that ATP has a stimulatory effect on human myometrial contraction, but which subtypes of P2X receptors in human myometrium mediates this is still unknown. The involvement of P2X7 purinoceptors in the stimulatory effect of extracellular ATP action, was assessed by using two selective P2X7R blockers, A-438079 and A-740003.

As these antagonists are prepared in DMSO, vehicle control experiments were carried out to determine the effect of the vehicle on contraction. There was no effect of DMSO on spontaneous contractions until reached to concentration of 1%, **Figure 3.15 A**. Therefore, in all antagonist experiments that follow, a DMSO concentration of 0.1% was not exceeded.

1) The Effect of ATP on uterine contractility in the presence of A-438079

Previous studies conducted on rat myometrium have used A-438079 at 10μ M to block P2X7R (Alotaibi, 2018); (Miyoshi et al., 2012) and this is the concentration that initially was used in the current study. 10μ M A-438079 was perfused into the organ bath for 40mins before applying 1mM ATP. A-438079 caused a non-significant decrease in frequency of the spontaneous contractions (80.6±7.5%, n=5, p=0.6, **Figure 3.15B&E**). It did not significantly 68

alter the response to 1mM ATP (see Table 3.2, **Figure 3.16A&B**). As this concentration of A-438079 did not show an effect on the myometrial contractile activity induced by 1mM ATP, a higher concentration of 50 μ M was tested. The 50 μ M A-438079 was perfused into the organ bath for 40mins before applying 1mM ATP. A-438079 caused a small, but non-significant decrease in frequency of the spontaneous contractions (92.9±4.8%, n=8, p=0.1 **Figure 3.15C&F**). It did not significantly alter the response to 1mM ATP (see Table 3.2, **Figure 3.16A &C**)

2) The Effect of ATP on uterine contractility in the presence of A-740003

A-740003 is known to be a highly specific and potent inhibitor of human P2X7 receptors with IC₅₀ value at 40nM (Honore et al., 2006). A relatively high concentration of A-740003 was chosen to test, 10µM, since the previous antagonist, A-438079 at 50µM was unable to significantly reduce the stimulatory effect of ATP, at the concentrations expected. The 10µM A-740003 was perfused into the organ bath for 40mins before applying 1mM ATP. A-740003 caused a small, but non-significant decrease in contractile amplitude, frequency and AUC of the spontaneous contraction ($85.4\pm10.3\%$, p=0.2, $89.1\pm17.5\%$, p=0.5 and $66.1\pm13.7\%$, p=0.09, n=4, respectively, **Figure 3.15 D&G**). It did not significantly alter the response to 1mM ATP (see Table 3.2, **Figure 3.16 A&D**).



Figure 3.15: Effect of the vehicle control and selective P2X7 antagonists on spontaneous contraction of term non-labouring women. Typical trace showing the effect of the vehicle (DMSO) on spontaneous contractions (A). The short-coloured bars indicate the 20 minutes period where increasing concentrations of DMSO were added (0.001%, 0.01%, 0.1%, 1%). Typical traces represent original recording for the effect of 10 μ M, 50 μ M A-438079 and 10 μ M A-740003 on spontaneous uterine contraction in non-labouring myometrium (B, C &D). Scattered Plots in (E, F&G) represent the non-significant change in amplitude, frequency and AUC in the presence of 10 μ M, 50 μ M A-438079 and 10 μ M A-740003, respectively (n=4-8). Significance was tested using one sample t-test.



Figure 3.16: The response to ATP in the absence and presence of P2X7-selective antagonists. Typical traces of the effect of 20-minute application of 1mM ATP on uterine contraction in term-pregnant women, alone (**A**), in presence of 10μ M A-438079 (n=5) (**B**), 50\muM A-438079 (n=8) (**C**) and 10μ M A-740003 (n=4) (**D**).

Table 3.2: Parameters of contraction in response to 1mM ATP, in the absence andpresence of selective P2X7 purinoceptor antagonists in non-labouring humanmyometrium tissue.

	Contractile parameters (% of control)			
Treatment	Amplitude	Frequency	AUC	Baseline
	(Mean±SEM)	(Mean±SEM)	(Mean ±SEM)	(mN ±SEM)
1mM ATP	107.4± 1.6%	147.3±32.6%	132.2±16.7%	0.4 ± 0.07 mN
n=5				
10µM A-438079+ 1mM ATP	102±1.6%	190± 38.3%	168.8±18.9%	$0.5 \pm 0.08 \text{mN}$
n=5				
P-value	0.1335	0.4217	0.1858	0.2827
1mM ATP	99.8±3.9%	286.1±67.7%	174.4±27.4%	0.6±0.1mN
n=8				
50µM A-438079+ 1mM ATP	94.7± 3.3%	203.8±27.2%	150.3±17.4%	$0.5 \pm 0.09 \text{mN}$
n= 8				
P-value	0.3422	0.2786	0.4710	0.9057
1mM ATP	115.8±16.9%	428.8±119.8%	365±157.3%	$0.60 \pm 0.1 \text{mN}$
n=4				
10µМ А-740003+ 1mM АТР	109.9±13.4%	355.2± 85.9%	280±39.9%	$0.66 \pm 0.1 \text{mN}$
n= 4				
P-value	0.7947	0.6354	0.6188	0.7111

Mean data \pm SEM of the contractile parameters (% of control) and raw mN \pm S.E.M of the baseline showing no significant change in response to 1mM ATP, in the absence and presence of selective P2X7 purinoceptor antagonists in non-labouring human myometrium tissue. Significance level was determined by Unpaired t-test.

3.3.7 The Effect of BzATP on uterine contractility in the presence of selective P2X7 purinoceptor antagonist (A-740003).

As ATP acts through receptors other than P2X7, the effects of the selective P2X7 receptor blocker on the stimulation produced by the most potent P2X7 agonist BzATP was examined. 10μ M A-740003 was perfused into the organ bath for 30 mins before applying 100 μ M BzATP. It did not significantly alter the response to 100 μ M BzATP (see Table 3.3, **Figure 3.17**).



Figure 3.17: The response to BzATP in the absence and presence of A-74003.

Typical traces of the effect of 20minute application of 100μ M BzATP on uterine contraction in term-pregnant women alone, (A) and in presence of the selective P2X7 purinoceptor antagonist A-740003 (10μ M, n=7) (B). Table 3.3: Parameters of contraction in response to 100µM BzATP, in the absence and presence of A-740003 in non-labouring human myometrium.

	Contractile parameters (% of control)			
Treatment	Amplitude	Frequency	AUC	Baseline
	(Mean ±SEM)	(Mean ±SEM)	(Mean ±SEM)	(mN ±SEM)
100µM BzATP	103.4±4.5%	$241.8 \pm 72.1\%$	199.4±26.6%	0.4 ± 0.2 mN
n=3				
10µM A-740003+100µM BzATP	$100.6 \pm 11.7\%$	210.4±19.3%	$181.3 \pm 21\%$	0.2 ± 0.1 mN
n=7				
P-value	0.8833	0.5683	0.7942	0.3521

Mean data \pm SEM of the contractile parameters (% of control) and raw mN \pm S.E.M of the baseline showing no significant change in response to 100µM BzATP, in the absence and presence of A-740003 in non-labouring human myometrium tissue. Significance level was determined by Unpaired t-test.

3.4 Discussion

This study shows that the application of extracellular ATP and its analogues causes a significant increase in the frequency of contraction. This is consistent with them causing depolarization, presumably due to the entry of cations through the cation channel associated with the receptors. The three purinergic agonists caused concentration-dependent contractions with the rank order of ATP γ S> BzATP>ATP. The study also shows that the data do not support a major role for P2X7R in human non-labouring myometrial responses to purinergic stimulation.

The uterus is sustained in a quiescent state throughout pregnancy to ensure the fetus remains *in utero* and can grow and develop. However, this quiescence is shifted to regular and progressive strong contractions at the onset of labour to deliver the baby and placenta. Any issues in this process might lead to dysfunctional labour, which ultimately ends by induction of labour using oxytocin or even an emergency CS (Wray, 2007). Unfortunately, 50% of women receiving oxytocin do not respond effectively to oxytocin and do not progress to a normal vaginal delivery (Bugg et al., 2008). Therefore, identifying alternative uterotonics such as ATP is of great importance.

The data available from the current study agrees with previous myometrial studies that extracellular ATP is a myometrial stimulant (Alotaibi, 2018); (Ziganshin et al., 2005); (Alotaibi et al., 2015);(Hutchings et al., 2009). Extracellular ATP also shows a concentration-dependent relationship to contractile frequency without affecting the amplitude. The increase in frequency suggests it is depolarizing the myocytes, consistent with the opening of its non-specific cation channel (NSCC) and allowing the influx of cations such as Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ via binding to P2X receptors, which are ATP gated ion channels (Surprenant and North, 2009); (Burnstock, 2007). This depolarization in turn, would activate voltage-gated calcium channels to facilitate further Ca²⁺ influx, strengthening the depolarization, increasing the rate of action potential firing and hence, contraction frequency (Burdyga et al., 2007);(Wray et al., 2015).

Comparison of the AUC under ATP application between the initial 10 minutes of perfusion compared to the last 10 minutes was found to be significantly increased, which suggests a biphasic response. Reasons for this could be that the receptors are desensitizing to the agonist over time, or that ATP is being hydrolyzed and its metabolites do not stimulate the receptors. In collaborative, unpublished work conducted by a colleague, Masters student Erinn Melville (whose project I co-supervised) identified a similar biphasic response of ATP in pregnant mouse myometrial tissue (n=9, **Figure 3.18A**). The biphasic response could essentially be that P2X receptors have a high binding affinity initially for ATP over its metabolites (Lohman et al., 2012). Using ATP γ S, a non-hydrolysable version of ATP, allows testing the effect of ATP itself on myometrial contractions, before its degradation by ectonucleotidases. Interestingly, there were no significant differences between the 1st and the 2nd 10 mins of application of ATP γ S. This supports my hypothesis that the biphasic response might be caused by an initial stimulation of ATP, which then diminishes over time as ATP is hydrolyzed (Young, 2000). It also suggests that the biphasic response is not likely to be due to receptor desensitization.



Figure 3.18 Effects of ATP on mouse spontaneous myometrial contractions in the presence and absence of a P2X7R antagonist. The trace recording A) shows the effect of 1mM ATP, alone, on term pregnant (18-day gestation) mouse myometrium, n=9. B) shows the effect of 40min A438079 [10μ M] perfusion during perfusion of 1mM ATP for 10min in term pregnant tissue. Unpublished work: Erinn Melville, Hind Zafrah, and Susan Wray.

Taken together, it is concluded that the transient excitatory effect of ATP could have a role in initiating contractions and particularly initiation of labour (Hutchings et al., 2009). It has been shown in rats that the sensitivity to ATP increases towards term pregnancy (Zafrah and Alotaibi, 2017), and increased expression of purinergic receptors during the early stage of pregnancy such as P2X1 (Slater et al., 2000) or during term pregnancy such as P2X7 (Alotaibi, 2018) occurs in the myometrium. Therefore, the contribution of ATP in the onset of labour must not be ignored.

Since there is evidence of the role of P2X7R in pregnant rat uterine contraction (Alotaibi, 2018); (Miyoshi et al., 2012); (Miyoshi et al., 2010), it is considered that these receptors could also be involved in the human pregnant uterus. Applying two specific and potent P2X7 receptor inhibitors, A438079 and A-740003 however, did not block the stimulatory effect of ATP on human uterine contractility. This would suggest either 1) there are species differences in P2X7 receptor sensitivity to antagonists, or 2) there are other purinergic receptors that mediate the action of ATP in human myometrium. The first suggestion was supported by collaborative unpublished work (Melville, Zafrah, and Wray) showing ATPinduced mouse uterine contraction was significantly reduced by using the same antagonist, A-438079 (10µM, Figure 3.18A-B). Studies have shown that species might have minor variations in the receptor itself, which in turn affects antagonist binding and leads to species differences in P2X7 receptor sensitivity to antagonists (Honore et al., 2006);(Dayel et al., 2019). This interesting area needs further investigation. The failure of a potent P2X7R antagonist to inhibit the robust uterine contractions produced by the most potent agonist for P2X7R, BzATP in the current study, could again be due to species differences in the activity of this antagonist, or it might reveal the involvement of other receptors mediating this effect of BzATP in the myometrium. The notion that BzATP is a selective agonist for P2X7R has been widely reported, however, Bianchi and his team have concluded that using BzATP as a P2X7 receptor agonist in native tissues is complicated by its lack of selectivity and specificity, as they found it was 100- to 1000-fold more potent at the human P2X1 and rat and human P2X3 receptors than human P2X7R (Jacobson and Müller, 2016);(Bianchi et al., 1999). Furthermore, BzATP can bind to and activate other P2XR, such as P2X2 (Bhargava et al., 2012). This might explain the current study result of the greater effect on contractility with BzATP on human myometrial tissue compared to ATP which potentially means the presence of other P2X receptors mediating this additional activity (Bianchi et al., 1999).

The current results ranked the effectiveness of ATP analogues in the order ATP γ S >> Bz-ATP >ATP, where ATP γ S action suggests little role for ADP, AMP or adenosine in the effects of ATP. ATP metabolites predominantly act via P1 purinergic receptors. This suggests that the P1 receptors are less involved in the stimulatory effect of ATP (Burnstock, 2018). ATPyS produced a significantly marked increase in uterine activity, which was not altered in the presence of P2XR antagonists and suggest that P2X7Rs have little involvement in its response. Instead, the effect may be attributed partly to the triggering of P2YRs in line with reports which have suggested that the uterus probably contains a mixture of P2-purinoceptors (Piper and Hollingsworth, 1996). The above rank order of stimulation of myometrial response is not matched with any single P2-purinoceptor subtype. As ATPyS was the agonist producing the largest effect in the non-labouring human myometrium, it is normally an agonist at P2X, P2Y1, P2Y2 and P2Y11 receptors (Lambrecht, 2000), the data suggests that P2Y-purinoceptors are present. However, BzATP produces the next largest response. It is normally the most potent agonist at P2X7, but it can also react with P2X1, P2X3 and P2Y1 receptors (Jacobson and Müller, 2016); (Vigne et al., 1999); (Allsopp et al., 2011). It is, therefore, likely that a mixture of purinergic receptors is present in the uterus. There have been reports of P2 purinoceptors co-existing in the non-pregnant guinea-pig myometrium (Piper and Hollingsworth, 1996). Airat U. Ziganshin has also suggested the presence of P2X and P2Y receptors in the human uterus, where activating P2X receptors causes uterine contraction while activating P2Y receptors causes uterine relaxation (Ziganshin et al., 2006). However, they did not recognize which P2Y receptor subtype could mediate the relaxant effect. Some P2YR are known to have an excitatory effect, and their stimulation could lead to Ca²⁺ release from the SR via PLC activation (Erb et al., 2015) and also activate PLD, PLA2, mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) (Dubyak and el-Moatassim, 1993) which were all identified to be progressively upregulated in myometrium along with other important proteins during a late stage of pregnancy and labour (Breuiller-Fouche and Germain, 2006). On the other hand, P2X receptor subtypes such as P2X1, P2X4 and P2X7 have been reported to have upregulated expression in mammalian myometrial tissue in the preterm rat model (Urabe et al., 2009) during the pregnancy. They also found it to mediate the powerful contractile effect of the ATP in rat myometrial cells (Alotaibi, 2018); (Miyoshi et al., 2012). Therefore, diverse subtypes of P2X and P2Y receptors could be expressed in the pregnant uterus, and their functional expression might depend on the different gestational stages of the pregnancy.

In conclusion, the current studies have shown that ATP is a powerful myometrial stimulant that has the potential to induce uterine contractions in dystocic labours. The transient increase in frequency suggests it depolarizes the myocytes, consistent with the opening of its non-specific ion channel. Interestingly, human myometrium probably contains a mixture of P2-purinoceptors but not P1 purinoceptors as ATP γ S action suggests little role for ADP, AMP or adenosine that act mainly via P1 purinergic receptors. The data do not support a role for P2X7R in the response of human myometrium to ATP. This finding contrasts with findings in the rat. Further research is required to investigate the role of other purinergic receptors in mediating the effects of ATP in human myometrium.



Chapter 4: Investigating the expression of purinergic receptors, P2X1 and P2X7, in non-pregnant, term pregnant, non-labouring and labouring human myometrium

4.1 Introduction

The onset of labour is initiated with synchronised and coordinated uterine contractions. These contractions become stronger and more frequent when labour progresses to the stage where the baby and placenta are delivered. The excitatory effects of ATP on uterine contractility open a window for researchers to consider it as a new stimulant for successful uterine activity during difficult labours (Alotaibi, 2018); (Ziganshin et al., 2005). A previous study on isolated uteri of non-pregnant guinea pigs proposed that myometrial tissue contains a mixture of P2 receptors (Piper and Hollingsworth, 1996). Data from experiments using single myometrial cells from pregnant rats suggests that uterine contraction is generated through the activation of P2X7 receptors (Miyoshi et al., 2010). The same group later confirmed that the P2X7R carried ATP-induced currents in rat myometrial cells (Miyoshi et al., 2012). Also, P2X7R expression has been shown to increase in the myometrium of pregnant rats in a preterm delivery model (Urabe et al., 2009). Furthermore, Alotaibi demonstrated that P2X7R was expressed in nonpregnant rat uterine tissues, and their expression was progressively upregulated towards term, which support their contribution to ATP-induced uterine contraction (Alotaibi, 2018). On the other hand, experiments carried out on preparations of isolated pregnant human uterus taken during planned CS have suggested that P2X1 might be involved in the contractile responses to ATP and other agonists (Ziganshin et al., 2003). However, they did not check for P2X7R. Immunohistochemistry was used to describe the expression pattern of P2X receptors in the non-pregnant rat reproductive organs and found that P2X1 receptor expression was determined within the perifollicular and vascular smooth muscle of the ovary as well as the uterus (Bardini et al., 2000). P2X1R immunoreactivity has been documented in early pregnant uterine epithelia (Slater et al., 2000); (Vial and Evans, 2001). Khanam et al. in their immunolabeling study in rat myometrium have reported that Cx43 expression, gap junction protein, is markedly increased during the time of parturition which may reflects their significant role in the synchronized and coordinated uterine contractions at the onset of labour. However, they found the expression of P2X1 receptors peaked on the first day postpartum and suggested that this might mediate the ATP effect to

inhibit expression of Cx43 at one day postpartum, hence diminishing gap junctions and preventing coordinated contractions (Khanam and Burnstock, 2007).

Current studies therefore suggest that there is an upregulation of P2X receptors in the rodent uterus at a late stage of pregnancy and the enhanced response to ATP during labour indicates a critical role for them in successful labour. Findings from animal myometrium could be assumed to occur in human myometrium. However, there are few data examining the receptors involved in mediating the contractile responses of the human myometrium to extracellular ATP, and no research to date in humans has been performed to determine the P2X receptor subtypes that may contribute to ATP-induced contraction during the onset of labour.

4.1.1 Aims of the study

Given their potential importance in response to ATP, the aims were, for the first time, to use western blot and immunohistochemistry techniques to characterise the presence and tissue distribution of P2X1 and P2X7 receptors in human myometrium at different gestational and physiological states. It was hypothesized that there would be differences in expression between the four groups of myometrial samples: non-labouring term pregnant, labouring with fetal distress, labouring dysfunctionally and non-pregnant women. Samples for women with CS for foetal distress were considered as the control group as they were expected to be closest to normal labour.

4.2 Methods

Human myometrial tissues were taken from:

1) non-pregnant women undergoing hysterectomy.

(2) term pregnant women with normal labour but undergoing emergency CS deliveries due to fetal distress.

(3) term pregnant women in labour undergoing emergency CS deliveries due to dysfunctional labour.

(4) term pregnant non-labouring women undergoing elective CS deliveries.

A total of 30 biopsies of human myometrial tissue were used for the immunohistochemical study (IHC). The demographic data on the samples used are given in Table 4.1. The reason for hysterectomy (n=3) were menorrhagia and blocked fallopian tubes. For C-section delivery of non-labouring (n=10) women, the causes were, breach fetal presentation and previous C-section. The causes for C-sections in dysfunctional labour were failure to progress and stalled cervical dilation (n=9), and in normal labour, were Cardiotocography (CTG) outside normal limits (n=8).

In the western blot study (WB), a total of 22 biopsies of human myometrial tissue were used. The demographic data on the samples used are given in Table 4.1. The reasons for hysterectomy (n=3) were menorrhagia and blocked fallopian tubes, while the causes for C-section delivery of non-labouring were breach fetal presentation and previous C-section (n=10), and the causes for C-section in dysfunctional labour were failure to progress in labour (n=6) and in normal labour was CTG outside normal limits (n=3). All data relating to the samples were collected from the Liverpool Women's Hospital Research Tissue bank. And we were blinded to it until all the work had been completed and analysed.

Details of how the tissue was collected, prepared, fixed, embedded, sectioned, the IHC staining procedure and the scoring method were extensively described in the Methods Chapter. In the case of protein extraction and western blotting, uterine biopsies were immediately snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen on the collection and stored at -80°C until sufficient samples were collected for the project. The western blot procedure is extensively described in the Methods Chapter.

4.3 Results

The demographic data shows that the women in the IHC study had a BMI within the normal range, whereas in the WB study were overweight on average (Table 4.1). As expected, women who had hysterectomies were older than the pregnant women. Nearly half of the recruited pregnant women were nulliparous, while the other half was distributed between primiparous or multiparous, with the vast majority having an elective caesarean section due to previous caesarean sections. Around 15 of the pregnant women had prolonged labour. In 10/15 of dysfunctional labour, samples were obtained from women who were nulliparous, which is expected; however, 5 women of them were primiparous.

Labouring					
ſ		IHC (n=9)	IHC (n=8)	WB (n=6)	WB (n=3)
		Dysfun.labr	Norml.labr	Dysfun.labr	Norml.labr.
	Mother's age (years: mean±SD)	29±5	30± 6	31±5	31±4
	Gestational age at delivery (days: mean±SD)	281.6±10.6	287.5±9.9	283.3±2.4	289.3± 6.4
	BMI (kg/m ² : mean±SD)	22±1	23±1	25±1	26±3
	Parity: para 0	n=5	n=4	n=5	n=3
	para 1	n=4	n=4	n=1	n=0
	para 2	n=0	n=0	n=0	n=0
	Non-labouring women				
		IHC (n=10)	WB (n=10)	
	Mother's age (years: mean±SD)	31±4		32±5	
	Gestational Age at delivery (days: mean±SD)	273.7±1.8		274.3±2.6	
	BMI (kg/m ² : mean±SD)	23±1		25±1	
	Parity : para 0	n=2		n=2	
	para 1	n=4		n=6	
	para 2	n=4		n=2	

Table 4.1 Summary table of characteristics of the study's sample.

Non-pregnant women				
	IHC (n=3)	WB (n=3)		
Age (years: mean±SD)	38± 1	38±4		
BMI (kg/m ²)	22	23±5		

Study sample characteristics of mother's age /year (mean \pm SD), gestational age at delivery /days (mean \pm SD), maternal weight/Kg (mean \pm SD) and parity.

4.3.1 P2X1 antibody titration

Initial titration experiments of the primary antibody were done to determine the minimum antibody concentration required to generate optimal IHC results. The following antibody concentrations were used for non-pregnant women myometrium P2X1 polyclonal antibody titration, 1:100, 1:200, 1:400 and 1:800 (**Figure 4.1A-D, respectively**). Figure 4.1E is the negative control which was stained with rabbit IgG immunoglobulin at (1:10000). A concentration of 1:400 was found to be optimal. The immunoreactivity of P2X1 in blood vessels (blue arrows) was determined, as seen in Figure 4.1F.



Figure 4.1: P2X1 antibody titration. (A-D) titration of the rabbit anti-P2X1 primary antibody concentration for IHC of human myometrial sections. (E) negative control of human myometrial section (Instead of primary antibody, rabbit IgG was used, 1:10000). (F) The immunoreactivity of P2X1 in blood vessels is indicated by blue arrows (5µM thickness, 20X).

4.3.2 Comparing the myometrial expression of P2X1R in non-pregnant, pregnant labouring and non-labouring women:

The expression of P2X1R was examined by DAB staining, which is equivalent to P2X1R expression. Myometrial sections were obtained from 30 women and examined by Aperio image scope software. There were 10 samples not in labour, 17 in labour either due to dysfunctional labour (n=9) or fetal distress (n=8), and 3 samples of the non-pregnant uterus.

The myocytes are small and compressed in small bundles in the non-pregnant section compared to the term pregnant sections, which are hypertrophied and arranged in bigger bundles surrounded by thick connective tissue, **Figure 4.2A-D**. The distribution of the P2X1R was not determined whether it is confined to the myometrial plasma membrane - as expected for the receptor, even at higher magnification, 20X. Using a high-resolution immunofluorescence assay might help localize the receptors.

When the primary antibody (P2X1 antibody) was replaced with a rabbit IgG antibody, no staining was detected (**Figure 4.1E**).

Typical positive staining of myometrial smooth muscles is shown in **Figure 4.2A-D** as well as the blood vessels (blue arrow) in **Figure 4.1F**. Staining was detected in the myometrial tissue of all samples. The P2X1Rs were evenly distributed in all myometrial cells in all groups. The P2X1R myometrial staining intensity was not significantly different between non-pregnant, non-labour, normal or dysfunctional labour (p>0.05), **Figure 4.2E**.



Figure 4.2 Immunoreactivity of P2X1 in the human myometrium. Immunoreactivity of P2X1 (1:400) is shown using DAB staining in myometrial tissue from A) non-pregnant NP, B) dysfunctional labour, C) Normal labour, and D) Non-laboring myometrial tissue. The mean immunoreactivity score in myometrium from non-pregnant NP, non-labour (Non-labr), dysfunctional labour (Dysfun.labr) and normal labour (Norm-labr) (E), 5µM thickness-20X.

4.3.3 P2X7antibody titration

Titration of the non-pregnant human myometrial P2X7R polyclonal antibody was performed to optimize antibody concentrations: 1:100, 1:200, and 1:400 (**Figure 4.3**A-C, respectively). Figure 4.3D shows the negative control stained with rabbit IgG immunoglobulin at (1:10000), and section 4.3E shows a mouse kidney stained with 1:200 antibody concentration (positive control). The antibody concentration of 1:200 was found to be optimal for staining. The immunoreactivity of P2X7 in blood vessels (blue arrows) was determined, as seen in Figure 4.3F.



Figure 4.3: P2X7antibody titration. (A-C) represent titration of the rabbit anti-P2X7 primary antibody concentrations for IHC of human myometrial sections. (D) represents the negative control of human myometrium (Instead of a primary antibody, the rabbit IgG antibody was used,1:10000). (E) shows staining in the mouse kidney, which was used as a positive control (1:200, brown staining). (F) Immunoreactivity of P2X7 in blood vessels indicated by blue arrows. (5µM thickness, 20X).

4.3.4 Comparing the myometrial expression of P2X7R in non-pregnant, pregnant labouring and non-labouring women:

The DAB-stained myometrial sections for P2X7 immunoreactivity were detected by Aperio image scope software among myometrial tissues taken during a planned Cesarean section operation, an emergency operation of Cesarean section due to dysfunctional labour or fetal distress (labouring tissues), and non-pregnant women. The mouse kidney was used as a positive control, showing clear DAB staining of nephrocytes (**Figure 4.3E**). The primary antibody (P2X7 antibody) was replaced with a rabbit IgG antibody as a negative control and showed no staining. (**Figure 4.3D**).

The IHC showed typical positive staining of myometrial smooth muscles **Figure 4.4** as well as the blood vessels (blue arrow) (**Figure 4.3F**). Staining was detected in the myometrial tissue of all samples. In the non-pregnancy section, myometrial cells are tiny and condensed into small bundles, whereas in term pregnant sections, they have hypertrophied and are grouped in larger bundles surrounded by thick connective tissue, **Figure 4.4A-D**. Even at higher magnification, 20X, the distribution of the P2X7R was not identified whether it is restricted to the myometrial plasma membrane, as expected for the receptor. Using a high-resolution immunofluorescence assay might help localize the receptors. The P2X7R myometrial staining intensity was not significantly different between non-pregnant, non-labour, normal or dysfunctional labour (p>0.05) (**Figure 4.4E**).



Immunoreactivity Score 5-0 NP Non-labr Dysfun.labi Norm.Labi

Figure 4.4: Immunoreactivity of P2X7 in the human myometrium. Immunoreactivity of P2X7 (1:200) is shown using DAB staining in myometrial tissue from A) non-pregnant, B) dysfunctional labour, C) Normal labour, and D) Non-labour myometrial tissue. The mean immunoreactivity score in myometrium from non-pregnant NP, non-labour (Non-labr), dysfunctional labour (Dysfun.labr) and normal labour (Norm-labr) (E), 5µM thickness-20X.

4.3.5 Quantification of P2X1R

For accurate quantification of P2X1 expression in human myometrium, western blotting using antibodies against P2X1R was carried out (**Figure 4.5**) using myometrium of 1) non-pregnant (n=3), 2) pregnant non-labouring (n=10), 3) labouring but dysfunctional (n=5) and 4) normal labour (n=3).

Figure 4.5 is a representative blot for P2X1R in human myometrium (n=3-10). P2X1R was identified in all groups. Different isoforms of the P2X1Rs were observed in the human myometrium of NP compared to pregnant non-labouring and labouring. A total of 3 bands were detected in NP (n=2/3); two bands have low-intensity staining at the molecular weight of (100 &75kDa) and the third one, the strongest, at the molecular weight of (50kDa) (predicted weight around 45KDa), (**Figure 4.5A**). Regarding the pregnant non-labouring and labouring groups, there is a single band at the molecular weight of (50kDa) (**Figure 4.5A**). Reprobed blots were used with the same experimental protocol and tissues, with anti-GAPDH antibody for loading control and to quantify the relative expression of P2X1.

Quantification of P2X1R expression was applied (**Figure 4.5B**). Analysis of signal intensity at 50KDa relative to GAPDH shows there is a small increase in expression in all term pregnant tissues, mainly in foetal distress labouring myometrial tissue when compared to non-pregnant tissue. Despite this trend, there was no significant difference between the different tissues (p>0.05).



Figure 4.5 Presence of P2X1R in human myometrial tissue.

A: Representative image of blots for P2X1R in human non-pregnant (NP, n=3), nonlabouring (Non-labr n=10), dysfunctionally labour (Dysfun.labr, n=5) and normal labour myometrium, (Norm-Labr, n=3). Anti P2X1 antibody at 1:1000 concentration was used to detect a variety of P2X1R expressions. **B**: Relative P2X1R abundance for 50KDa band. GAPDH was used to normalize protein concentration as a loading control. The internal control tissue (Int.cont) was used to ensure conditions were similar between runs.
4.3.6 Quantification of P2X7R

Figure 4.6A is a representative blot for P2X7R in human myometrium (n=3-10). P2X7R was seen in all groups. Two different isoforms of the P2X7Rs in human myometrium were detected, one at 50kDa (predicted weight around 69KDa) and another at 100kDa, the ratio of which appears to change between non-pregnant and term pregnant tissues. All samples expressed the 50kDa protein. Non-pregnant myometrial tissue only expressed the 50kDa protein (n=3), whereas both sized proteins were detected in all non-labouring tissues (n=10), whereas only in 2/5 dysfunctional labouring and 2/3 fetal distress tissues samples were both protein sizes detected. In both labouring tissue types, the predominant protein was 50kDa (**Figure 4.6B&C**). Reprobed blots were used with the same experimental protocol and tissues, with anti-GAPDH antibody for loading and quantifying the relative expression of P2X7.

Quantification of P2X7R expression was applied (**Figure 4.6B**). Analysis of signal intensity at 50KDa relative to GAPDH shows there is a significant increase of the P2X7R expression in normal labour tissues ($32845\pm8655\%$, n=3, P= 0.0025) compared to non-labour, dysfunctional labour and non-pregnant tissue; ($12256\pm2118\%$, n=10), ($15599\pm3146\%$, n=5), and ($4911\pm751\%$, n=3), respectively. Analysis of signal intensity at 100KDa (where evident) shows that expression in dysfunctional labour tended to be less than non-labouring and normal labour. However, due to their limited n numbers, statistical analysis could not be performed on the signal intensity of this isoform.



Figure 4.6: Presence of P2X7R in human myometrial tissue.

A: Representative image of blots for P2X7R in human non-pregnant (NP, n=3), non-laboring (Non-labr n=10), dysfunctionally labor (Dysfun.labr, n=5) and normal labor myometrium, (Norm.Labr, n=3). Anti P2X7 antibody at 1:200 concentration was used to detect P2X7R expression. **B:** Relative P2X7R abundance at 50KDa. **C:** Relative P2X7R abundance at 100KDa. GAPDH was used to control for protein loading and normalize P2X7 expression. The internal control tissue (Int.cont) was used to ensure consistency between blots.

4.4 Discussion

In the previous chapter, it was shown that extracellular ATP increased the frequency of uterine contraction. It is hypothesized that the expression of P2X1Rs or P2X7Rs would increase towards term pregnancy, and ATP binding to one of these receptors could potentiate the myometrium contraction, which would help contractile augmentation during the onset of labour. On the other hand, the depletion of one or both receptors could suggest a potential mechanism underpinning the poor myometrial contractility of those who have dysfunctional labour. So far, there are few data to suggest P2X1R or P2X7R are involved in mediating the contractile responses of the human myometrium to extracellular ATP (Alotaibi, 2018); (Khanam and Burnstock, 2007). The aim of this study was to examine the P2X1R or P2X7R expression in human myometrium from non-pregnant, non-labouring, labouring normally or labouring dysfunctionally women. The expression location of P2X1R & P2X7R in all mentioned groups was investigated using immunohistochemistry and quantified by a western blot study. The data shows that both receptors are present in myometrial smooth muscle and the wall of blood vessels. P2X1R expression in myometrium has no differences between all groups. Interestingly, the myometrial expression of P2X7R in non-pregnant, non-labouring or dysfunctional labour is significantly less than in the normal labour group. This is compatible with the hypothesis of this study. This result suggests that the expression of uterine P2X7Rs is functionally significant and might be implicated in the mechanisms of labour. Alotaibi, in his study, also found the density of P2X7Rs in rat uterine tissues markedly increased during labour (Alotaibi, 2018). However, the P2X7R expression has no significant differences between non-labour and dysfunctional labour in human myometrium.

Throughout pregnancy, the uterus is in a quiescent state to ensure a safe environment for foetal development and avoid preterm delivery. In contrast, during labour, the myometrium starts contracting forcefully in a coordinated pattern in order to expel the foetus and later the placenta into the birth canal (Riemer and Heymann, 1998). Many factors could contribute to the control of this switch from uterine quiescence throughout pregnancy to an actively contracting uterus in labour, including the marked upregulation of gap junctions, ion channels, oxytocin receptors, and the increased production of prostaglandins (Wray and Prendergast, 2019). The current finding of a high density of P2X7 receptors in normal labour, compared to non-labouring myometrium or dysfunctional labour, suggests their implication with other factors in coordinated contractile activity of the muscle cells at labour.

Immunohistochemistry is a subjective approach known as a semi-quantitative method used mainly to determine the location of protein expression and cannot quantify protein expression accurately so western blot approach was used which is more accurate and can give an overview of total protein, but it cannot determine any functional expression differences e.g. surface (and likely functional) verses internalized i.e. trafficking or recycling receptors (and therefore likely non-functional). Hence using other techniques to measure surface expression would be beneficial.

The mechanisms that prepare the myometrium for labour are still unknown, but it is currently thought that the normal physiological process of labour is linked to uterine inflammation (Shynlova et al., 2013). P2X7R play a key part in the cellular inflammatory process through its importance in interleukin (IL)-1 β secretion (Miyoshi et al., 2016). Interestingly, a study on pregnant rat myometrium found that the lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory preterm model is associated with the overexpression of P2X7 mRNAs and P2X7 receptor proteins and suggested that these receptors play important roles in uterine contractions at the time of delivery (Urabe et al., 2009). Thus, when ATP is released by traumatized myometrial cells associated with parturition, could result in P2X7 receptor activation at the cell membrane and augment the uterine contraction. The current results indicating overexpression of the P2X7 receptors associated with the normal labour group are consistent with our hypothesis. This is supported by a study conducted on a mouse model of intrauterine inflammation, which is concluded that the blocking P2X7 receptor may provide a clinically useful tool to prevent preterm birth (Tsimis et al., 2017).

Ovarian hormones such as oestrogen and progesterone control myometrial contractility essentially by regulating the expression of genes that encode OTR and Cx43 (Mesiano and Welsh, 2007). During labour, the high circulating oestrogen enhances the expression of OTR and Cx43 dramatically to promote uterine sensitivity to oxytocin and help cell-cell communication, which is essential for successful and coordinated contractions (Ilicic et al., 2020). There are no studies regarding oestrogen's role in regulating the purinergic receptor expression in the myometrium. However, Raymond et al have examined the expression of P2X3R in rat uterine cervix during different gestational stages and during labour by using western blot study. They found that P2X3R protein expression was significantly enhanced in the cervix at labour and suggested that the increase in oestrogen might contribute to the elevated oestrogen in pregnancy towards labour may contribute towards enhancing their

expression in the normal labour group. Furthermore, Urabe and his team have suggested that progesterone withdrawal is likely responsible for the up-regulated P2X7 mRNA expression seen in the hormone-induced preterm delivery model in rats. They concluded this markedly increased P2X7R might enhance uterine contractions during normal delivery (Urabe et al., 2009). However, it is worth to mention that humans do not undergo progesterone withdrawal which involves changes in the ratio of expression of different progesterone receptor isoforms, instead they undergo a functional withdrawal (Mitchell and Taggart, 2009).

On the other hand, in the term pregnant non-labouring group, the uterus is not in a labour state. Therefore, P2X7R expression is unlikely to be upregulated to the maximum level of the onset of labour; thus, the uterine sensitivity to ATP may alter. This is supported by evidence that examined the influence of ATP on the contractile response of the uterine arteries collected from guinea pigs at various gestational stages. The researchers came to the conclusion that oestrogen during pregnancy substantially increased the sensitivity of the uterine vasculature to adenosine triphosphate, which is mediated by P2X receptors (Haynes et al., 2003).

The physiological cause of dysfunctional labour has been suggested to be due to a low pH and increased lactate in myometrial capillary blood (Quenby et al., 2004). The P2X7R has been found to play a function in the cellular inflammatory response, which has been claimed to be a possible mechanism of labour (Gomez-Lopez et al., 2014);(Miyoshi et al., 2016);(Urabe et al., 2009). The extracellular acidification associated with dysfunctional labour could affect the expression of P2X7 receptors and inhibit their role in the inflammatory response, which eventually alters the myometrial response to ATP and leads to poor progress in uterine contractility during the onset of labour. Interestingly, extracellular acidification, and this functional inhibition by acidic pH is mediated by five amino acid residues in P2X7's extracellular domain, which suppresses IL-1-dependent innate immune activation (Liu et al., 2009); (Virginio et al., 1997); (Takenouchi et al., 2014); (Brand et al., 2016); (Flittiger et al., 2010);(Sekar et al., 2018).

The relatively small differences in the abundance of P2X7R expression in non-labour and dysfunctional labour myometrial tissues suggest that they could mirror the similar contractile response to ATP in the contractility study. In other words, the ATP contractile response in both groups might be driven by the level of their P2X7R expression. However, no normally

labouring tissues were available for the contractility study to compare the actual contractile response to ATP mediated by the high density of P2X7R found in this group.

The result also shows the inconsistency of findings with non-pregnant myometrium tissues as there is a single protein band at 50KDa. Unlike the pregnant non-labouring and labouring myometrial tissues, which showed potentially two isoforms in some samples, one at 50KDa and the other at 100KDa, the reason for the expression of double bands in pregnant tissue is unknown but might be related to immunological responses. P2X7R is known to have an important role in inflammatory processes and immunological responses, mainly through its C-terminal domain (Kopp et al., 2019); (Miyoshi et al., 2016), and inflammatory reactions are associated with premature initiation of labour. The N-glycosylation of the P2X7 receptor has been shown to attenuate its activity (Lenertz et al., 2010). This glycosylation could be cross-reacting with another protein that for some reason is not present in all samples. Also, it could be responsible for the 100kDa isoform, and its existence in the pregnancy might explain its role in maintaining the pregnancy to allow sufficient time for the foetus to grow before the onset of labour. However, this pattern of expression does not include all labouring samples as the exact mechanisms underlying the onset of labour are not fully understood, and further studies need to be performed to discover this.

The alteration in oestrogen and progesterone ratio towards term pregnancy and intrauterine inflammation during parturition may have an important role in increasing the density of P2X7 receptors expression on the myometrial cell membrane. This might indicate their role in promoting uterine sensitivity to ATP and mediating the augmentation of uterine contraction during the onset of labour (Urabe et al., 2009). Studies have shown that the surface expression of these receptors is regulated by different mechanisms, including receptor internalisation, degradation, down-regulation and truncation mutant in of the cytosolic c-terminal (Feng et al., 2005); (Khadra et al., 2013);(Smart et al., 2003), which might affect the function of the receptor and change its response to different stimuli (Feng et al., 2006); (Smart et al., 2003). However, further investigation of surface expression by higher resolution immunofluorescence assay during dysfunctional and normal labour is required to determine its effect on myometrial contraction.

The immunohistochemistry also shows the expression of P2X1 and P2X7 receptors in the myometrial blood vessel wall. This is consistent with previous studies where their expression has been found in the vascular smooth muscle within the uterus of non-pregnant rats (Bardini et al., 2000) and in the smooth muscles of the human umbilical cord and chorionic blood

vessels (Valdecantos et al., 2003). And their abundance in guinea pig uterine artery is identified to increase in the late stage of pregnancy (Haynes *et al.*, 2003). This indicates their potential role in changing the blood flow to the myometrium during labour. It has been reported that P2X1 and P2X7Rs mediate vasoconstriction in human saphenous vein smooth muscle (Cario-Toumaniantz et al., 1998) and human omental arteries (Nichols et al., 2014). The hypoxia associated with each forceful myometrial contraction during labour might trigger the release of ATP from endothelial cells (To et al., 2015), which binds to these receptors to induce vasoconstriction, which eventually leads to a reduction in the blood perfusion and cause ischemia. It is worth mentioning that these periods of hypoxia and ischemia during labour are normal, and a recovery period is followed during the reperfusion between contractions (Alotaibi et al., 2015). However, it could be speculated that a high expression of one or both of these receptors in uterine vessels could mediate the contractile responses to ATP which then prevents these contracted vessels from recovering so no perfusion would occur and a poor progress in myometrial contraction might take place which in turn could contribute to the dysfunctional labour.

4.5 Limitations of the study

The number of samples used in this study was relatively small, and larger sample size should be examined in future studies. This was due to the Covid epidemic, which significantly influenced sample collection. Obtaining consent and taking biopsies were extremely challenging with all the additional clinical precautions in place (Raghuraman et al., 2021).

Immunohistochemical studies are limited in that they can only give a semi-quantitative assessment of protein expression, and Western blotting is a quantitative procedure that is more precise but does not allow for localisation of receptors, e.g., surface (and functional) vs internally located receptors. IHC at the magnification used could not determine the cellular distribution of P2X1 and P2X7 receptors. Using a high-resolution immunofluorescence assay might help localize the receptors.



Chapter 5: An Investigation of the effect of ATP on Myometrial Contractility of Laboring Women

5.1 Introduction

Powerful uterine contractions are essential for delivering the baby. Unfortunately, not all labours will end with normal vaginal delivery, some might have weak and uncoordinated uterine contractions, and labour will be prolonged and accordingly will need augmentation with oxytocin of their labour to reduce the risk of maternal and neonatal morbidity and mortality (Organization, 2011). Interestingly, up to 50% of women who are labouring poorly do not respond to oxytocin administration and ultimately require emergency CS (Wiberg-Itzel et al., 2016); (Wray, 2007).

Dysfunctional labour is defined as poor progress in labour due to weak and uncoordinated uterine contraction, which in turn prevents cervical dilatation (Steer et al., 1985); (Wray et al., 2020). Scientists have worked hard investigating the underlying mechanisms of dysfunctional labour. Interestingly, a clinical trial involved 16 women with dysfunctional labours who received ATP and prostaglandin by intravenous infusion were found to have a full cervical dilatation in a shorter time compared to 18 women who received prostaglandin alone (Ziganshin et al., 2005). It is suggested that purinergic signalling plays a role in uterine contraction and that the low expression of their receptors might lead to an obstructed labour (Alotaibi, 2018).

During normal parturition, the myometrium starts contracting frequently and forcefully in a coordinated pattern in order to expel the foetus and later the placenta through the birth canal to the external world (Riemer and Heymann, 1998). The precise mechanisms of initiating this contractility remain mysterious. The marked upregulation of gap junctions and oxytocin receptors, the increased stretch of the uterine wall as the foetus grows, alteration of the oestrogen/progesterone ratio, and the increased production of prostaglandins probably all play a part in the strong contractions necessary for labour (Wray and Prendergast, 2019). The strong uterine contraction during labour compresses the myometrial vessels. This squeeze reduces blood flow and results in local transient ischemia and hypoxia, which recovers when the muscle relaxes (Wray et al., 2020). If the myometrial contractions are sustained for a long time or are very frequent, the decreased myometrial blood perfusion will associate with a decrease in the placental blood flow, which causes a less efficient gas and nutrient exchange.

As a result, fetal heart rate will increase with each peak of force, which might lead to fetal distress and eventually require a C-section delivery (Krishna and Bhalerao, 2011). The frequency of uterine contractions and fetal cerebral oxygenation was discovered to have an inverse correlation, according to Peebles et al. research (Peebles et al., 1994). In addition, overstimulation with uterotonics such as oxytocin, which can be used to induce slow progress labour, can also cause fetal distress due to uterine hyperstimulation. Furthermore, tonic-like contractions that occur on occasion spontaneously might impair uterine blood flow and leads to fetal distress (Wray et al., 2020).

No published work determines the functional effect of extracellular ATP γ S, a nonhydrolyzable version of ATP, on labouring human myometrial contractility. In chapter 3, ATP γ S was found to have the highest stimulatory effect on non-labouring human myometrial contractility among other agonists (BzATP and ATP). Therefore, it is hypothesized that spontaneous myometrial contractility in normal labour would have the highest stimulatory response to the effect of ATP γ S compared to non-labouring and dysfunctional labouring myometrial tissues.

In this chapter, the labouring myometrial tissues associated with fetal distress will be taken as a "normal" labour sample as the contractions are coordinated and frequent and strong, and the cervix is dilating. This is not the case in women labouring dysfunctionally.

5.1.1 Aims of the study

1) To investigate the effect of ATP γ S on spontaneous contractile activity in dysfunctionally labouring human myometrium.

2) To compare the effect of ATP γ S on myometrial contractility between dysfunctionally labouring and non-labouring women.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Tissue

Human myometrial biopsies were obtained from women undergoing emergency caesarean section at term at Liverpool Women's hospital. The local ethical committee's approval and the patients' informed consent were obtained. Uterine tissues were collected and prepared, and then myometrial strips were dissected and mounted as described in detail in the general materials and methods chapter (Chapter 2). The patient's details were blinded at the time of studying the biopsies to avoid any bias. The demographic data on the samples used are given in Table 5.1.

5.2.2 Drugs and solutions

1mM ATPγS was used to stimulate myometrial contraction. A 40mM high potassium (KCl) solution was used to assess tissue viability. They were prepared as described in the general materials and methods chapter.

5.2.3 Experimental protocol

After approximately an hour, the spontaneous contractions reached a regular pattern in physiological saline. The uterine strips were then exposed to 1 mM ATP γ S for 20 mins to test their effects on spontaneous myometrial contractions and washed out with PSS. ATP γ S was used as it was the agonist that produced the largest effect in the non-labouring human myometrium. The 20 mins immediately preceding the application of ATP γ S was used as the control (100%) period (**Figure 5.1**). If there was a delay in contraction recovery after washing out the ATP γ S, a 40mM high potassium (KCl) solution was used to assess tissue viability.

5.2.4 Statistical Analysis

Data were analysed as described in Chapter 3.



Figure 5.1 Experimental protocol. Spontaneous uterine contractions were obtained in a steady-state, and the last 20 minutes were considered a control period; labelled by the blue bar. This was followed by a treatment period of 20 minutes pink bar. Recovery was then followed for at least 20 minutes, labelled by a black bar.

5.3 Results:

During this study, five biopsies from women in labour were obtained. Analysis was performed blinded to the indication for the C-section. After performing the analysis, data were related to the cause of the C-section. All five samples were found to be taken from women labouring dysfunctionally.

The demographic data demonstrated that the women in this study were obese (the record does not show the BMI of 2 samples) but not diabetic (Table 5.1). Their mean age was 30, and the majority were nulliparous, which is expected – indeed, dysfunctional labour was the primary reason for the subsequent emergency caesarean section. All women had a term (>37 weeks) delivery; one of them had twins.

Table 5.1 Maternal demographic data. It illustrates the study sample characteristics of maternal age (years), gestational age (days), maternal body mass index (BMI), parity, gravidity, and indication for Caesarean section.

Maternal Sample Demographics $(n = 5)$	
Mother's age (years: mean ± SD)	30±3
Gestational age at delivery (days: median (IQR)	275 (272.5-27.5)
BMI (kg/m ² : mean \pm SD)	30±7 (n=3/5)
Parity	
Nulliparous	n=3
Primiparous	n=1
Multiparous	n=1
Gravidity	
Primigravida	n=2
Multigravida	n=2
Twins	n=1
Indication for Caesarean section	
Dysfunctional labour	n=5
Normal labour	n=0

Type of Caesarean	
Emergency-labouring	n=5
Diabetic	None

5.3.1 The effect of ATPγS on spontaneous uterine contractility in the dysfunctionally labouring human myometrium

After an hour, the majority of (4/5) labouring term human myometrial strips produced regular spontaneous contractions, and 1mM ATP γ S was applied for 20 mins (**Figure 5.2A**). The ATP γ S caused a clear increase in contractile frequency, which tended to become tonic in some tissues (although contractions were still visible on top of this elevated baseline (**Figure 5.2B**)), and achieved significance 652.4± 165.5%, P= 0.04, n=4, **Figure 5.3A**. One tissue out of 5 failed to establish spontaneous contractions after 2 hours. However, ATP γ S was able to stimulate contractions in this sample (**Figure 5.2C**). Due to the absence of spontaneous contractions and control activity, this one sample was excluded from the analysis. The 1mM ATP γ S induced a significant enhancement of AUC (439.5±95.9%, P=0.03, n=4, **Figure 5.3B**) when compared to the preceding control period. There were no significant changes found in the amplitude of contraction. Interestingly, in 4 out of 5 tissues, contractions did not continue after washing out of ATP γ S with fresh PPS for approximately 1 hour; therefore, tissue viability was assessed by adding a 40mM high potassium (KCl) solution. The high KCl solution was able to recover contractions, as shown in **Figure 5.2 B**, which means the tissue was viable.



Figure 5.2: Effect of 1mM ATP γ S application on dysfunctional labouring human myometrium. Traces of the effect of ATP γ S on spontaneous uterine contractions in dysfunctionally labouring human myometrium. (A): Trace showing the stimulatory effect of 1mM ATP γ S on contraction frequency n=2. (B): Trace showing a tonic contraction caused by 1mM ATP γ S n=2. A 40mM KCl was added to assess the tissue viability. (C): Trace showing 1mM ATP γ S ability to stimulate contractions in dysfunctional labouring human myometrium that was not spontaneously contracting, n=1.



Figure 5.3: The effects of ATP γ S on dysfunctionally labouring human myometrial contraction parameters. Scatter plot showing the effects of ATP γ S on A: frequency, B: AUC, and C: amplitude. A Significant difference was found using the one sample t-test, n=4.

5.3.2 The comparative effect of ATPγS on spontaneous uterine contractility in the dysfunctionally labouring and non-labouring human myometrium.

The effect of 1mM ATP γ S for 20 min on pregnant dysfunctionally labouring human myometrium and non-labouring myometrium was compared (n=4-6, **Figure 5.4**). The mean data shows there were no significant differences in frequency of contraction (p=0.9), AUC (p=0.5), and amplitude (p=0.3) in the dysfunctional labouring versus non-labouring groups (**Figure 5.5A-D**).



Figure 5.4. A comparison of non-labouring and dysfunctional labouring human myometrial response to ATPγS.

Typical traces show 20 mins pregnant non-labouring (A) and dysfunctional labouring (B) women uterine contractility induced by 1mM ATPγS.



Figure 5.5. Comparison of ATPγS response between non-labouring and dysfunctional labouring human myometrium.

Scatter plot showing the effects of 1mM ATP γ S on contraction (A) frequency, (B) AUC, and (C) amplitude in non-labouring (n=6, light green) and dysfunctional labouring human myometrial tissue (n=4, dark green). There was no significant difference found between the two groups by using students' unpaired t-test.

5.4 Discussion

Chapter 3 has shown that ATP γ S, the non-hydrolysable form of ATP, significantly increased the frequency of uterine contractility in non-labouring human myometrium and was the most potent agonist among other analogues. This data suggests that the powerful excitatory effect of ATP could be considered a novel uterotonic agent in dysfunctional labour. The current work shows that the application of 1mM ATP γ S also induces significant increases in the spontaneous contraction frequency of dysfunctionally labouring women. However, there were no significant differences between the response of non-labouring and dysfunctionally labouring myometrial contraction to ATP γ S.

It was hypothesized that the expression of P2X1Rs or P2X7Rs would increase towards term pregnancy, and ATP binding to one of these receptors could potentiate myometrial contraction, which would help in contractile augmentation during the onset of labour. Although no normally labouring tissues were obtained in the contractility study, the relatively small differences in the abundance of P2X7R expression in non-labour and dysfunctional labour myometrial tissues in the previous work suggest that the current contractile response to ATP γ S in both groups might be driven by the level of their P2X7R expression. However, the role of other purinergic receptors such as P2Y or other P2X subtype receptors should be taken into account since a mixture of these receptors has been identified in the uterus of various species, both pregnant and non-pregnant (Ziganshin et al., 2003);(Piper and Hollingsworth, 1996);(Aitken et al., 2001).

The P2X and P2Y receptors are suggested to be present in the human uterus during pregnancy (Ziganshin et al., 2003). Ziganshin and his team hypothesized that P2X receptor expression increases slowly during pregnancy peaking at labour, while P2Y receptor expression reaches maximal expression in late pregnancy before declining at labour (Ziganshin et al., 2006). ATP_γS is known as an agonist at P2X, P2Y1, P2Y2 and P2Y11 receptors (Lambrecht, 2000). The clear stimulation of myometrial contraction in dysfunctional labouring women by ATP_γS suggests that ATP_γS is binding to functional receptors, which may be P2X or P2YR. As the peak expression of P2XR was demonstrated in labour in rats, then it may be speculated that the responses to ATP_γS would be even more pronounced in normally labouring myometrium (Ziganshin et al., 2006);(Alotaibi, 2018). This is supported by the work in Chapter 4, showing the expression of P2XR was markedly increased in the normal labour group compared to dysfunctional labouring and non-labouring

myometrial tissue. However, exploring the myometrial expression of P2YR is important to consider in future work.

Taken together, the pattern of P2X7R expression in the non-pregnant, term pregnant, and the normal labour group and the relatively low density in non-labouring tissues could explain why P2X7R antagonists failed to inhibit the stimulatory effect of ATP and its analogues. This could be proven if these P2X7R blockers were examined on normal labouring tissues and the effect of ATP or its analogues was abolished. Further work on normal labouring tissue and using specific inhibitors of P2YR in the non-labouring tissues is needed to provide evidence for this hypothesis.

An interesting finding was that ATP γ S could elicit contractions in a sample of myometrium that was previously quiescent. This gives the exciting possibility that ATP γ S will be of use to help women labouring dysfunctionally, to regain contractions and avoid an unplanned C-Section. Future work could compare ATP γ S and oxytocin, the current stimulant given to women suffering from dysfunctional labour. Questions would be, for example, can ATP γ S stimulate myometrium in cases where oxytocin does not? Do their actions synergize? If so, this may also mean lower concentrations of both agents could be given, and effects such as desensitization and side effects, reduced.

5.5 Limitations of the study

This work has a low sample size for two main reasons. This is a reflection of how difficult it is to obtain labouring samples. It is not always appropriate to ask for consent if a woman is going to have an unplanned C-section, and she will have lots on her mind and may well be distressed. In the latter case, women are not approached for a sample by the surgical team. It is also the case that some women who did give their consent did not have a biopsy taken because the surgical team forgot or decided against taking a biopsy. Secondly, there was a large impact of the Covid pandemic on obtaining samples. With all the additional clinical measures in place, both obtaining consent and taking biopsies was largely impossible (Raghuraman et al., 2021). In addition, women were understandably much more anxious in their pregnancy and not as likely to give informed consent.

Human tissue, in its nature, has a lot of variation compared to animal models, and this increases the variation between samples. Some of this can be seen in **Figure 5.2**. Increasing n number would boost confidence in the conclusions between labouring and non-labouring

myometrium. Obtaining five biopsies was challenging. It was helpful however that they were all from women labouring dysfunctionally.

CHAPTER 6



Chapter 6: Final Discussion

This thesis aimed to investigate the effect of ATP on labouring and non-labouring human myometrial contractility and examine its potential to augment contractility in cases of dysfunctional labour. Also, to investigate the implication of P2X7R in mediating the ATP action.

The initial work was to investigate the effect of ATP on term pregnant non-labouring human myometrial contractility. Having shown its significant effects on contractile frequency, exploring the contribution of purinergic receptors, mainly P2X7R, in ATP-induced uterine contraction was investigated by using different analogues and selective P2X7R antagonists. Finally, the effect of ATP as a novel uterotonic agent on the labouring state, dysfunctional labour, was identified.

Another method to understand how ATP enhances contractility was to look for evidence of changes in purinergic receptor protein in myometrial tissue. This was accomplished by examining the expression of P2X1R and P2X7R in the myometrium of women who were term pregnant (non-labouring, labouring normally or dysfunctionally) and non-pregnant. Despite the limitation in the sample size used in some experiments, many particular goals have been addressed. The work presented in the current study has shed light on the effect of ATP on human myometrial contractility besides exploring the implication of myometrial purinergic receptor protein expression, including P2X1R and P2X7R.

The contractility study results showed that the myometrial strips from term non-labouring and dysfunctionally labouring women spontaneously contracted even before agonists were applied. It is known that the myometrium is a dynamic tissue (Wray, 1993). It can contract spontaneously in the nonpregnant state during the menstrual cycle, known as endometrial waves, and can also occur throughout pregnancy, resulting in Braxton Hicks contractions (McEvoy and Sabir, 2021). These spontaneous contractions occur as a reflection of the electrical activity state of membrane potential (Wray et al., 2015), as discussed in section 1.2.4 in the general introduction. During labour, these contractions are sustained at regular intervals, increasing strength and frequency and associated with cervical dilation. This is due to the propagation of multiple coordinated membrane depolarizations necessary for forceful and sustained contractions (McEvoy and Sabir, 2021). It is believed that there is more than one key event that turns on the switch to labour, including the marked upregulation of gap junctions, ion channels, oxytocin receptors, and the increased production of prostaglandin

(Wray and Prendergast, 2019). Identifying the high density of P2X7 receptors in normal labour vs non-labouring myometrium or dysfunctional labour implies that they may play a role in the coordinated contractile activity of muscle cells during labour. This is supported by a recent study that found that the expression of P2X7Rs significantly increased in rat uterine tissues during labour, suggesting their essential role in the mechanisms of labour (Alotaibi, 2018). However, no normally labouring tissues were obtained in this contractility study due to the Covid pandemic and the difficult collecting emergency samples during this critical condition. Therefore, it could be speculated that in labouring tissue, the spontaneous contractions become stronger, and the time between each contraction decreases.

6.1 The Effect of ATP on the human myometrial contractility

ATP had a stimulatory effect, increasing frequency, on term pregnant non-labouring human myometrial contractility. This is consistent with previous studies on its effect on pregnant and non-pregnant myometrial contraction from various species (Moritoki et al., 1979); (Alotaibi, 2018); (Hutchings et al., 2009). Interestingly, ATP increased the contractile frequency in a concentration-dependent manner, suggesting it is depolarizing the myocytes, consistent with the opening of its non-specific ion channel (Surprenant and North, 2009);(North, 2002). To explore the contribution of purinergic receptors in ATP-induced uterine contraction, a potent P2X7R agonist and selective antagonists were applied. The current results showed it is unlikely that P2X7R contributes to the response of term pregnant non-labouring human myometrium to ATP. The rank order of potency of the agonists was ATP_yS> BzATP>ATP, which is not consistent with the P2X7 receptors. ATPyS is normally an agonist at P2X, P2Y1, P2Y2 and P2Y11 receptors (Lambrecht, 2000). However, BzATP comes next, and it is normally the most potent agonist at P2X7, but it can also react with P2X1, P2X3 and P2Y1 receptors (Vigne et al., 1999);(Allsopp et al., 2011);(Jacobson and Müller, 2016). Therefore, it appears that numerous subtypes of P2X receptors coexist in the term pregnant nonlabouring human myometrium, which could be involved in the contractility response to the ATP. This finding is supported by the western blot analysis, where a low density of P2X7 receptors was identified in this group, which could explain the failure of the selective P2X7R antagonists to inhibit the stimulatory effect of ATP and BzATP in this study. This contrasts with findings in term pregnant rat myometrial cells, where patch clamping analysis was used and found that P2X7 is the main receptor that carries the ATP-induced currents (Miyoshi et al., 2010); (Miyoshi et al., 2012). In this study, the use of BzATP produced increased contractile frequency, and again the selective P2X7 antagonist failed to block its effects. 118

Also, ATP_YS, the non-hydrolysable version of ATP, caused an increase in the contractile frequency in dysfunctionally labouring and non-labouring term pregnant human myometrium. However, there was no significant difference in this response between the two groups. In addition, the western blot analysis revealed that the expression level of P2X7R in dysfunctionally labouring myometrium was not different compared to term pregnant nonlabouring myometrium. Since the abundance of this receptor is low in these tissues, it is likely that other receptors, such as P2YR, which has a bell-shaped expression profile throughout pregnancy and is reduced at the onset of labour, where the P2X7R upregulated in normally labouring myometrium, takes over the role of mediating the ATP effect (Ziganshin et al., 2006). Moreover, in the dysfunctional labour group, the low expression of P2X7R could be due to the low pH, accompanied by the poor myometrial contraction, which is found to suppress the P2X7R protein expression in microglial cells (Sekar et al., 2018). ATPyS is a potent agonist at P2Y1, P2Y2 and P2Y11 receptors (Lambrecht, 2000) and the myometrial contraction in term pregnant non-labouring and dysfunctional labouring women suggests that the response to ATPyS could be mediated through these receptors. It is interesting to speculate that testing the effect of ATP and the potent P2X7R agonist on normal labouring tissue, then it might have seen a greater effect, as the western blot analysis showed P2X7R is upregulated markedly in this group compared to other pregnant and non-pregnant ones.

The findings in this study showed that ATP is a myometrial stimulant, including in dysfunctionally labouring tissue samples. It could potentially help to stimulate contractions in dystocic labours. This is consistent with a prior study on a group of dystocic labouring women who had intravenous infusion with ATP combined with prostaglandin and were found to have a shorter first stage of labour with no side effects (Ziganshin et al., 2005). ATP γ S action suggests little role for ADP, AMP or adenosine in the effects of ATP. As they act via P1 purinergic receptors, it also indicates that P1 receptors are not involved in ATP action. Still, we cannot exclude the role of P2YR and other P2XR such as P2X4R or P2X7R. They are progressively upregulated in the myometrium, along with other important proteins during the late stage of pregnancy and labour (Urabe et al., 2009); (Alotaibi, 2018). However, further work is needed to investigate the role of other purinergic receptors in mediating the effects of ATP in human myometrium.

6.2 ATP and P2XR

To further confirm the implication of purinergic receptors in ATP action during pregnancy or labour, the myometrial expression of P2X1R and P2X7R proteins during non-pregnancy and term pregnancy (non-labouring and dysfunctionally labouring) was examined and compared to normally labouring women. To the best of my knowledge, this is the first known study investigating the expression of P2X1R and P2X7R in different gestational states of human myometrial tissue. Expression data clearly showed the presence of P2X7R and P2X1R in human myometrial tissue. Since the immunohistochemistry approach is mainly used to determine the location of protein expression, it may not be sensitive enough to find differences in receptor abundance among the pregnant and non-pregnant myometrial tissues. The findings from the western blot analysis will be used to explain in the current discussion.

The results of P2X7R expression from the current work are in agreement with other published studies (Alotaibi, 2018);(Urabe et al., 2009). The P2X7R expression increased from non-pregnant to term pregnant and significantly increased just in the normal labour group. This suggests that the expression of uterine P2X7Rs is functionally significant and might be contributing to the mechanisms of labour. In contrast, the low P2X7R expression could be involved in the dysfunctional labour group's pathological mechanisms. The mechanisms that prepare the myometrium for labour are unknown, although it is currently considered that uterine inflammation is involved in the normal physiological process of labour (Shynlova et al., 2013). P2X7R is important for interleukin (IL)-1 secretion, which plays a role in the cellular inflammatory process (Miyoshi et al., 2016). When ATP is released by injured myometrial cells associated with normal parturition, that will probably result in P2X7 receptor activation at the cell membrane of myometrial cells. An inflammatory process might take place, leading to the initiation of contractility that is essential during the onset of labour. The current finding, which shows that overexpression of P2X7 receptors is related to normal labour, supports our hypothesis. This is backed up by a study on a mouse model of intrauterine inflammation, which found that inhibiting the P2X7 receptor could be a clinically helpful technique for preventing premature birth (Tsimis et al., 2017).

The physiological cause of dysfunctional labour was suggested to be due to the low pH level and increased lactate in myometrial capillary blood (Quenby et al., 2004). The P2X7R has been identified to play a role in the cellular inflammatory response, proposed as a possible labour mechanism (Gomez-Lopez et al., 2014);(Miyoshi et al., 2016);(Urabe et al., 2009). Extracellular acidification associated with dysfunctional labour may change the expression of P2X7 receptors and limit their participation in the inflammatory response, altering the myometrial response to ATP and resulting in a slow progression of uterine contractility during labour. Interestingly, extracellular acidification has been found to decrease the protein expression of P2X7R in microglia cells and inhibit their activation via suppressing IL-1-dependent innate immune activation (Liu et al., 2009); (Virginio et al., 1997); (Takenouchi et al., 2014); (Brand et al., 2016); (Flittiger et al., 2010);(Sekar et al., 2018).

It is interesting to identify double bands of P2X7R in all non-labouring tissue. This indicates that glycosylation of this receptor might attenuate its activity and, eventually, prevent its participation in any immunological responses that might enhance the onset of labour. Moreover, the glycosylation of the C-terminal domain is found to reduce the surface expression of P2X7R (Wickert et al., 2013), which could lead to a decrease in the uterine sensitivity to ATP and reduce the myometrial contractility. Therefore, the presence of the double bands of P2X7R in the non-labouring group would help protect the pregnancy allowing sufficient time for the baby to grow before delivery. It is well known that P2X7R participate in the immune responses, and any modification, like glycosylation, would affect the receptor function and weaken its activity (Kopp et al., 2019); (Lenertz et al., 2010). The double bands of protein were detected in some but not all labouring tissues, either dysfunctional labour or normal labour. Low pH may contribute to receptor inhibition and modulation of P2X7R expression, reducing uterine sensitivity to ATP and myometrial contractility. We would have detected a significant decrease in the expression of the double protein bands in the normally labouring group if more samples had been available for study. A limitation of this study is that the sample size for normally labouring tissues is insufficient to determine this. Therefore, further sample collection and research are required to test this hypothesis.

The low density of P2X7R and the relatively small differences in expression in non-labour and dysfunctional labour myometrial tissues compared to the markedly high expression in the normal labour tissue suggests that they are unlikely to be involved in ATP response in these tissues. This could be clarified as previously indicated that ovarian hormones are raised during labour in normal labour, where the OTR and Cx43 expression is greatly elevated to enhance uterine sensitivity to oxytocin and facilitate cell-cell communication that is needed for effective and synchronized contractions. This is not the case with the term pregnant nonlabouring group, where the uterus is not in a labour state; thus, the contractile associated proteins (CAPs) are not elevated to the maximum level as they are anticipated to be during the onset of labour, which may affect the P2X7 receptor expression (Haynes et al., 2003). In mice microglia cells, it has been reported that oestrogen increases P2X7 mRNA expression (Crain and Watters, 2010); if this is the case during labour, that could explain the enhanced expression of P2X7R in the normal labour group. Regarding the dysfunctional labour group, the associated extracellular acidification environment might negatively impact the P2X7R and reduce their expression (Sekar et al., 2018). This is supported by the findings of the contractility study, which revealed no significant differences between the two groups in the stimulatory response to ATP γ S, which could be mediated by other P2XRs or P2YRs.

Literature suggests P2X1 may play a role in the response of human myometrial tissue to ATP (Ziganshin et al., 2006); (Ziganshin et al., 2005); (Ziganshin et al., 2003). At the beginning of this thesis, it was hypothesised that P2X7 or P2X1 receptor expression would increase as gestation progressed, peaking in labouring tissues and thus play an important role in labour. These western blot studies have demonstrated that P2X1R expression is unchanged from non-pregnant to term pregnant non-labouring and labouring tissues. Therefore, it is clear that P2X1R is not the receptor of interest in labour. P2X7R expression is increased in term pregnant tissue compared to non-pregnant and expression peaks massively in normally labouring samples. This data suggests that it is P2X7R that are important for labour.

6.3 ATP and Dysfunctional labour

The functional study on dysfunctional labour myometrial tissue found that ATP could be a useful additional stimulant to augment uterine contractility during parturition. This finding is consistent with a Russian clinical trial conducted on 16 women who experienced dysfunctional labour and received a combination of ATP and PGF_{2a} and 18 women in dysfunctional labour who received PGF_{2a} alone. They found that women who were administered ATP had a shorter first stage of labour with no side effects (Ziganshin et al., 2005). Oxytocin is recommended in clinical practice to help to increase uterine contractility during dysfunctional labour and reduce the number of caesarean sections; however, about 50% of women who are labouring poorly do not respond to oxytocin administration and ultimately require an emergency CS (Arrowsmith, Kendrick et al. 2010). Interestingly, the previous work on term pregnant rat myometrial tissue showed that the combined effect of ATP and Alotaibi, 2017). Further work to test the interaction of ATP with oxytocin in women with dysfunctional labour is needed, both in vitro and in vivo, as those women might benefit from this combination treatment.

Despite the limitation in the sample size of women who experienced dysfunctional or normal labour in this study, the Western blot was a useful technique to quantify protein expression accurately and provide an overview of total protein. The analysis found a significant upregulation of P2X7R in normal labouring compared to dysfunctionally labouring women. However, the technique cannot identify any variations in functional expression. Further investigation of surface expression by higher resolution immunofluorescence assay during dysfunctional and normal labour is required to determine its effect on myometrial contraction. The increased P2X7R expression in the normal labouring group from the western blot study indicates their critical role in the inflammatory process that occurs during labour, leading to an increase in the myometrial contractility response to ATP and helping in the augmentation of contraction during the onset of parturition. On the other hand, the low density of P2X7R due to the significant elevation of the extracellular acidification in the dysfunctional labour group could play a role in the underlying pathological mechanism of dysfunctional labour, leading to slow contraction during labour progress. It is anticipated that reducing acidity in the myometrium would help to upregulate the P2X7R expression and mediate the inflammatory reaction necessary to initiate the uterine contractions, hence improving labour outcomes in women who were labouring dysfunctionally. This could be achevied by using bicarbonate ingestion to neutralize the acidity associated with labour dystocia (Wiberg-Itzel et al., 2018). However, no normally labouring tissues were available for the contractility study to compare the actual contractile response to ATP mediated by the high density of P2X7R found in this group with that in dysfunctionally labouring women.

6.4 Future work

The findings from the current study point to the potential development of new treatments in clinical obstetrics to increase uterine contractility during dysfunctional labour, indicating the need for more research in this area. Examining the effect of ATP on myometrial contractions in biopsies from normal labouring women would be beneficial to compare with other gestational states and confirm the important role of P2X7R.

It would be interesting to compare ATP γ S to oxytocin, the current stimulant used to help women with dysfunctional labours. Can ATP γ S stimulate myometrium in circumstances where oxytocin fails to do so, for example? Is there a synergistic effect between their actions? If this is the case, lower doses of both drugs could be used, resulting in fewer adverse effects and desensitisation. More work could be done to determine the expression of other myometrial P2XR subunits such as P2X4 or P2YRs in humans at a different gestational state or use the available selective antagonists at these receptors in functional assays to demonstrate if they have a role. The P2X4R, which is found to be co-expressed with P2X7R in the rat myometrium and different P2Y subunit receptors, is suggested to mediate the uterine contractile activity in response to ATP and its agonists in the human myometrium.

References

- ADACHI, S. and OKU, M. (1995) 'The regulation of oxytocin receptor expression in human myometrial monolayer culture', *Journal of Smooth Muscle Research*, 31(4), pp. 175-187.
- Aguilar, H. N. and Mitchell, B. (2010) 'Physiological pathways and molecular mechanisms regulating uterine contractility', *Human reproduction update*, 16(6), pp. 725-744.
- Aitken, H., Poyser, N. and Hollingsworth, M. (2001) 'The effects of P2Y receptor agonists and adenosine on prostaglandin production by the guinea-pig uterus', *British journal of pharmacology*, 132(3), pp. 709-721.
- Algovik, M., Kivinen, K., Peterson, H., Westgren, M. and Kere, J. (2010) 'Genetic evidence of multiple loci in dystocia-difficult labour', *BMC medical genetics*, 11(1), pp. 1-7.
- Allsopp, R. C., El Ajouz, S., Schmid, R. and Evans, R. J. (2011) 'Cysteine Scanning Mutagenesis (Residues Glu52–Gly96) of the Human P2X1 Receptor for ATP MAPPING AGONIST BINDING AND CHANNEL GATING', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(33), pp. 29207-29217.
- Alnafakh, R., Saretzki, G., Midgley, A., Flynn, J., Kamal, A. M., Dobson, L., Natarajan, P., Stringfellow, H., Martin-Hirsch, P. and DeCruze, S. B. (2021) 'Aberrant Dyskerin Expression Is Related to Proliferation and Poor Survival in Endometrial Cancer', *Cancers*, 13(2), pp. 273.
- Alotaibi, M. (2018) 'Changes in expression of P2X7 receptors in rat myometrium at different gestational stages and the mechanism of ATP-induced uterine contraction', *Life sciences*, 199, pp. 151-157.
- Alotaibi, M., Arrowsmith, S. and Wray, S. (2015) 'Hypoxia-induced force increase (HIFI) is a novel mechanism underlying the strengthening of labor contractions, produced by hypoxic stresses', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(31), pp. 9763-9768.
- Apolloni, S., Amadio, S., Montilli, C., Volonte, C. and D'ambrosi, N. J. H. M. G. (2013) 'Ablation of P2X7 receptor exacerbates gliosis and motoneuron death in the SOD1-G93A mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis', 22(20), pp. 4102-4116.
- Arrowsmith, S., Kendrick, A. and Wray, S. (2010) 'Drugs acting on the pregnant uterus', *Obstetrics, Gynaecology and Reproductive Medicine*, 20(8), pp. 241-247.
- Arrowsmith, S., Neilson, J., Bricker, L. and Wray, S. (2016) 'Differing in vitro potencies of tocolytics and progesterone in myometrium from singleton and twin pregnancies', *Reproductive Sciences*, 23(1), pp. 98-111.
- Arrowsmith, S. and Wray, S. (2014) 'Oxytocin: its mechanism of action and receptor signalling in the myometrium', *Journal of neuroendocrinology*, 26(6), pp. 356-369.
- Ashwal, E., Livne, M. Y., Benichou, J. I., Unger, R., Hiersch, L., Aviram, A., Mani, A. and Yogev, Y.
 (2020) 'Contemporary patterns of labor in nulliparous and multiparous women', *American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology*, 222(3), pp. 267. e1-267. e9.
- Bardini, M., Lee, H. Y. and Burnstock, G. (2000) 'Distribution of P2X receptor subtypes in the rat female reproductive tract at late pro-oestrus/early oestrus', *Cell and tissue research*, 299(1), pp. 105-113.
- Benkusky, N. A., Korovkina, V. P., Brainard, A. M. and England, S. K. (2002) 'Myometrial maxi-K channel β1 subunit modulation during pregnancy and after 17β-estradiol stimulation', *FEBS letters*, 524(1-3), pp. 97-102.
- Bhargava, Y., Rettinger, J. and Mourot, A. (2012) 'Allosteric nature of P2X receptor activation probed by photoaffinity labelling', *British journal of pharmacology*, 167(6), pp. 1301-1310.
- Bianchi, B. R., Lynch, K. J., Touma, E., Niforatos, W., Burgard, E. C., Alexander, K. M., Park, H. S., Yu, H., Metzger, R. and Kowaluk, E. (1999) 'Pharmacological characterization of recombinant human and rat P2X receptor subtypes', *European journal of pharmacology*, 376(1-2), pp. 127-138.
- Blanks, A. M. and Thornton, S. (2003) 'The role of oxytocin in parturition', *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 110, pp. 46-51.

- Bonora, M., Patergnani, S., Rimessi, A., De Marchi, E., Suski, J. M., Bononi, A., Giorgi, C., Marchi, S., Missiroli, S. and Poletti, F. (2012) 'ATP synthesis and storage', *Purinergic signalling*, 8(3), pp. 343-357.
- Bradley, E., Kadima, S., Kyle, B., Hollywood, M. A., Thornbury, K. D., McHale, N. G. and Sergeant, G. P. (2011) 'P2X receptor currents in smooth muscle cells contribute to nerve mediated contractions of rabbit urethral smooth muscle', *The Journal of urology*, 186(2), pp. 745-752.
- Brand, F. J., Forouzandeh, M., Kaur, H., Travascio, F. and de Rivero Vaccari, J. P. (2016) 'Acidification changes affect the inflammasome in human nucleus pulposus cells', *Journal of Inflammation*, 13(1), pp. 1-11.
- Breuiller-Fouche, M. and Germain, G. (2006) 'Gene and protein expression in the myometrium in pregnancy and labor', *Reproduction*, 131(5), pp. 837-850.
- Brodt-Eppley, J. and Myatt, L. (1998) 'Changes in expression of contractile FP and relaxatory EP2 receptors in pregnant rat myometrium during late gestation, at labor, and postpartum', *Biology of reproduction*, 59(4), pp. 878-883.
- Brown, N., Alvi, S., Elder, M., Bennett, P. and Sullivan, M. (1998) 'A spontaneous induction of fetal membrane prostaglandin production precedes clinical labour', *Journal of endocrinology*, 157(2), pp. R1-R6.
- Burdyga, T., Wray, S. and Noble, K. (2007) 'In situ calcium signaling: no calcium sparks detected in rat myometrium', *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1101(1), pp. 85-96.
- Burke, P., Schooler, K. and Wiley, H. S. (2001) 'Regulation of epidermal growth factor receptor signaling by endocytosis and intracellular trafficking', *Molecular biology of the cell*, 12(6), pp. 1897-1910.
- Burnstock, G. (1972) 'Purinergic nerves', Pharmacological Review, 24, pp. 509-581.
- Burnstock, G. (2004) 'Introduction: P2 receptors', *Current topics in medicinal chemistry*, 4(8), pp. 793-803.
- Burnstock, G. (2006) 'Purinergic signalling', British journal of pharmacology, 147(S1), pp. S172-S181.
- Burnstock, G. (2007) 'Purine and pyrimidine receptors', *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 64(12), pp. 1471-1483.
- Burnstock, G. (2018) 'Purine and purinergic receptors', *Brain and neuroscience advances*, 2, pp. 2398212818817494.
- Burnstock, G., Cocks, T., Kasakov, L. and Wong, H. K. (1978) 'Direct evidence for ATP release from non-adrenergic, non-cholinergic ("purinergic") nerves in the guinea-pig taenia coli and bladder', *European journal of pharmacology*, 49(2), pp. 145-149.
- Burnstock, G., Fredholm, B., North, R. and Verkhratsky, A. (2010) 'The birth and postnatal development of purinergic signalling', *Acta Physiologica*, 199(2), pp. 93-147.
- Burnstock, G. and Kennedy, C. (1985) 'Is there a basis for distinguishing two types of P2purinoceptor?', *General Pharmacology: The Vascular System*, 16(5), pp. 433-440.
- Burton, G., Woods, A., Jauniaux, E. and Kingdom, J. (2009) 'Rheological and physiological consequences of conversion of the maternal spiral arteries for uteroplacental blood flow during human pregnancy', *Placenta*, 30(6), pp. 473-482.
- Cario-Toumaniantz, C., Loirand, G., Ladoux, A. and Pacaud, P. (1998) 'P2X7 receptor activation– induced contraction and lysis in human saphenous vein smooth muscle', *Circulation Research*, 83(2), pp. 196-203.
- Chwalisz, K. and Garfield, R. (1994) 'Role of progesterone during pregnancy: models of parturition and preeclampsia', *Zeitschrift fur Geburtshilfe und Perinatologie*, 198(5-6), pp. 170-180.
- Coddou, C., Yan, Z., Obsil, T., Huidobro-Toro, J. P. and Stojilkovic, S. S. (2011) 'Activation and regulation of purinergic P2X receptor channels', *Pharmacological reviews*, 63(3), pp. 641-683.
- Collins, P. L., Moore, J. J., Lundgren, D. W., Choobineh, E., Chang, S. M. and Chang, A. S. (2000) 'Gestational changes in uterine L-type calcium channel function and expression in guinea pig', *Biology of reproduction*, 63(5), pp. 1262-1270.

- Crain, J. M. and Watters, J. (2010) 'Estrogen and P2 purinergic receptor systems in microglia: therapeutic targets for neuroprotection', *The open drug discovery journal*, 2, pp. 148.
- Curley, M., Cairns, M., Friel, A., McMeel, O., Morrison, J. and Smith, T. (2002) 'Expression of mRNA transcripts for ATP-sensitive potassium channels in human myometrium', *Molecular human reproduction*, 8(10), pp. 941-945.
- Davis, R. H. (1967) 'Cellular Biology of the Uterus', JAMA, 201(4), pp. 277-278.
- Dawood, F., Dowswell, T. and Quenby, S. (2013) 'Intravenous fluids for reducing the duration of labour in low risk nulliparous women', *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (6).
- Dawson, M. J. and Wray, S. (1985) 'The effects of pregnancy and parturition on phosphorus metabolites in rat uterus studied by 31P nuclear magnetic resonance', *The Journal of physiology*, 368(1), pp. 19-31.
- Dayel, A. B., Evans, R. J. and Schmid, R. (2019) 'Mapping the site of action of human P2X7 receptor antagonists AZ11645373, Brilliant Blue G, KN-62, Calmidazolium, and ZINC58368839 to the intersubunit allosteric pocket', *Molecular Pharmacology*, 96(3), pp. 355-363.
- Di, W.-L., Lachelin, G. C., McGarrigle, H., Thomas, N. and Becker, D. (2001) 'Oestriol and oestradiol increase cell to cell communication and connexin43 protein expression in human myometrium', *Molecular human reproduction*, 7(7), pp. 671-679.
- Donnelly-Roberts, D. and Jarvis, M. (2007) 'Discovery of P2X7 receptor-selective antagonists offers new insights into P2X7 receptor function and indicates a role in chronic pain states', *British journal of pharmacology*, 151(5), pp. 571-579.
- Donnelly-Roberts, D. L., Namovic, M. T., Han, P. and Jarvis, M. F. (2009) 'Mammalian P2X7 receptor pharmacology: comparison of recombinant mouse, rat and human P2X7 receptors', *British journal of pharmacology*, 157(7), pp. 1203-1214.
- Douglas, A., Clarke, E. and Goldspink, D. (1988) 'Influence of mechanical stretch on growth and protein turnover of rat uterus', *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 254(5), pp. E543-E548.
- Dubyak, G. R. and el-Moatassim, C. (1993) 'Signal transduction via P2-purinergic receptors for extracellular ATP and other nucleotides', *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 265(3), pp. C577-C606.
- Elmer, M., Alm, P. and Thorbert, G. (1980) 'Electrical field stimulation of myometrial strips from non-pregnant and pregnant guinea-pigs', *Acta physiologica Scandinavica*, 108(3), pp. 209-213.
- Erb, L., Cao, C., Ajit, D. and Weisman, G. A. (2015) 'P2Y receptors in Alzheimer's disease', *Biology of the Cell*, 107(1), pp. 1-21.
- Fang, X., Wong, S. and Mitchell, B. (1997) 'Effects of RU486 on estrogen, progesterone, oxytocin, and their receptors in the rat uterus during late gestation', *Endocrinology*, 138(7), pp. 2763-2768.
- FANG, X., WONG, S. and MITCHELL, B. F. (2000) 'Effects of LPS and IL-6 on oxytocin receptor in non-pregnant and pregnant rat uterus', *American Journal of Reproductive Immunology*, 44(2), pp. 65-72.
- Feng, Y.-H., Li, X., Wang, L., Zhou, L. and Gorodeski, G. (2006) 'A truncated P2X7 receptor variant (P2X7-j) endogenously expressed in cervical cancer cells antagonizes the full-length P2X7 receptor through hetero-oligomerization', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(25), pp. 17228-17237.
- Feng, Y.-H., Wang, L., Wang, Q., Li, X., Zeng, R. and Gorodeski, G. (2005) 'ATP stimulates GRK-3 phosphorylation and β-arrestin-2-dependent internalization of P2X7 receptor', *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 288(6), pp. C1342-C1356.
- Flittiger, B., Klapperstueck, M., Schmalzing, G. and Markwardt, F. (2010) 'Effects of protons on macroscopic and single-channel currents mediated by the human P2X7 receptor', *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta -Biomembranes*, 1798(5), pp. 947-957.

- Fredholm, B. B., IJzerman, A. P., Jacobson, K. A., Klotz, K.-N. and Linden, J. (2001) 'International Union of Pharmacology. XXV. Nomenclature and classification of adenosine receptors', *Pharmacological reviews*, 53(4), pp. 527-552.
- Gacasan, S. B., Baker, D. L. and Parrill, A. L. (2017) 'G protein-coupled receptors: the evolution of structural insight', *AIMS biophysics*, 4(3), pp. 491.
- Garfield, R. and Hayashi, R. (1981) 'Appearance of gap junctions in the myometrium of women during labor', *American journal of obstetricsand gynecology*, 140(3), pp. 254-260.
- Giniatullin, R. and Nistri, A. (2013) 'Desensitization properties of P2X3 receptors shaping pain signaling', *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience*, 7, pp. 245.
- Gomez-Lopez, N., StLouis, D., Lehr, M. A., Sanchez-Rodriguez, E. N. and Arenas-Hernandez, M. (2014) 'Immune cells in term and preterm labor', *Cellular and molecular immunology*, 11(6), pp. 571-581.
- Gong, D., Zhang, J., Chen, Y., Xu, Y., Ma, J., Hu, G., Huang, Y., Zheng, J., Zhai, W. and Xue, W. (2019)
 'The m6A-suppressed P2RX6 activation promotes renal cancer cells migration and invasion through ATP-induced Ca2+ influx modulating ERK1/2 phosphorylation and MMP9 signaling pathway', *Journal of Experimental and Clinical Cancer Research*, 38(1), pp. 1-16.
- Gossman, W., Fagan, S. E., Sosa-Stanley, J. N. and Peterson, D. C. (2019) 'Anatomy, abdomen and pelvis, uterus', *StatPearls [Internet]*: StatPearls Publishing.
- Gourine, A. V., Llaudet, E., Dale, N. and Spyer, K. M. (2005) 'Release of ATP in the ventral medulla during hypoxia in rats: role in hypoxic ventilatory response', *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(5), pp. 1211-1218.
- Gum, R. J., Wakefield, B. and Jarvis, M. F. (2012) 'P2X receptor antagonists for pain management: examination of binding and physicochemical properties', *Purinergic signalling*, 8(1), pp. 41-56.
- Güngördük, K., Olgaç, Y., Gülseren, V. and Kocaer, M. (2018) 'Active management of the third stage of labor: A brief overview of key issues', *Turkish journal of obstetrics & gynecology*, 15(3), pp. 188.
- Habiba, M., Heyn, R., Bianchi, P., Brosens, I. and Benagiano, G. (2021) 'The development of the human uterus: morphogenesis to menarche', *Human reproduction update*, 27(1), pp. 1-26.
- Hanley, J. A., Weeks, A. and Wray, S. (2015) 'Physiological increases in lactate inhibit intracellular calcium transients, acidify myocytes and decrease force in term pregnant rat myometrium', *The Journal of physiology*, 593(20), pp. 4603-4614.
- Haynes, J. M., Pennefather, J. N. and Sikorski, B. (2003) 'Purinoceptor-mediated contractility of the perfused uterine vasculature of the guinea-pig: influence of oestradiol and pregnancy', *Clinical and experimental pharmacology and physiology*, 30(5-6), pp. 329-335.
- Hertelendy, F. and Zakár, T. (2004) 'Prostaglandins and the myometrium and cervix', *Prostaglandins, leukotrienes and essential fatty acids,* 70(2), pp. 207-222.
- Honore, P., Donnelly-Roberts, D., Namovic, M. T., Hsieh, G., Zhu, C. Z., Mikusa, J. P., Hernandez, G., Zhong, C., Gauvin, D. M. and Chandran, P. (2006) 'A-740003 [N-(1-{[(cyanoimino)(5-quinolinylamino) methyl] amino}-2, 2-dimethylpropyl)-2-(3, 4-dimethoxyphenyl) acetamide], a novel and selective P2X7 receptor antagonist, dose-dependently reduces neuropathic pain in the rat', *Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics*, 319(3), pp. 1376-1385.
- Hutchings, G., Gevaert, T., Deprest, J., Nilius, B., Williams, O. and De Ridder, D. (2009) 'The effect of extracellular adenosine triphosphate on the spontaneous contractility of human myometrial strips', *European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, 143(2), pp. 79-83.
- Ilicic, M., Zakar, T. and Paul, J. W. (2020) 'The regulation of uterine function during parturition: an update and recent advances', *Reproductive Sciences*, 27(1), pp. 3-28.
- Irani, R. A. and Foster, S. '(2015) 'Overview of the mechanisms of induction of labor'. *Seminars in perinatology*: Elsevier, 39, pp. 426-429.

- Jacobson, K. A. and Müller, C. E. (2016) 'Medicinal chemistry of adenosine, P2Y and P2X receptors', *Neuropharmacology*, 104, pp. 31-49.
- Jacobson, K. A., Paoletta, S., Katritch, V., Wu, B., Gao, Z.-G., Zhao, Q., Stevens, R. C. and Kiselev, E. (2015) 'Nucleotides acting at P2Y receptors: connecting structure and function', *Molecular Pharmacology*, 88(2), pp. 220-230.
- Jaffer, S., Shynlova, O. and Lye, S. (2009) 'Mammalian target of rapamycin is activated in association with myometrial proliferation during pregnancy', *Endocrinology*, 150(10), pp. 4672-4680.
- Jain, P., Patil, S., Chaudhari, H., Pawar, A. R. and Patil, A. B. (2020) 'Physiological and Anatomical changes during Pregnancy', *ENDOCRINE*, 7(8), pp. 13-31.
- Jarvis, M. F. and Khakh, B. S. (2009) 'ATP-gated P2X cation-channels', *Neuropharmacology*, 56(1), pp. 208-215.
- Jones, C. A., Vial, C., Sellers, L. A., Humphrey, P. P., Evans, R. J. and Chessell, I. P. (2004) 'Functional regulation of P2X6 receptors by N-linked glycosylation: identification of a novel αβ-methylene ATP-sensitive phenotype', *Molecular pharmacology*, 65(4), pp. 979-985.
- Juhasova, J., Kreft, M., Zimmermann, R. and Kimmich, N. (2018) 'Impact factors on cervical dilation rates in the first stage of labor', *Journal of perinatal medicine*, 46(1), pp. 59-66.
- Jurek, B. and Neumann, I. D. (2018) 'The oxytocin receptor: from intracellular signaling to behavior', *Physiological reviews*, 98(3), pp. 1805-1908.
- Kaczmarek-Hájek, K., Lörinczi, É., Hausmann, R. and Nicke, A. (2012) 'Molecular and functional properties of P2X receptors—recent progress and persisting challenges', *purinergic Signalling* 8(3), pp. 375-417.
- Kaniewska, M., Gołofit, P., Heubner, M., Maake, C. and Kubik-Huch, R. A. (2018) 'Suspensory Ligaments of the Female Genital Organs: MRI Evaluation with Intraoperative Correlation', *Radiographics* 38(7), pp. 2195-2211.
- Kao, C. and Carsten, M. E. (1997) *Cellular aspects of smooth muscle function*. Cambridge University Press.
- Kawarabayashi, T., Kishikawa, T. and Sugimori, H. (1989) 'Effects of external calcium, magnesium, and temperature on spontaneous contractions of pregnant human myometrium', *Biology of Reproduction*, 40(5), pp. 942-948.
- Kennedy, C., Tasker, P. N., Gallacher, G. and Westfall, T. D. (2007) 'Identification of atropine-and P2X1 receptor antagonist-resistant, neurogenic contractions of the urinary bladder', *Journal* of Neuroscience, 27(4), pp. 845-851.
- Khadra, A., Tomić, M., Yan, Z., Zemkova, H., Sherman, A. and Stojilkovic, S. S. (2013) 'Dual gating mechanism and function of P2X7 receptor channels', *Biophysical journal*, 104(12), pp. 2612-2621.
- Khanam, T. and Burnstock, G. (2007) 'Changes in expression of P2X1 receptors and connexin 43 in the rat myometrium during pregnancy', *Fertility and sterility*, 88(4), pp. 1174-1179.
- Kimura, T., Tanizawa, O., Mori, K., Brownstein, M. J. and Okayama, H. (1992) 'Structure and expression of a human oxytocin receptor', *Nature*, 356(6369), pp. 526-529.
- King, B. (2007) 'Novel P2X7 receptor antagonists ease the pain', *British journal of pharmacology*, 151(5), pp. 565-567.
- Kopp, R., Krautloher, A., Ramírez-Fernández, A. and Nicke, A. (2019) 'P2X7 interactions and signaling–making head or tail of it', *Frontiers in molecular neuroscience*, 12, pp. 183.
- Kota, S. K., Gayatri, K., Jammula, S., Kota, S. K., Krishna, S. V., Meher, L. K. and Modi, K. D. (2013) 'Endocrinology of parturition', *Indian journal of endocrinology and metabolism*, 17(1), pp. 50.
- Kotnis, S., Bingham, B., Vasilyev, D. V., Miller, S. W., Bai, Y., Yeola, S., Chanda, P. K., Bowlby, M. R., Kaftan, E. J. and Samad, T. A. (2010) 'Genetic and functional analysis of human P2X5 reveals a distinct pattern of exon 10 polymorphism with predominant expression of the nonfunctional receptor isoform', *Molecular pharmacology*, 77(6), pp. 953-960.
- Krishna, U. and Bhalerao, S. (2011) 'Placental insufficiency and fetal growth restriction', *The Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology of India*, 61(5), pp. 505-511.

- Lambrecht, G. (2000) 'Agonists and antagonists acting at P2X receptors: selectivity profiles and functional implications', *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's archives of pharmacology*, 362(4-5), pp. 340-350.
- Lenertz, L. Y., Wang, Z., Guadarrama, A., Hill, L. M., Gavala, M. L. and Bertics, P. (2010) 'Mutation of putative N-linked glycosylation sites on the human nucleotide receptor P2X7 reveals a key residue important for receptor function', *Biochemistry*, 49(22), pp. 4611-4619.
- Liu, X., Ma, W., Surprenant, A. and Jiang, L. H. (2009) 'Identification of the amino acid residues in the extracellular domain of rat P2X7 receptor involved in functional inhibition by acidic pH', *British journal of pharmacology*, 156(1), pp. 135-142.
- Lohman, A. W., Billaud, M. and Isakson, B. E. (2012) 'Mechanisms of ATP release and signalling in the blood vessel wall', *Cardiovascular research*, 95(3), pp. 269-280.
- Mahaut Smith, M. P., Evans, R. J. and Vial, C. (2019) 'Development of a P2X1-eYFP receptor knock-in mouse to track receptors in real time', *Purinergic signalling*, 15(3), pp. 397-402.
- Matharoo-Ball, B., Ashford, M., Arulkumaran, S. and Khan, R. N. (2003) 'Down-regulation of the α and β -subunits of the calcium-activated potassium channel in human myometrium with parturition', *Biology of reproduction*, 68(6), pp. 2135-2141.
- McEvoy, A. and Sabir, S. (2021) 'Physiology, Pregnancy Contractions', *StatPearls [Internet]*: StatPearls Publishing.
- Mesiano, S. and Welsh, T. N. '(2007) 'Steroid hormone control of myometrial contractility and parturition'. *Seminars in cell & developmental biology*: Elsevier, 18(3), PP. 321-331.
- Mitchell, B. F. and Taggart, M. J. (2009) 'Are animal models relevant to key aspects of human parturition?', *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 297(3), pp. R525-R545.
- Mittal, P., Romero, R., Tarca, A. L., Draghici, S., Nhan-Chang, C.-L., Chaiworapongsa, T., Hotra, J., Gomez, R., Kusanovic, J. P. and Lee, D.-C. (2011) 'A molecular signature of an arrest of descent in human parturition', *American journal of obstetrics & gynecology*, 204(2), pp. 177. e15-177. e33.
- Miyoshi, H., Konishi, H., Teraoka, Y., Urabe, S., Furusho, H., Miyauchi, M., Takata, T. and Kudo, Y.
 (2016) 'Enhanced expression of contractile-associated proteins and ion channels in preterm delivery model mice with chronic odontogenic Porphyromonas gingivalis infection', *Reproductive Sciences*, 23(7), pp. 838-846.
- Miyoshi, H., Yamaoka, K., Garfield, R. E. and Ohama, K. (2004) 'Identification of a non-selective cation channel current in myometrial cells isolated from pregnant rats', *Pflügers Archiv*, 447(4), pp. 457-464.
- Miyoshi, H., Yamaoka, K., Urabe, S., Kodama, M. and Kudo, Y. (2010) 'Functional expression of purinergic P2X7 receptors in pregnant rat myometrium', *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology,* 298(4), pp. R1117-R1124.
- Miyoshi, H., Yamaoka, K., Urabe, S. and Kudo, Y. (2012) 'ATP-induced currents carried through P2X7 receptor in rat myometrial cells', *Reproductive Sciences*, 19(12), pp. 1285-1291.
- Molnár, M., Rigó Jr, J., Romero, R. and Hertelendy, F. (1999) 'Oxytocin activates mitogen-activated protein kinase and up-regulates cyclooxygenase-2 and prostaglandin production in human myometrial cells', *American journal of obstetrics & gynecology*, 181(1), pp. 42-49.
- Monga, M., Campbell, D. F. and Sanborn, B. M. (1999) 'Oxytocin-stimulated capacitative calcium entry in human myometrial cells', *American journal of obstetrics & gynecology*, 181(2), pp. 424-429.
- Moritoki, H., Takei, M., Kasai, T., Matsumura, Y. and Ishida, Y. (1979) 'Possible involvement of prostaglandins in the action of ATP on guinea-pig uterus', *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 211(1), pp. 104-111.
- Morizaki, N., Morizaki, J., Hayashi, R. and Garfield, R. (1989) 'A functional and structural study of the innervation of the human uterus', *American journal of obstetrics & gynecology*, 160(1), pp. 218-228.
- Murata, T., Narita, K., Honda, K., Matsukawa, S. and Higuchi, T. (2003) 'Differential regulation of estrogen receptor α and β mRNAs in the rat uterus during pregnancy and labor: possible involvement of estrogen receptors in oxytocin receptor regulation', *Endocrine journal*, 50(5), pp. 579-587.
- Nagaoka, M., Nara, M., Tamada, T., Kume, H., Oguma, T., Kikuchi, T., Zaini, J., Moriya, T., Ichinose, M. and Tamura, G. (2009) 'Regulation of adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP)-gated P2X4 receptors on tracheal smooth muscle cells', *Respiratory physiology and neurobiology*, 166(1), pp. 61-67.
- Nelson, D. W., Gregg, R. J., Kort, M. E., Perez-Medrano, A., Voight, E. A., Wang, Y., Grayson, G., Namovic, M. T., Donnelly-Roberts, D. L. and Niforatos, W. (2006) 'Structure- activity relationship studies on a series of novel, substituted 1-benzyl-5-phenyltetrazole P2X7 antagonists', *Journal of medicinal chemistry*, 49(12), pp. 3659-3666.
- Nichols, C. M., Povstyan, O. V., Albert, A. P., Gordienko, D. V., Khan, O., Vasilikostas, G., Khong, T. K., Wan, A., Reddy, M. and Harhun, M. I. (2014) 'Vascular smooth muscle cells from small human omental arteries express P2X1 and P2X4 receptor subunits', *Purinergic signalling*, 10(4), pp. 565-572.
- North, R. A. (2002) 'Molecular physiology of P2X receptors', *Physiological reviews*, 82(4), pp. 1013-1067.
- North, R. A. (2016) 'P2X receptors', *Philossophical Transactions of the Royal Society B Biological Science*, 371(1700), pp. 20150427.
- Nystedt, A. and Hildingsson, I. (2014) 'Diverse definitions of prolonged labour and its consequences with sometimes subsequent inappropriate treatment', *BMC pregnancy & childbirth*, 14(1), pp. 1-11.
- Organization, W. H. (2011) WHO recommendations for induction of labour. World Health Organization.
- Papka, R. E., Hafemeister, J. and Storey-Workley, M. (2005) 'P2X receptors in the rat uterine cervix, lumbosacral dorsal root ganglia, and spinal cord during pregnancy', *Cell and tissue research*, 321(1), pp. 35-44.
- Parkington, H. C., Tonta, M. A., Brennecke, S. P. and Coleman, H. A. (1999) 'Contractile activity, membrane potential, and cytoplasmic calcium in human uterine smooth muscle in the third trimester of pregnancy and during labor', *American journal of obstetrics & gynecology*, 181(6), pp. 1445-1451.
- Patel, F. and Challis, J. R. (2001) 'Prostaglandins and uterine activity', *The Endocrinology of Parturition*: 27, pp. 31-56.
- Peebles, D., Spencer, J., Edwards, A., Wyatt, J., Reynolds, E., Cope, M. and Delpy, D. (1994) 'Relation between frequency of uterine contractions and human fetal cerebral oxygen saturation studied during labour by near infrared spectroscopy', *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 101(1), pp. 44-48.
- Pehlivanoğlu, B., Bayrak, S. and Doğan, M. (2013) 'A close look at the contraction and relaxation of the myometrium; the role of calcium', *Journal of the Turkish German Gynecological Association*, 14(4), pp. 230-234.
- Pierce, S. J., Kupittayanant, S., Shmygol, T. and Wray, S. (2003) 'The effects of pH change on Ca++ signaling and force in pregnant human myometrium', *American journal of obstetrics & gynecology*, 188(4), pp. 1031-1038.
- Piper, A. S. and Hollingsworth, M. (1996) 'P2-purinoceptors mediating spasm of the isolated uterus of the non-pregnant guinea-pig', *British journal of pharmacology*, 117(8), pp. 1721-1729.
- Pitkin, R. M. (2003) 'Primigravid labor: a graphicostatistical analysis', *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, 101(2), pp. 216.
- Popat, A. and Crankshaw, D. (2001) 'Variable responses to prostaglandin E2 in human non-pregnant myometrium', *European journal of pharmacology*, 416(1-2), pp. 145-152.

- Quenby, S., Pierce, S. J., Brigham, S. and Wray, S. (2004) 'Dysfunctional labor and myometrial lactic acidosis', *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, 103(4), pp. 718-723.
- Raghuraman, N., Hardy, C., Frolova, A., Kelly, J. C., England, S. K., Cahill, A. G. and Carter, E. B. (2021)
 'Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on labor and delivery research operations', *American journal of obstetrics & gynecology MFM*, 3(6).
- Renthal, N. E., Koriand'r, C. W., Montalbano, A. P., Chen, C.-C., Gao, L. and Mendelson, C. R. (2015)
 'Molecular regulation of parturition: a myometrial perspective', *Cold Spring Harbor* perspectives in medicine, 5(11), pp. a023069.
- Riemer, R. K. and Heymann, M. A. (1998) 'Regulation of uterine smooth muscle function during gestation', *Pediatric research*, 44(5), pp. 615-627.
- Sanders, K. M., Ward, S. M. and Koh, S. D. (2014) 'Interstitial cells: regulators of smooth muscle function', *Physiological reviews*, 94, pp. 859-907.
- Sawada, K., Morishige, K.-i., Hashimoto, K., Tasaka, K., Kurachi, H., Murata, Y. and Kurachi, Y. (2005) 'Gestational change of K+ channel opener effect is correlated with the expression of uterine KATP channel subunits', *European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, 122(1), pp. 49-56.
- Schachter, J. B., Li, Q., Boyer, J. L., Nicholas, R. A. and Harden, T. K. (1996) 'Second messenger cascade specificity and pharmacological selectivity of the human P2Y1-purinoceptor', *British journal of pharmacology*, 118(1), pp. 167-173.
- Sekar, P., Huang, D.-Y., Chang, S.-F. and Lin, W.-W. (2018) 'Coordinate effects of P2X7 and extracellular acidification in microglial cells', *Oncotarget*, 9(16), pp. 12718–12731.
- Shankaran, H., Wiley, H. S. and Resat, H. (2007) 'Receptor downregulation and desensitization enhance the information processing ability of signalling receptors', *BMC systems biology*, 1(1), pp. 1-15.
- Sheldon, R. E., Mashayamombe, C., Shi, S.-Q., Garfield, R. E., Shmygol, A., Blanks, A. M. and van den Berg, H. A. (2014) 'Alterations in gap junction connexin43/connexin45 ratio mediate a transition from quiescence to excitation in a mathematical model of the myometrium', *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, 11(101), pp. 1742-5662.
- Sheth, S., Brito, R., Mukherjea, D., Rybak, L. P. and Ramkumar, V. (2014) 'Adenosine receptors: expression, function and regulation', *International journal of molecular sciences*, 15(2), pp. 2024-2052.
- Shmigol, A., Eisner, D. and Wray, S. (1998) 'Properties of voltage-activated [Ca2+] i transients in single smooth muscle cells isolated from pregnant rat uterus', *The Journal of physiology*, 511(3), pp. 803-811.
- Shynlova, O., Kwong, R. and Lye, S. J. (2010) 'Mechanical stretch regulates hypertrophic phenotype of the myometrium during pregnancy', *Reproduction*, 139(1), pp. 247–253.
- Shynlova, O., Lee, Y.-H., Srikhajon, K. and Lye, S. J. (2013) 'Physiologic uterine inflammation and labor onset: integration of endocrine and mechanical signals', *Reproductive Sciences*, 20(2), pp. 154-167.
- Slater, M., Barden, J. and Murphy, C. (2000) 'Distributional changes of purinergic receptor subtypes (P2X1–7) in uterine epithelial cells during early pregnancy', *The Histochemical journal*, 32(6), pp. 365-372.
- Slater, M., Murphy, C. and Barden, J. (2002) 'Purinergic receptor expression in the apical plasma membrane of rat uterine epithelial cells during implantation', *Cell calcium*, 31(5), pp. 201-207.
- Smart, M. L., Gu, B., Panchal, R. G., Wiley, J., Cromer, B., Williams, D. A. and Petrou, S. (2003) 'P2X7 receptor cell surface expression and cytolytic pore formation are regulated by a distal Cterminal region', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(10), pp. 8853-8860.
- Somlyo, A. P. and Somlyo, A. V. (1994a) 'Signal transduction and regulation in smooth muscle', *Nature*, 372(6503), pp. 231-236.

- Somlyo, A. P. and Somlyo, A. V. (1994b) 'Smooth muscle: excitation-contraction coupling, contractile regulation, and the cross-bridge cycle', *Alcoholism: clinical & experimental research*, 18(1), pp. 138-143.
- Somlyo, A. P., Wu, X., Walker, L. A. and Somlyo, A. V. (1999) 'Pharmacomechanical coupling: the role of calcium, G-proteins, kinases and phosphatases', *Reviews of Physiology Biochemistry and Pharmacology*,: 134, pp. 201-234.
- Sooranna, S., Engineer, N., Loudon, J., Terzidou, V., Bennett, P. and Johnson, M. (2005) 'The mitogenactivated protein kinase dependent expression of prostaglandin H synthase-2 and interleukin-8 messenger ribonucleic acid by myometrial cells: the differential effect of stretch and interleukin-1β', *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 90(6), pp. 3517-3527.
- Sooranna, S., Lee, Y., Kim, L., Mohan, A., Bennett, P. and Johnson, M. (2004) 'Mechanical stretch activates type 2 cyclooxygenase via activator protein-1 transcription factor in human myometrial cells', *Molecular human reproduction*, 10(2), pp. 109-113.
- Steer, P., Carter, M. and Beard, R. (1985) 'The effect of oxytocin infusion on uterine activity levels in slow labour', *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, 92(11), pp. 1120-1126.
- Surprenant, A. and North, R. A. (2009) 'Signaling at purinergic P2X receptors', *Annual review of physiology*, 71, pp. 333-359.
- Svennersten, K., Hallén-Grufman, K., de Verdier, P. J., Wiklund, N. P. and Poljakovic, M. (2015) 'Localization of P2X receptor subtypes 2, 3 and 7 in human urinary bladder', *BMC urology*, 15(1), pp. 1-9.
- Syed, N. i. H. and Kennedy, C. (2012) 'Pharmacology of P2X receptors', *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Membrane Transport and Signaling*, 1(1), pp. 16-30.
- Taggart, M., Menice, C., Morgan, K. and Wray, S. (1997) 'Effect of metabolic inhibition on intracellular Ca2+, phosphorylation of myosin regulatory light chain and force in rat smooth muscle', *The Journal of physiology*, 499(2), pp. 485-496.
- Taggart, M. and Wray, S. (1993) 'Simultaneous measurement of intracellular pH and contraction in uterine smooth muscle', *Pflügers Archiv*, 423(5-6), pp. 527-529.
- Taggart, M. J. and Wray, S. (1995) 'The effect of metabolic inhibition on rat uterine intracellular pH and its role in contractile failure', *Pflügers Archiv*, 430(1), pp. 125-131.
- Takenouchi, T., Tsukimoto, M., Hashimoto, M. and Kitani, H. (2014) 'Inflammasome activation by danger signals: extracellular ATP and pH', *Inflammasome*, 1(1).

Taruno, A. (2018) 'ATP release channels', International journal of molecular sciences, 19(3), pp. 808.

- Terzidou, V., Blanks, A. M., Kim, S. H., Thornton, S. and Bennett, P. R. (2011) 'Labor and inflammation increase the expression of oxytocin receptor in human amnion', *Biology of reproduction*, 84(3), pp. 546-552.
- Terzidou, V., Sooranna, S. R., Kim, L. U., Thornton, S., Bennett, P. R. and Johnson, M. R. (2005) 'Mechanical stretch up-regulates the human oxytocin receptor in primary human uterine myocytes', *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 90(1), pp. 237-246.
- Tezuka, N., Ali, M., Chwalisz, K. and Garfield, R. E. (1995) 'Changes in transcripts encoding calcium channel subunits of rat myometrium during pregnancy', *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 269(4), pp. C1008-C1017.
- To, W. L., Kumar, P. and Marshall, J. (2015) 'Hypoxia is an effective stimulus for vesicular release of ATP from human umbilical vein endothelial cells', *Placenta*, 36(7), pp. 759-766.
- Tsai, E.-M., Chiang, P.-H. and Lee, J.-N. (1996) 'Effects of adenyl purines in human uterine arteries and uterine myometrium', *The Kaohsiung journal of medical sciences*, 12(10), pp. 561-566.
- Tsimis, M. E., Lei, J., Rosenzweig, J. M., Arif, H., Shabi, Y., Alshehri, W., Talbot, C. C., Baig-Ward, K. M., Segars, J. and Graham, E. M. (2017) 'P2X7 receptor blockade prevents preterm birth and perinatal brain injury in a mouse model of intrauterine inflammation', *Biology of reproduction*, 97(2), pp. 230-239.

- Urabe, S., Miyoshi, H., Fujiwara, H., Yamaoka, K. and Kudo, Y. (2009) 'Enhanced expression of P2X4 and P2X7 purinergic receptors in the myometrium of pregnant rats in preterm delivery models', *Reproductive Sciences*, 16(12), pp. 1186-1192.
- Valdecantos, P., Briones, R., Moya, P., Germain, A. and Huidobro-Toro, J. (2003) 'Pharmacological identification of P2X1, P2X4 and P2X7 nucleotide receptors in the smooth muscles of human umbilical cord and chorionic blood vessels', *Placenta*, 24(1), pp. 17-26.
- Veiga, G., Milazzotto, M., Nichi, M., Lúcio, C., Silva, L., Angrimani, D. and Vannucchi, C. (2015) 'Gene expression of estrogen and oxytocin receptors in the uterus of pregnant and parturient bitches', *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, 48, pp. 339-343.
- Veronesi, M., Battocchio, M., Marinelli, L., FAUSTINI, M., Kindahl, H. and Cairoli, F. (2002) 'Correlations among body temperature, plasma progesterone, cortisol and prostaglandin F2α of the periparturient bitch', *Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series A*, 49(5), pp. 264-268.
- Vial, C. and Evans, R. (2001) 'Smooth muscle does not have a common P2x receptor phenotype: expression, ontogeny and function of P2x1 receptors in mouse ileum, bladder and reproductive systems', *Autonomic Neuroscience*, 92(1-2), pp. 56-64.
- Vigne, P., Hechler, B., Gachet, C., Breittmayer, J. P. and Frelin, C. (1999) 'Benzoyl ATP Is an Antagonist of Rat and Human P2Y1Receptors and of Platelet Aggregation', *Biochemical & biophysical research communications*, 256(1), pp. 94-97.
- Virginio, C., Church, D., North, R. A. and Surprenant, A. (1997) 'Effects of divalent cations, protons and calmidazolium at the rat P2X7 receptor', *Neuropharmacology*, 36(9), pp. 1285-1294.
- Webb, T. E., Simon, J., Krishek, B. J., Bateson, A. N., Smart, T. G., King, B. F., Burnstock, G. and Barnard, E. A. (1993) 'Cloning and functional expression of a brain G-protein-coupled ATP receptor', *FEBS letters*, 324(2), pp. 219-225.
- White, C. W., Choong, Y.-T., Short, J. L., Exintaris, B., Malone, D. T., Allen, A. M., Evans, R. J. and Ventura, S. J. P. o. t. N. A. o. S. (2013) 'Male contraception via simultaneous knockout of α1A-adrenoceptors and P2X1-purinoceptors in mice', 110(51), pp. 20825-20830.
- Wiberg-Itzel, E., Pembe, A. B., Järnbert-Pettersson, H., Norman, M., Wihlbäck, A.-C., Hoesli, I.,
 Todesco Bernasconi, M., Azria, E., Åkerud, H. and Darj, E. (2016) 'Lactate in amniotic fluid:
 Predictor of labor outcome in oxytocin-augmented primiparas' deliveries', *Plos one*, 11(10),
 pp. e0161546.
- Wiberg-Itzel, E., Wray, S. and Åkerud, H. (2018) 'A randomized controlled trial of a new treatment for labor dystocia', *The Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine*, 31(17), pp. 2237-2244.
- Wickert, L. E., Blanchette, J. B., Waldschmidt, N. V., Bertics, P. J., Denu, J. M., Denlinger, L. C. and Lenertz, L. Y. (2013) 'The C-terminus of human nucleotide receptor P2X7 is critical for receptor oligomerization and N-linked glycosylation', *PLoS One*, 8(5), pp. e63789.
- Wikland, M., Lindblom, B., Dahlström, A. and Haglid, K. G. (1984) 'Structural and functional evidence for the denervation of human myometrium during pregnancy', *Obstetrics & gynecology*, 64(4), pp. 503-509.
- Wirkner, K., Sperlagh, B. and Illes, P. (2007) 'P2X3 receptor involvement in pain states', *Molecular neurobiology*, 36(2), pp. 165-183.
- Wray, S. (1982) 'The role of mechanical and hormonal stimuli on uterine involution in the rat', *The Journal of physiology*, 328(1), pp. 1-9.
- Wray, S. (1993) 'Uterine contraction and physiological mechanisms of modulation', *American Journal* of Physiology-Cell Physiology, 264(1), pp. C1-C18.
- Wray, S. (2007) 'Insights into the uterus', Experimental physiology, 92(4), pp. 621-631.
- Wray, S., Alruwaili, M. and Prendergast, C. (2020) 'HYPOXIA AND REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH: Hypoxia and labour', *Reproduction*, 161(1), pp. F67-F80.
- Wray, S. and Arrowsmith, S. (2012) 'Uterine smooth muscle', *Muscle*: Elsevier, pp. 1207-1216.
- Wray, S. and Arrowsmith, S. (2021) 'Uterine excitability and ion channels and their changes with gestation and hormonal environment', *Annual Review of Physiology*, 83, pp. 331-357.

- Wray, S., Burdyga, T., Noble, D., Noble, K., Borysova, L. and Arrowsmith, S. (2015) 'Progress in understanding electro-mechanical signalling in the myometrium', *Acta Physiologica*, 213(2), pp. 417-431.
- Wray, S. and Prendergast, C. (2019) 'The Myometrium: From Excitation to Contractions and Labour', Smooth Muscle Spontaneous Activity, pp. 233-263.
- Yan, D., Zhu, Y., Walsh, T., Xie, D., Yuan, H., Sirmaci, A., Fujikawa, T., Wong, A. C. Y., Loh, T. L. and Du, L. (2013) 'Mutation of the ATP-gated P2X2 receptor leads to progressive hearing loss and increased susceptibility to noise', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(6), pp. 2228-2233.
- Young, R. C. (2000) 'Tissue-Level Signaling and Control of Uterine Contractility: The Action Potential—Calcium Wave Hypothesis', *The Journal of the Society for Gynecologic Investigation: JSGI*, 7(3), pp. 146-152.
- Young, R. C. (2007) 'Myocytes, myometrium, and uterine contractions', *Annals of the new york academy of sciences*, 1101(1), pp. 72-84.
- Young, R. C. (2018) 'The uterine pacemaker of labor', *Best Practice & Research Clinical Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, 52, pp. 68-87.
- Yu, J. and Bernal, A. L. (1998) 'The cytoskeleton of human myometrial cells', *Reproduction*, 112(1), pp. 185-198.
- Zafrah, H. A. and Alotaibi, M. F. (2017) 'The effect of extracellular ATP on rat uterine contraction from different gestational stages and its possible mechanisms of action', *Journal of basic clinical physiology & pharmacology*, 28(3), pp. 209-217.
- Zhang, J. and Duan, T. (2018) 'The physiologic pattern of normal labour progression', *BJOG: An* International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology, 125(8), pp. 955-955.
- Zhang, J., Troendle, J., Mikolajczyk, R., Sundaram, R., Beaver, J. and Fraser, W. (2010) 'The natural history of the normal first stage of labor', *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, 115(4), pp. 705-710.
- Zhang, X., Wang, J., Gao, J.-Z., Zhang, X.-N., Dou, K.-X., Shi, W.-D. and Xie, A.-M. (2021) 'P2X4 receptor participates in autophagy regulation in Parkinson's disease', *Neural Regeneration Research*, 16(12), pp. 2505–2511.
- Zhao, K., Kuperman, L., Geimonen, E. and Andersen, J. (1996) 'Progestin represses human connexin43 gene expression similarly in primary cultures of myometrial and uterine leiomyoma cells', *Biology of reproduction*, 54(3), pp. 607-615.
- Zheng, H., Park, K. S., Koh, S. D. and Sanders, K. M. (2014) 'Expression and function of a T-type Ca2+ conductance in interstitial cells of Cajal of the murine small intestine', *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 306(7), pp. C705-C713.
- Ziganshin, A. U., Zaitcev, A. P., Khasanov, A. A., Shamsutdinov, A. F. and Burnstock, G. (2006) 'Termdependency of P2 receptor-mediated contractile responses of isolated human pregnant uterus', *European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, 129(2), pp. 128-134.
- Ziganshin, A. U., Zaitzev, A. P., Zefirova, J. T. and Ziganshina, L. E. (2003) 'P2 receptor-mediated responses in pregnant human uterus', *Biomedical Research*, 14, pp. 20-22.
- Ziganshin, A. U., Zefirova, J. T., Zefirova, T. P., Ziganshina, L. E., Hoyle, C. H. and Burnstock, G. (2005) 'Potentiation of uterine effects of prostaglandin F2α by adenosine 5'-triphosphate', *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, 105(6), pp. 1429-1436.
- Zimmermann, H., Zebisch, M. and Sträter, N. (2012) 'Cellular function and molecular structure of ecto-nucleotidases', *Purinergic signalling*, 8(3), pp. 437-502.
- Zupko, I., Csonka, D. and Falkay, G. (2005) 'A rat model for functional characterization of pregnancyinduced denervation and postpartum reinnervation in the myometrium and cervix: a superfusion study', *Reproduction*, 130(5), pp. 743-749.